
 
 
 
 
 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford
Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee

Open Session
AGENDA

 

 

 

Date: Tuesday, June 20, 2023

Time: 4:30 P.M.

Location: Council Chamber, City Hall

Sub-committee
Present:

Councillor Hunter - Chair Presiding, Councillor McCabe - Vice Chair,
Councillor Beatty, Councillor Burbach, Councillor Nijjar

Staff Present: Karmen Krueger - Director of Corporate Services, Samantha Day -
 Manager of Revenue and Taxation, Jodi Akins - Council Clerk Secretary

To watch the Sub-committee meeting live, please click the following link:
https://video.isilive.ca/stratford/live.html
A video recording of the meeting will also be available through a link on the City's website
https://calendar.stratford.ca/meetings following the meeting.

Pages

1. Call to Order

The Chair to call the meeting to Order.

Land Acknowledgment

Moment of Silent Reflection

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof

The Municipal Conflict of Interest Act requires any member of Council declaring
a pecuniary interest and the general nature thereof, where the interest of a
member of Council has not been disclosed by reason of the member’s absence
from the meeting, to disclose the interest at the first open meeting attended by
the member of Council and otherwise comply with the Act.

https://video.isilive.ca/stratford/live.html
https://calendar.stratford.ca/meetings


Name, Item and General Nature of Pecuniary Interest

3. Delegations

None scheduled.

4. Report of the Director of Corporate Services

4.1 Festival Hydro Financial Results - 2022 year end and to March 31 2023
(FIN23-020)

4 - 104

Jeff Graham, President and CEO of FHI & Rhyzome and Alyson Conrad,
CFO of FHI & Rhyzome will be in attendance at the meeting to present
the update.

Motion by
THAT the presentation by Jeff Graham and Alyson Conrad be heard.

Motion by
Staff Recommendations: THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. 2022 audited
financial statements and commentary for the year ended December 31,
2022, be received for information;

THAT the Festival Hydro Services Inc. 2022 audited financial statements
and commentary for the year ended December 31, 2022, be received for
information;

THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. financial statements and commentary for
the period ending March 31, 2023, be received for information;

THAT the Festival Hydro Services Inc. financial statements and
commentary for the period ending March 31, 2023, be received for
information;

AND THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. April 2023 Board motion declaring a
top-up common share dividend in the amount of $248,269 for the year
2022, be received for information.

4.2 Destination Stratford 2023 Update 2 (FIN23-019) 105 - 145

Zac Gribble, Executive Director of Destination Stratford, will be in
attendance at the meeting to present the update.

Motion by
THAT the presentation by Zac Gribble be heard.

Motion by
Staff Recommendation: THAT the Destination Stratford 2023 Update 2,
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dated June 20, 2023, be received for information.

4.3 2023 Community Grant Appeal Request (FIN23-018) 146 - 159

Motion by
Staff Recommendation: THAT the decision of Council on May 8, 2023,
denying a grant request to Stratford Live Music and Food, be upheld.

5. Report of the Manager of Revenue and Taxation

5.1 Property Tax Billing and Collection Policy (FIN23-021) 160 - 198

Motion by
Staff Recommendation: THAT Policy F.1.6 Collection of Municipal Taxes
be rescinded;

THAT Policy F.1.6 Property Tax Billing and Collection be adopted
substantially in the form as attached to Report FIN23-021;

AND THAT Policy F.1.9 Vacant Tax Rebate Program for Commercial and
Industrial Buildings be rescinded.

5.2 Tax Adjustments for 2022 (FIN23-022) 199 - 201

Motion by
Staff Recommendation: THAT the report titled, “Tax Adjustments for
2022” (FIN23-022), be received for information.

6. Advisory Committee/Outside Board Minutes

There are no Advisory Committee/Outside Board minutes to be provided to Sub-
committee.

7. Next Sub-committee Meeting

The next Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee meeting is July 18, 2023
at 4:30 p.m. in the Council Chamber, City Hall.

8. Adjournment

Meeting Start Time:
Meeting End Time:

Motion by
Sub-committee Decision: THAT the Finance and Labour Relations Sub-
committee meeting adjourn.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Date: June 20, 2023 

To: Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee 

From: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Report #: FIN23-020 

Attachments: 1. FHI Financial Results for year ending Dec 31 2022 and period 

ending March 31 2023;  

2. FHSI Financial Results for year ending Dec 31 2022 and 

period ending March 31 2023 

 

 
Title: Financial Results, Statements and Commentary for Festival Hydro Inc. (FHI) and 
Festival Hydro Services Inc. (FHSI), for the year 2022 and for the period ending March 
31, 2023  

Objective: To receive an update on Festival Hydro financial results and activities. 

Background: City Council is updated regularly on the financial and operating activities 
of Festival Hydro. 

Analysis: As noted in the attached statements. Representatives from Festival Hydro 
have been invited to attend as a delegation to present the attached reports. 

Financial Implications: 

Financial impact to current year operating budget: 
The reports are being provided for information so there are no significant financial 
impacts to note. 

The City receives quarterly interest payments of $282,750 for the loan. To May 31, 
2023, one quarterly interest payment was received and no dividends for 2023 to date. 
In 2022, total dividends declared/payable relating to 2022 were $638,599 which will be 
received in 2023, and interest received was $1,131,000, for total 2022 income of 
$1,797,499. 
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Alignment with Strategic Priorities: 

Developing our Resources 
Optimizing Stratford’s physical assets and digital resources. Planning a sustainable 
future for Stratford’s resources and environment. 

Alignment with One Planet Principles: 

Culture and Community 
Nurturing local identity and heritage, empowering communities, and promoting a 
culture of sustainable living. 

Staff Recommendations: THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. 2022 audited financial 
statements and commentary for the year ended December 31, 2022, be 
received for information; 

THAT the Festival Hydro Services Inc. 2022 audited financial statements and 
commentary for the year ended December 31, 2022, be received for 
information; 

THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. financial statements and commentary for the 
period ending March 31, 2023, be received for information; 

THAT the Festival Hydro Services Inc. financial statements and commentary 
for the period ending March 31, 2023, be received for information; 

AND THAT the Festival Hydro Inc. April 2023 Board motion declaring a top-up 
common share dividend in the amount of $248,269 for the year 2022, be 
received for information. 

Prepared by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA 
Director of Corporate Services 

Recommended by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 
Joan Thomson, Chief Administrative Officer 
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Financial Statements 

Prepared For: 

Finance & Labour Relations Sub-Committee 

June 2023 
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To: Mark Hunter and the Finance and Labour Relations Committee 
From: Alyson Conrad, CFO 
Re: Commentary on FHI Financial Results – 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

BALANCE SHEET COMMENTARY: 

Accounts Receivable: The accounts receivable balance is $57K less than it was in 2021 and $360K higher than 
projections. This variance is as described below. 

Electric/Water/Sewage receivables - These balances are $147K higher in 2022 than in 2021 however the 
majority is current. Past due receivables are $15K higher than they were in 2021 for electricity, water 
and sewer billing with less than 60 days arrears being up by $34K and greater than 60 days arrears being 
down by $19K. 

A/R Recoverable Work – A/R recoverable work is down by $273K from prior year. This is due to higher 
than typical subdivision work being completed last year. 

Due from Festival Hydro Services (FHSI): The balance due to FHI is $122K as compared to the projection of 
$195K. The $73K under projection is a result of less capital spend compared to projections and additional work 
completed by FHSI staff for FHI in the latter part of the year. 

Unbilled revenue: Unbilled revenue is currently $447K below prior year and $1.22M below projections. 
Projections were estimated but it is difficult to predict balances due to usage and rate changes month over 
month. Class A GA was down $570K from prior year. The provincial GA for Class A was down 45% from prior 
year. Class B GA was also down in December compared to prior year. 

Regulatory Asset/(Liability): The regulatory asset balance has increased by $2.66M since December 2021 and 
$5.56M compared to projections. Regulatory balances are difficult to project month to month however the 
original projection was underestimated. In comparison to prior year, the increase is mainly driven by Wholesale 
Market Service (WMS) charges, Network charges and Connection charges. The variances in these three accounts 
total $2.3M. The largest of the variances is WMS totaling $1.6M. This variance was seen across the industry 
which led to the following decision and order from the OEB, “The weighted average WMS charges in the first ten 
months of 2022 ($0.0063 per kilowatt-hour) is significantly higher than the current WMS rate charged to 
customers by electricity distributors. Given that there has been a large under-collection by distributors in 2021 
and the first ten months of 2022, the OEB finds that the current WMS rate (effective January 1, 2022) does not 
sufficiently capture the increase in the WMS charge and costs incurred by the IESO. The OEB will therefore set 
the WMS rate at $0.0045 per kilowatt-hour, including a CBR component of $0.0004 per kilowatt-hour, effective 
January 1, 2023.” The remainder of the variance is spread out across several regulatory accounts, all to be 
cleared either at the next IRM application or the next Cost of Service application depending on the type of 
account. 
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Bank Indebtedness: The bank indebtedness is $3.1M more than projection and $3.7M more than the prior year. 
As noted in prior reports, the IESO invoices in 2022 varied wildly month to month. In the last 3 months of the 
year, FHI’s paid IESO invoices totaled $19.7M. In Q4 of 2021 the total invoices paid were $13.7M with a 
difference of $6M. The difference has caused us to utilize more of our line of credit in the last quarter than we 
previously had to. Due to the current line of credit rate, FHI does plan to draw on the SWAP loan in Q1 of 2023. 

Accounts Payable: The balance is $1.3M lower than 2021 and $437K lower than projections. The main variance is 
the accrued cost of power true up from settlement completed in mid-January for December was lower than 
prior year by $1.65M. These amounts will be included on the next IESO invoice in February. 

Deposits: Total deposits on hand (both short term and long term) have increased by $233K compared to prior 
year. This is mostly due to construction deposits on hand increase by $337K compared to prior year. Customer 
electric deposits have decreased from prior year. 

Employee Future Benefits – A full actuarial was completed in 2022 and the decrease was based on the results. 
The main driver for the decrease was the change in discount rate from 3% to 5%. This created a reduction of the 
liability. Claims costs did increase by approximately $30K due to increasing market costs but this was offset by a 
decrease in the composition of active and retirees from the 2018 actuarial. 
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Net income for the year is $2.35M before the gain on the swap and the OCI, which is $472K above budget and 
$295K ahead of projections. 

INCOME STATEMENT COMMENTARY 

Gross Margin on Service Revenue (Distribution Revenue) – The gross margin on service revenue (or Distribution 
Revenue) is above budget by $46K and below projections by $215K. FHI is ahead of budget due to an increase in 
usage for greater than 50 kW customers compared to the prior year (3M kWh). There is also an increase due to a 
higher IRM rate than was budgeted for. Projections were anticipated to be higher, however with a milder early 
winter, FHI did not see usage increase in Q4. 

While there is no impact to distribution revenue, it should be noted that service revenue and cost of power were 
both down compared to budget by $16M and projections by $18M. In previous years we have seen global 
adjustment and cost of power increasing annually by approximately 10% year over year. In 2022, the average 
global adjustment and cost of power decreased by 1% compared to 2021. It was noted on the IESO’s website 
that GA has decreased because 85% of non-hydro renewable energy contract costs are being shifted from the 
rate base to the tax base. 

Other Revenue – Other revenue is above budget by $16K and is ahead of projections by $4K. As noted, when 

providing projections we had larger scrap metal sales than budgeted in early 2022. This was offset by decreases 
in late payment charges and lower than budget street light work. 

Operating and Maintenance (O & M) Expenses: O&M costs are $59K above than budget and $20K less than 
projections. Increase from budget is due to additional tree trimming completed in Q4 to assist with outage risks. 
The decrease in projections is due to labour estimations being down for overtime and maintenance work. 

Billing, Collecting & Admin Costs: Billing and collection costs are $145K under budget and $26K less than 
projection. Admin costs were $231K below budget and $83K less than projection. The decrease in billing for the 
year was due to staffing delays for CSRs as well as the IT position that was not filled after May. The difference 
from projection was bad debt being lower than expected by $35K. As mentioned throughout the year, 
administration costs were down mainly due to a delay in staffing the VP of IT position as well as executive 
incentive compensation being budgeted but not implemented. The actuals came in lower than projections due 
to the VP of IT leaving in Q4 as well as not engaging third party assistance with a review of FHI’s commodity 
accounts that was projected but a third party vendor was not found. 

Interest expense: Interest expense is $111K over budget and $26K under projection. The main variance from 
budget is due to the many increases to the line of credit rate throughout the year. The variance from projections 
is due to a correction in the SWAP expense amount totaling $43K. In September, October, and November there 
was an accrual entry that was posted in the wrong direction to account for the SWAP interest. This was included 
in projections but corrected in December. A portion of this was offset by the increase in interest rate income on 
regulatory asset balances. 

Income tax expense: Current tax expense is $104K under budget and $290K under projection. The majority of the 
change is due to a detailed review being completed by the tax accountants. FHI was able to take advantage of 
accelerated CCA rates which allows for more favourable CCA rates for asset additions. 

9



 

  
 

   
 

                    
 

   
 

                    
                    

                
                 

                
                    
     

 
                      

                       
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

                    

   

                    
                    

                
                 

                
                    
    

                      
                       

    

LOAN COVENANT RATIOS 

The Loan Covenant liquidity ratios and debt to equity ratios as prescribed by our major lender, RBC, are being met. 

CASH FLOW COMMENTARY: 

The cash indebtedness balance at the end of the year is $3.7M. As noted, the reason for the large bank 
indebtedness balance was the higher than typical IESO invoices in Q4. FHI pays the IESO invoice in advance of bills 
being collected from customers. When the global adjustment varies throughout the year, only a portion are 
collected through the IESO invoice, the remainder is settled through the IRM application which can impact the 
amount that is carried in regulatory assets. Other balances such as wholesale market service, network and 
connection charges are also cleared through the IRM. When there are large variances, as there are in 2022, it can 
significantly impact cash flow. 

In most months, FHI’s cash balance turns positive in the first week or two of the month before the IESO bill is 
paid. Due to the high RBC prime rate charged on the line of credit, FHI will draw on the SWAP loan to benefit 
from the lower rate. 
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KPMG LLP 
140 Fullarton Street, Suite 1400 
London ON  N6A 5P2 
Canada 
Tel 519 672-4880 
Fax 519 672-5684 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholder of Festival Hydro Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Festival Hydro Inc. (the Entity), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 

 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended 

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 

auditor’s report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.    

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control. 
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

London, Canada 

April 28, 2023 
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Festival Hydro !nc. 

statement of Financial Position 

December 31 , 2022, with comparative information for December 3 1 , 2021 

Notes 2022 2021 

A s s e t s 

Accounts receivable 6 ,22 $ 8,079,655 $8,124,901 

Unbilled revenue 22 4.783,498 5,230,771 

Inventories 7 177,526 163,443 

Prepaid expenses 230.441 357,282 

Income tax receivable 511,562 356,057 

Due from corporations under 20 122,147 332,803 

common control 

Total current asse ts 13,904,829 14,565,257 

Property, plant and equipment 8 58,854,033 57,113,909 

Intangible assets and goodwill 9 1,806,282 1,734,841 

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap 22 784,886 -
Total non-current asse ts 61,445,201 58,848,750 

Total asse ts 75,350,030 73,414,007 

Regulatory balances 13 7,503,962 4,527,854 

Total asse ts and regulatory balances $ 82,853,992 $77,941,861 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
statement of Financial Posit ion 

December 31,2022, with comparative information for December 3 1 , 2021 

Notes 

Bank indebtedness 5 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Deferred revenue 

Income tax payable 

Dividend payable 15, 21 

Current portion of long-term debt 14, 22 

Customer deposits 11 

Due to the Corporation of the City of 20 

Stratford 

Total current liabilities 

Deferred revenue 

Customer deposits 11 

Deferred tax liabilities 10 

Employee future benefits 12 

Unrealized loss on interest rate swap 22 

Long-tenn debt 14, 22 

Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Share capital 15 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Retained earnings 

Total equity 

Total liabilities and equity 

Regulatory balances 13 

Total liabilities, equity and regulatory balances 

Commitments and contingencies (note 23) 

Guarantee (note 24) 

Subsequent event (Note 25) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 

On behalf of the Board: 

' 

 statements. 

2022 

$ 3,740,695 

8.658,017 

273,286 

-
248,269 

16,328,464 

1,016,175 

624.251 

30,889,157 

2,641,341 

980,367 

2.381.370 

1,009,878 

-
9,812.012 

16,824,968 

47,714,125 

15,568,388 

(54,479) 

18,525,126 

34,039,035 

81,753,160 

1,100,832 

82,853,992 

2021 

$15,768 

9.902,642 

194,274 

-
500.556 

16,307,717 

1,169,542 

625,460 

28,715,959 

2,453,813 

594.311 

1,308,987 

1,361,643 

938,948 

10,540,477 

17,198,179 

45,914,138 

15,568,388 

1 (357,737) 

15,085.495 

30,296,146 

76,210,284 

1,731,577 

77,941,861 
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Revenues  

Income from operating activities 1,475,764 3,212,714

Income before income taxes 1,648,160 2,272,995 

Net income and net movement in regulatory balances 4,078,230 3,114,634 

Other comprehensive loss 303,258 80,606 

68,881,680 72,338,384 

Total comprehensive income $ 4,381,488 $ 3,195,240 

Festival Hydro Inc.
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

Notes 2022 2021 

Sale of energy  16 $ 55,589,074 $ 59,559,802 
Distribution revenue 16 12,174,085 11,582,698 
Other income  17 1,118,521 1,195,884 

Cost of power purchased  58,141,145 60,698,856 

Operating expenses 18 6,759,045 6,014,814
 Depreciation and amortization 8,9 2,505,726 2,412,000 

67,405,916 69,125,670

 Finance income 19 1,747,174 664,530
 Finance costs 19 (1,574,778) (1,604,249) 

Income tax expense 10 1,096,421 917,289 

Net income  551,739 1,355,706 

Net movement in regulatory balances: 
Net movement in regulatory balances 13 2,534,470 1,168,069 
Income tax 10,13 992,021 590,859 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss: 

Remeasurements of employee future benefits 12 303,258 80,606
 Tax on remeasurements 10 (80,363) (21,361) 

Net movement in regulatory balances 13 80,363 21,361 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for December 31, 2021 

Accumulated 
other 

Share Retained comprehensive
capital earnings loss Total 

Balance at January 1, 2021 $15,568,388 $12,861,747 $ (438,343) $ 27,991,792 
Net income after net movement in 

regulatory balances 
− 3,114,634 − 3,114,634 

Other comprehensive loss − − 80,606 80,606 
Dividends, paid or payable − (890,886) − (890,886) 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $15,568,388 $15,085,495 $ (357,737) $ 30,296,146 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $15,568,388 $15,085,495 $ (357,737) $ 30,296,146 
Net income after net movement in 

regulatory balances 
− 4,078,230 − 4,078,230 

Other comprehensive loss − − 303,258 303,258 

Dividends, paid or payable − (638,599) − (638,599) 

$ 34,039,035 Balance at December 31, 2022 $15,568,388 $18,525,126 $ (54,479) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

5 
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Festival Hydro Inc.
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for December 31, 2021 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Cash provided by (used in) 

Net income after net movement in regulatory balances 
Adjustments for
 Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 

Amortization - intangible assets 
Amortization of deferred revenue 

 Employee future benefits 
Net finance costs 
Income tax expense

Changes in non-cash operating working capital 
Accounts receivable  
Unbilled revenue

 Inventories 
 Prepaid expenses  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Due from related parties
Due from the City of Stratford 

 Dividends declared 
 Customer deposits  

Regulatory balances 
Interest paid
Interest received 
Income tax paid, net of refund 

Notes 

8 
9 

19 
10 

13 
19 

2022

$4,078,230

2,243,817 
261,909 
(76,869) 
(48,508) 

(172,396)
1,096,421 
7,382,604 

45,246 
447,273 
(14,083) 
126,841 

(1,244,625) 
210,656
(1,209) 

(252,287)
232,689

(449,499)
(3,526,490)
(1,574,778) 

23,340 
(5,476) 

2021 

 $3,114,634 

2,113,654 
298,348 
(60,633)
(50,668) 

 939,718 
917,289 

7,272,342 

(1,104,430) 
1,140,450 

9,169
32,564 

1,314,930 
294,268 
(6,477)

 385,345
 269,859 

 2,335,678 
 (1,758,928) 

(1,604,248) 
18,445 

(888,101) 
p g

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
Purchase of intangible assets 

g 

Contributions received from customers, net of repayments 
 Dividends 

Proceeds from long-term debt 
 Repayment of long-term debt 

Decrease in bank indebtedness during the year  
Bank indebtedness, beginning of the year  

8 
9 

15 

(3,983,941) 
(333,350) 

341,267  
(890,886) 

-
(707,718) 

(3,724,927)
(15,768) 

(3,780,502) 
(77,945) 

479,666  
(505,541) 

900,000
(1,429,445) 

 961,421 
(977,189) 

g 

y ( ) ( ) 

 

   

   

  
  

   
       

     
 
  
     

   
     

     
   

      
     
        

  
   

   
 

   
    

     
  

 
 

    
    
     
  

    
  

   
   

   
    

    
 

  
     

 

  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 
 

Operating activities 

Investing activities

Financing activities 

Net cash from o eratin  activities 1,849,701 5,375,188 

Net cash used in investin  activities (4,317,291) (3,858,447) 

Net cash used in financin  activities (1,257,337) (555,320) 

Bank indebtedness, end of the ear $ 3,740,695 $ 15,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

1. Reporting entity: 

Festival Hydro Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the City of Stratford. The Corporation was 
incorporated on July 11, 2000 under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) pursuant to Section 142 of the Electricity 
Act Laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada.  The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 187 Erie Street, 
Stratford, Ontario, Canada.  

The principal activity of the Corporation is to distribute electricity to the residents and businesses in the City of Stratford 
and the towns of Brussels, Dashwood, Hensall, Seaforth, St. Marys and Zurich, under a license issued by the Ontario 
Energy Board (“OEB”).  The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board and adjustments to the Corporation’s 
distribution and power rates require OEB approval. 

The financial statements are for the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022.  

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The Corporation’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS").  These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 
27, 2023. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated.   

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's functional currency.   

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have an effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

Note 3(l) Determination of the performance obligation for contribution and the related amortization period 
Note 3(m) Whether an arrangement contains a lease 
Note 6 Estimate for impairment for uncollected amounts, based on the lifetime expected credit losses 
Note 8 Property, plant and equipment: useful lives and the identification of significant components of 

property, plant and equipment.  
Note 9 Intangible assets: useful lives and goodwill impairment testing. 
Note 12 Measurement of the defined benefit obligation – actuarial assumptions 
Note 23 Recognition and measurement of commitments and contingencies.  
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(e) Rate regulation 

The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board, under the authority granted by the Ontario Energy 
Board Act, 1998.  Among other things, the OEB has the power and responsibility to approve or set rates for the 
transmission and distribution of electricity, providing continued rate protection for electricity consumers in 
Ontario, and ensuring that transmission and distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service 
customers. The OEB may also prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to local distribution 
companies (“LDCs”), such as the Corporation, which may include, amongst other things, record keeping, 
regulatory accounting principles, separation of accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and process 
requirements for rate setting purposes. 

The Corporation is required to bill certain classes of customers for the debt retirement charges. The Corporation 
may file to recover uncollected debt retirement charges from Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (“OEFC”) 
once each year. 

(f) Rate setting 

Distribution revenue 

For the distribution revenue included in sale of energy, the Corporation files a “Cost of Service” (“COS”) rate 
application with the OEB where rates are determined through a review of the forecasted annual amount of 
operating and capital expenditures, debt and shareholder’s equity required to support the Corporation’s 
business.  The Corporation estimates electricity usage and the costs to service each customer class to 
determine the appropriate rates to be charged to each class.  The COS application is reviewed by the OEB and 
interveners on record.  Rates are approved based upon this review, including any revisions resulting from that 
review. 

In the intervening years, the Corporation has chosen to file a Price Cap Incentive Rate Mechanism (“IRM”) 
application.  An IRM application results in a formulaic adjustment to distribution rates that were set under the 
last COS application.  The previous year’s rates are adjusted for the annual change in the Gross Domestic 
Product Implicit Price Inflator for Final Domestic Demand (“GDP IPI-FDD”) net of a productivity factor and a 
“stretch factor” determined by the relative efficiency of an electricity distributor. 

As a licensed distributor, the Corporation is responsible for billing customers for electricity generated by third 
parties and the related costs of providing electricity service, such as transmission services and other services 
provided by third parties.  The Corporation is required, pursuant to regulation, to remit such amounts to these 
third parties, irrespective of whether the Corporation ultimately collects these amounts from customers. 

On May 27, 2014, the Corporation filed its 2015 Cost of Service application.  The OEB issued its final Decision 
and Order dated June 5, 2015.  The decision allows for a total service revenue requirement of $11,210,828 
based on a total rate base of $61,778,759. The deemed debt portion of the rate base (60%) at $27,067,256 
earns a weighted average rate of 4.05%.  The deemed equity portion of the rate base (40%) at $24,711,504 
earns a deemed return on equity of 9.30%. The rates were effective May 1, 2015 with an implementation date 
of June 1, 2015. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(f) Rate setting (continued) 

Distribution revenue (continued) 

Festival filed its 2021 IRM application for distribution rates and was approved new rates by the OEB effective 
January 1, 2021.  The Corporation's approved adjustment to distribution rates was 1.90%, as a result of an 
OEB approved inflation factor of 2.20%, less a stretch factor of 0.30% determined by the relative efficiency of 
the Corporation.  The application included the approval of rate riders for the disposition of certain deferral and 
variance balances. 

Festival filed its 2022 IRM application for distribution rates and was approved new rates by the OEB effective 
January 1, 2022.  The Corporation's approved adjustment to distribution rates was 3.00%, as a result of an 
OEB approved inflation factor of 3.30%, less a stretch factor of 0.30% determined by the relative efficiency of 
the Corporation.  The application included the approval of rate riders for the disposition of certain deferral and 
variance balances. 

Electricity rates 

The OEB sets electricity prices for low-volume consumers twice each year based on an estimate of how much 
it will cost to supply the province with electricity for the next year.  All remaining consumers pay the market price 
for electricity and the global adjustment.  The Corporation is billed for the cost of the electricity that its customers 
use and passes this cost on to the customer at cost without a mark-up.  

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for both years presented in these financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. 

(a) Regulatory balances 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs incurred in excess of amounts billed to the customer 
at OEB approved rates.  Regulatory deferral account credit balances represent amounts billed to the customer 
at OEB approved rates in excess of costs incurred by the Corporation.   

Regulatory deferral account debit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings in an amount at 
least equal to the deferred cost will result from inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for rate-making purposes. 
The offsetting amount is recognized in net movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”).  When the customer is billed at rates approved by the OEB for the recovery of 
the deferred costs, the customer billings are recognized in revenue. The regulatory debit balance is reduced by 
the amount of these customer billings with the offset to net movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or 
OCI. 

The probability of recovery of the regulatory deferral account debit balances is assessed annually based upon 
the likelihood that the OEB will approve the change in rates to recover the balance.  The assessment of 
likelihood of recovery is based upon previous decisions made by the OEB for similar circumstances, policies or 
guidelines issued by the OEB.  Any resulting impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss in the year incurred. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continue): 

(a)    Regulatory balances (continued) 

When the Corporation is required to refund amounts to ratepayers in the future, the Corporation recognizes a 
regulatory deferral account credit balance. The offsetting amount is recognized in net movement in regulatory 
balances in profit or loss or OCI. The amounts returned to the customers are recognized as a reduction of 
revenue. The credit balance is reduced by the amount of these customer repayments with the offset to net 
movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.  

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank accounts.  On the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes bank overdrafts (revolving credit facility) that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Corporation’s cash management. 

(c) Financial instruments 

All financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, except for marketable securities which are classified 
as available for sale and derivatives which are measured as fair value through profit and loss. All financial 
liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair 
value adjusted for any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment for the financial assets.  

Available for sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, within the changes therein 
recognized in other comprehensive income until the assets are sold. Upon sale of an available for sale asset, 
the Corporation has elected to record the accumulated unrealized change in value of the asset as a transfer 
through other comprehensive income into profit and loss. 

The Corporation holds derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives 
are initially measured at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein, are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Hedge accounting has not been used in the preparation 
of these financial statements. 

(d) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realizable value and consist of maintenance materials and 
supplies.  Cost is determined on a weighted average basis, net of a provision for obsolescence, as applicable. 
The Corporation classifies all major construction related component of its electricity distribution infrastructure 
to property, plant and equipment. 

(e) Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 

Items of property, plant and equipment used in rate-regulated activities and acquired prior to January 1, 2014 
are measured at deemed cost, or, where the item is transferred from customers, its fair value, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of PP&E are measured at cost, or, where the 
item is contributed by customers, its fair value, less accumulated depreciation.  
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use.  Borrowing costs on qualifying assets are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the asset and are based on the Corporation’s cost of borrowing.  For 
construction projects of less than one year in length, borrowing costs are not capitalized unless specific 
identifiable loans are acquired for the express purpose of financing a specific construction activity.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation 
and its cost can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.  

The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred.  Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
each part or component of an item of property, plant and equipment.  Land is not depreciated.  Construction in 
progress assets are not amortized until the project is complete and in service.  

Depreciation begins when an asset becomes available for use. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives.  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years 
are as follows: 

Buildings 10 to 60 years 

Distribution substation equipment 30 to 60 years 

Distribution system equipment 30 to 60 years 

Transformers 35 to 40 years 

Meters 15 to 40 years 

Other capital assets 4 to 20 years 

Other capital assets include vehicles, office and computer equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognized within 
other income in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include goodwill, computer software and capital contributions paid under capital cost recovery 
agreements (“CCRAs”).

 (i) Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets which arose upon amalgamation of the 
former electrical distribution entities. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

 (ii) Computer software 

Computer software acquired prior to January 1, 2014, is measured at deemed cost less accumulated 
depreciation.  All other software that is acquired or developed by the Corporation, including software that is 
not integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has finite useful lives, is measured at cost 
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

(iii) Capital contributions paid under capital cost recovery agreements 

Capital contributions paid under CCRAs are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses.   

 (iv) Amortization 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use.  The estimated useful 
lives for the current and comparative years are:  

Computer software 5 years 

CCRAs 15 to 25 years 

Amortization methods and useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

(g) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

A loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost is recognized 
at the reporting date.  The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 
losses for the asset. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

 (ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation's non-financial assets, other than regulatory assets, inventories 
and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill, 
the recoverable amount is estimated as at December 31 of each year. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 
or groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit"). The Corporation has determined that it has one cash 
generating unit.  The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(h) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

(i) Employee benefits 

(i) Pension plan 

The Corporation provides a pension plan for all its full-time employees through Ontario Municipal 
Employees Retirement System (OMERS).  OMERS is a multi-employer pension plan which operates as 
the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (“Fund”).   The Fund is a contributory defined benefit 
pension plan which is financed by equal contributions from participating employers and employees, and by 
the investment earnings of the Fund.   
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Pension plan (continued) 

OMERS is a defined benefit plan, however, as the plan assets and pension obligations are not segregated 
in separate accounts for each member entity, sufficient information is not available to enable the 
Corporation to directly account for the plan. As such, the plan has been accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan. The contribution payable is recognized as an employee benefit expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period in which the service was rendered by the employee, since it is not 
practicable to determine the Corporation’s portion of person obligations of the fair value of plan assets.  

(ii) Employee future benefits, other than pension 

The Corporation has an unfunded benefit plan providing post-employment benefits (other than pension) to 
its employees.  The Corporation provides its retired employees (20 years service; less than age 65) 
with life insurance and medical benefits beyond those provided by government sponsored plans.  Life 
insurance is provided for current retirees including those over age 65. 

The obligations for these post-employment benefit plans are actuarially determined by applying the 
projected unit credit method and reflect management’s best estimate of certain underlying assumptions. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit obligations, including actuarial gains and losses, are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income.  When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the 
increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

(j) Deferred revenue and assets transferred from customers 

Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction in order to 
provide ongoing service.  Cash contributions are initially recorded under current liabilities as customer deposits. 
Once the distribution system asset is completed or modified, as outlined in the terms of the contract, the 
contribution amount is transferred to deferred revenue. 

When an asset is received as a capital contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with the 
corresponding amount recognized as contributions in aid of construction. The contributions in aid of construction 
account, which represents the Corporation's obligation to continue to provide the customers access to the 
supply of electricity, is reported as deferred revenue, and is amortized to other income on a straight-line basis 
over the terms of the agreement with the customer or the economic useful life of the acquired or contributed 
asset, which represents the period of ongoing service to the customer. 

(k) Customer deposits 

Security deposits from electricity customers are cash collections to guarantee the payment of electricity bills. 
The electricity customer security deposits liability includes related interest amounts, calculated using OEB 
prescribed interest rates, and owed to the customers with a corresponding amount charged to finance costs. 
Deposits that are refundable upon demand are classified as a current liability.  Annually, accrued interest is 
applied directly to the customers’ accounts. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Customer deposits (continued) 

Security deposits on offers to connect are cash collections from specific customers to guarantee the payment 
of additional costs relating to expansion projects. This liability includes related interest amounts owed to the 
customers with a corresponding amount charged to finance costs. Deposits are classified as a current liability 
when the Corporation no longer has an unconditional right to defer payment of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. 

(l) Revenue Recognition 

(i) Sale and distribution of electricity 

The performance obligations for the sale and distribution of electricity are recognized over time using an output 
method to measure the satisfaction of the performance obligation.  The value of the electricity services 

transferred to the customer is determined on the basis of cyclical meter readings plus estimated customer usage 
since the last meter reading date to the end of the year and represents the amount that the Corporation has the 
right to bill. Revenue includes the cost of electricity supplied, distribution, and any other regulatory charges. 

The related cost of power is recorded on the basis of power used. 

For customer billings related to electricity generated by third parties and the related costs of providing electricity 
service, such as transmission services and other services provided by third parties, the Corporation has 

determined that it is acting as a principal for these electricity charges and, therefore, has presented electricity 
revenue on a gross basis. 

Customer billings for debt retirement charges are recorded on a net basis as the Corporation is acting as an 

agent for this billing stream. 

(ii) Capital contributions 

Developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction of distribution assets in order to 
provide ongoing service. The developer is not a customer and therefore the contributions are scoped out of 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Cash contributions, received from developers are recorded 
as deferred revenue. When an asset other than cash is received as a capital contribution, the asset is initially 

recognized at its fair value, with a corresponding amount recognized as deferred revenue. The deferred 
revenue, which represents the Corporation's obligation to continue to provide the customers access to the 
supply of electricity, is amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the related asset. 

Certain customers are also required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction of distribution assets 
in order to provide ongoing service.  These contributions fall within the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers.  The contributions are received to obtain a connection to the distribution system in 

order receive ongoing access to electricity. The Corporation has concluded that the performance obligation is 
the supply of electricity over the life of the relationship with the customer which is satisfied over time as the 
customer receives and consumes the electricity.  Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the useful 

life of the related asset. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) Revenue Recognition (continued) 

(ii) Other revenue 

Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognized as the service is rendered.  Government grants 
and the related performance incentive payments under Conservation and Demand Management (“CDM”) 
programs are recognized as revenue in the year when there is reasonable assurance that the program 
conditions have been satisfied and the payment will be received.  

(m) Leased assets 

At inception of a contract, the Corporation assess whether the contract is or contains a lease. A contract is 
determined to contain a lease if it provides the Corporation with the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Contracts determined to contain a lease are accounted for 
as leases. For leases and contracts that contain a lease, the Corporation recognizes a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease 
term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, 
plant and equipment. Subsequent to initial recognition, the right-of-use asset is recognized at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, adjusted for certain remeasurements of the 
corresponding lease liability.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments plus the present value of lease 
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, 
or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Corporation's incremental borrowing rate.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the Corporation's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Corporation changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero.  

The Corporation has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less or for leases of low value assets. The Corporation recognizes the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(n) Finance income and finance costs   

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  Finance income 
comprises interest earned on cash and cash equivalents.  

Finance costs comprise interest expense on customer deposits, the demand notes payable, revolving credit 
facility and long-term borrowings.  

Changes in the fair value of interest rate swap agreements are recorded either in finance income, or costs, 
depending on whether an unrealized gain or loss is required. 

(o) Income taxes 

The Corporation is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Ontario 
Corporations Tax Act.  Pursuant to the Electricity Act, 1998 (Ontario), the Corporation makes payments in lieu 
of corporate taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (OEFC).  These payments are calculated in 
accordance with the rules for computing taxable income and taxable capital and other relevant amounts 
contained in the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Corporations Tax Act (Ontario) as modified by the Electricity 
Act, 1998, and related regulations.  Prior to October 1, 2001, the Corporation was not subject to income or 
capital taxes. 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to other comprehensive income or items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case, it is recognized in accumulated comprehensive income or retained earnings, respectively. 

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. Under this method, deferred income taxes reflect 
the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for accounting purposes, as well as for tax losses available to be carried forward to future years that 
are likely to be realized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates, at the reporting date, expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change 
in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment.  

Rate-regulated accounting requires the recognition of regulatory balances and related deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the amount of deferred taxes expected to be refunded to or recovered from customers through 
future electricity distribution rates. A gross up to reflect the income tax benefits associated with reduced 
revenues resulting from the realization of deferred tax assets is recorded within regulatory credit or debt 
balances. Deferred taxes that are not included in the rate-setting process are charged or credited to the 
statements of comprehensive income. 

17 

30



 
 

 

 
 

 

   

 
 

 
 

 

            
           
        

 
 

 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(o) Income taxes (continued) 

The benefits of the refundable and non-refundable apprenticeship and other ITCs are credited against the 
related expense in the statements of comprehensive income. 

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted: 

There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements. These standards or amendments relate to the measurement and disclosure of financial 
assets and liabilities. The extent of the impact on adoption of these standards and amendments has not yet been 
determined.

 i.   Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 
ii.  Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 
iii. Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 

i. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1): 

On January 23, 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, to clarify the 
classification of liabilities as current or non-current. On July 15, 2020 the IASB issued an amendment to defer the 
effective date by one year. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. 
Early adoption is permitted. 

For the purposes of non-current classification, the amendments removed the requirement for a right to defer 
settlement or roll over of a liability for at least twelve months to be unconditional. Instead, such a right must have 
substance and exist at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also clarify how a company classifies a 
liability that includes a counterparty conversion option. 

The amendments state that settlement of a liability includes transferring a company's own equity instruments to the 
counterparty, and when classifying liabilities as current or non-current, a company can ignore only those conversion 
options that are recognized as equity. 

The Corporation intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 
1, 2023. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been determined 

ii. Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8): 

On February 12, 2021, the IASB issued Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8). The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued):  

The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates, clarifying that they are monetary amounts 
in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify the 
relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a company develops an 
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 
2023. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been determined.  

iii. Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2): 

On February 12, 2021, the IASB issued Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements). The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. 

The amendments help companies provide useful accounting policy disclosures. The key amendments include:  

– requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting 
policies; 

– clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are 
themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and 

– clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or conditions are 
themselves material to a company’s financial statements. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 
2023. The Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on the financial statements. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

5.  Bank indebtedness: 

2022 2021 

Cash  $ 660 $ 1,660 

Revolving credit facility  (3,741,355) (17,428) 

Bank indebtedness $ (3,740,695) $ (15,768) 

6. Accounts receivable: 

2022 2021 

Energy, water and sewer $ 6,523,810 $ 6,223,521 

Other 1,555,845  1,901,380  

Total       $ 8,079,655 $ 8,124,901 

Included in accounts receivable is $1,230,333 (2021 - $1,193,417) of customer receivables for water consumption and 
sewer (“water & sewer”) that the Corporation bills and collects on behalf of the City of Stratford and the Town of St. 
Marys. As the Corporation does not assume liability for collection of these amounts, any amount related to City of 
Stratford and Town of St. Marys water & sewer charges that are determined to be uncollectible are charged to the City 
of Stratford and Town of St. Marys, respectively.  At year end, there is nil (2021 - nil) included in the provision for 
impairment for uncollectable amounts relating to water and sewer. 

7. Inventories: 

The amount of inventories consumed by the Corporation and recognized as an expense during 2022 was $149,137 
(2021 - $166,873). During 2022, an amount of nil (2021 – nil) was recorded as an expense for the write-down of obsolete 
or damaged inventory to net realizable value. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

8. Property, plant and equipment: 

a)  Cost or deemed cost 

Land and 
buildings 

Distribution & 
substation 
equipment 

Other 
distribution 

system 
equipment 

Transformer 
station 

Total 

Balance at January 1, 2021  $2,663,162  $47,579,167   $2,810,734  $14,049,010   $67,102,073  

Additions 477,555  2,698,194  326,676  143,417  3,645,842 

Transfers - -  134,660 - 134,660 

Disposals/retirements (6,795)  (230,606)  (155,736) -  (393,137) 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $3,133,922  $ 50,046,755  $ 3,116,334  $ 14,192,427  $ 70,489,438 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $3,133,922  $50,046,755  $3,116,334 $14,192,427  $70,489,438  

Additions 357,228 3,022,647 281,971 86,263 $3,748,109 

Transfers - - 235,832 - $235,832 

Disposals/retirements (27,578) (297,300) (375,808) - ($700,686) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $3,463,572  $52,772,102  $3,258,329 $14,278,690  $73,772,693  

b) Accumulated depreciation 

Land and 
buildings 

Distribution & 
substation  
equipment  

Other 
distribution 

system 
equipment 

Transformer 
station 

Total 

Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 337,380 $ 7,977,726 $ 1,119,839 $ 2,220,066 $ 11,655,011 

Depreciation  96,716 1,413,877 268,888 334,173 2,113,654 

Disposals/retirements  (6,795)  (230,605)  (155,736) -  (393,136)  

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 427,301 $ 9,160,998 $ 1,232,991 $ 2,554,239 $ 13,375,529 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $427,301  $9,160,998  $1,232,991  $2,554,239  $13,375,529 

Depreciation  120,660 1,491,865 285,635 345,657 $2,243,817 

Disposals/retirements (27,578) (297,300) (375,808)  - ($700,686) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $520,383  $10,355,563 $1,142,818  $2,899,896  $14,918,660  

c) Carrying amounts 

Distribution & Other 
Land and substation distribution Transformer 
buildings equipment  system station Total 

equipment 
December 31, 2021 $2,706,621 $40,885,757 $1,883,343 $11,638,188 $57,113,909 

December 31, 2022 $2,943,189 $42,416,539 $2,115,511 $11,378,794 $58,854,033 

d) Borrowing costs 

During the year, no borrowing costs (2021 – nil) were capitalized as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

9. Intangible assets and goodwill: 

a) Cost or deemed cost 

Goodwill 

Balance at January 1, $ 515,359 
2021 
Additions -

Disposals -
Balance at December 

$ 515,359
31, 2021 

Balance at January 1, $515,359 
2022 
Additions -
Work in Progress -
Disposals -
Balance at December 

$ 515,359
31, 2022 

Computer software 

$ 1,593,915 

77,945 
 (252,888) 

$ 1,418,972 

$ 1,418,972  

111,889 
221,461 

(312,506) 

$ 1,439,816 

Land Rights 

$ 3,150 

-
-

$ 3,150 

$ 3,150 

-
-
-

$ 3,150 

CCRA’s 

$ 966,935 

-
-

$ 966,935 

$ 966,935 

-
-
-

$ 966,935 

Total 

$ 3,079,359 

77,945 
 (252,888) 

$ 2,904,416 

$ 2,904,416  

111,889 
221,461 

(312,506) 

$ 2,925,260 

b) Accumulated amortization 

Goodwill 
Balance at January 1, $ -
2021 
Amortization  -

Disposals -
Balance at December $ -
31, 2021 

Balance at January 1, $ -
2022 
Amortization -
Disposals -
Balance at December 

$ -
31, 2022 

Computer software 
$ 750,096 

243,875 
 (252,888) 

$ 741,083 

$ 741,083 

207,436 
(312,506) 

$ 636,013 

Land Rights 
$ -

-
-

$ -

$ -

-
-

$ -

CCRA’s 
$ 374,019 

54,473 
-

$ 428,492 

$ 428,492 

54,473 
-

$ 428,492 

Total 
$ 1,124,115 

 298,348 
(252,888) 

$ 1,169,575 

$ 1,169,575 

 261,909 
(312,506) 

$ 1,118,978 

c) Carrying amounts 

Goodwill Computer software Land Rights CCRA’s Total 
December 31, 2021 $ 515,359  $ 677,889 $ 3,150 $ 538,443  $ 1,734,841 
December 31, 2022 $ 515,359  $ 803,803 $ 3,150 $ 483,970  $ 1,806,282 

d) Goodwill impairment 

Management has determined that the Corporation’s rate regulated operations are one cash generating unit. Therefore, 
the goodwill was allocated to the Corporation as a whole. The annual impairment test is based on the Corporation’s 
value in use. Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows of the Corporation and was based on 
the following key assumptions: 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

9. Intangible assets and goodwill: 

d) Goodwill impairment (continued) 

A detailed valuation of the Corporation was undertaken during 2022 based on financial results of the Corporation as at 
December 31, 2022.  Cash flows were projected based on actual operating results and the cost of capital and rate of 
return as approved in the 2015 Cost of Service application.  A discounted cash flow model was utilized based on free 
cash flows for 20 years, followed by a terminal value calculated based on a steady-state cash flow, with the terminal 
value within range of market-based terminal multiples.  The recoverable amount of the Corporation was determined to 
be greater than the carrying value of goodwill and no impairment was recorded as at December 31, 2022 or December 
31, 2021. 

10. Income taxes: 

2022 2021 

Income tax expense 

Current tax expense: 

Current year $ 160,945 $ 322,507

    Prior year (56,545) 3,923 

Total current tax expense 104,400 326,430 
Deferred tax expense:

 Change in recognized deductible temporary differences 992,021 590,859 

Total current and deferred income tax in profit or loss, 
before movement of regulatory balance  

1,096,421 917,289 

Other comprehensive income: 
Employee future benefits 80,363 (21,361) 

Total current and deferred tax, before movement in regulatory balances 1,176,784 938,650 
Net movement in regulatory balances (1,072,384) (612,220) 

Income tax expense recognized in statement of comprehensive 
Income 

$104,400 $326,430 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
2022 2021 

Income before taxes $4,486,834 $3,538,670 

Canada and Ontario statutory income tax rates 
26.5% 26.5% 

Expected tax provision on income tax at statutory rates 
Increase (decrease) in income tax resulting from:     

 Permanent differences 

1,189,011 

2,212 

937,748 

1,420 
 Recognized deductible temporary difference due from customers  
Other 

(1,072,384) 
(14,439) 

(612,220) 
(518) 

Income tax expense $ 104,400 $ 326,430 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

10. Income taxes (continued):

 2022 2021 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):  

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 

Employee future benefits 

Other 

($2,488,634) 

267,618

(160,354)

($1,968,063) 

 360,835 

 298,241 

($2,381,370) ($1,308,987) 

11. Customer deposits: 

Customer deposits represent cash deposits from electricity distribution customers as well as construction deposits. 
These customer deposits bear interest at the OEB’s prescribed interest rate, which is the Bank of Canada’s prime 
business rate less 2%. 

Deposits from electricity distribution customers are refundable to customers demonstrating an acceptable level of credit 
risk as determined by the Corporation in accordance with policies set out by the OEB or upon termination of their 
electricity distribution service.  Due to the demand nature of these deposits, they are classified as current liabilities. 

Construction deposits represent cash prepayments for the estimated cost of capital projects recoverable from 
customers and developers.  Upon completion of the capital project, these deposits are transferred to deferred revenue. 

Customer deposits comprise: 
2022 2021 

Electricity deposits  $ 957,164 $1,061,051 
Construction deposits        1,039,378 702,802 
Total customer deposits  $1,996,542 $1,763,853 

Consisting of: 

Short-term 

Long-term 

$ 1,016,175 

980,367 

$ 1,169,542 

 594,311 

12. Employee future benefits: 

(a) Employee future benefits, other than pension 

The Corporation provides certain unfunded health, dental and life insurance benefits on behalf of its retired 
employees.  These benefits are provided through a group defined benefit plan.  The Corporation has reflected its 
share of the defined benefit costs and related liabilities, as calculated by the actuary, in these financial statements. 
The accrued benefit liability and the corresponding expense were based on results and assumptions determined 
by actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2022.   
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

12. Employee future benefits (continued): 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit unfunded obligation and the accrued benefit liability: 

2022 2021 
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year       $ 1,361,643 $ 1,492,917 
Included in profit or loss: 

Current service cost 36,217 39,189 
Interest cost 38,994 37,165 

75,211 76,354 
Included in OCI: 

Actuarial (gains) losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions 

Benefits paid during the year       
(303,258) 
(123,718) 

(80,606) 
 (127,022) 

Defined benefit obligation, end of year $1,009,878  $1,361,643  

The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Discount rate 5.05% 3.00% 
Rate of compensation increase 
Initial health care cost trend rate 

3.30% 
4.70% 

2.50% 
4.70% 

Initial dental cost trend rate 4.90% 4.90% 
Year that rate reaches the rate it is assumed to be 2040 2040 
Cost trend rate declines to 4.00% 4.00% 

Significant actuarial assumptions for benefit obligation measurement purposes are the discount rate and assumed 
medical and dental cost trend rates.  The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably 
possible changes in the assumptions, in isolation of one another, occurring at the end of the reporting period.  This 
analysis may not be representative of the actual change since it is unlikely these changes in assumptions would 
occur in isolation from each other. The approximate effect on the accrued benefit obligation of the entire plan and 
the estimated net benefit expense of the entire plan if the health care trend rate assumption was increased or 
decreased by 1%, and all other assumptions were held constant, is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Benefit Obligation, end of year $1,009,878 $1,361,644 
1% increase in health care trend rate 26,900 50,156 
1% decrease in health care trend rate (24,300) (44,744) 
1% increase in discount rate (96,500) (167,544) 
1% decrease in discount rate  119,000 215,456 

(b) Pension plan 

The Corporation provides a pension plan for its employees through the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement 
System. The plan is a multi-employer, contributory defined benefit pension plan.  In 2022, the Corporation made 
employer contributions of $365,116 to OMERS (2021 - $353,752).  The Corporation’s net benefit expense has been 
allocated as follows: 

 $138,744 (2021 - $134,426) capitalized as part of PP&E 
 $186,209 (2021 - $180,413) charged to operating expenses 

 $40,163 (2021 - $38,913) charged to CDM and billable work 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

12. Employee future benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plan (continued) 

As at December 31, 2022, OMERS states that their plan was 95% funded (2021 – 97%). OMERS has a strategy to 
return the plan to a fully funded position. The Corporation is not able to assess the implications, if any, of this 
strategy or of the withdrawal of other participating entities from the OMERS plan on its future contributions. The 
Corporation’s contributions represent less than 1% of the total annual contributions to the OMERS plan.   

13. Regulatory assets and liabilities: 

The regulatory balances are recovered or settled through rates approved by the OEB which are determined using 

estimates of future consumption of electricity by its customers.  Future consumption is impacted by various factors 
including the economy and weather.  The Corporation has received approval from the OEB to establish its regulatory 
balances.  

In the tables below, the “Additions” column consists of new additions to regulatory balances (for both debits and credits). 
The “Recovery/reversal” column consists of amounts collected through rate riders or transactions reversing an existing 
regulatory balance. The “Other movements” column consists of reclassification between the regulatory debit and credit 
balances. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Corporation did not record any impairments related 
to regulatory debit balances.   

Recovery/ Other December 31, 
January 1, 2022 Additions Notes

reversal Movements 2022 
Regulatory deferral account debit balances 
Settlement (Group 1) 

$ 2,939,939
variances 

$ 386,141 $ (313,926) $ 2,075,470 $ 5,087,624 (1) 

Stranded meters 2,292 21 - - 2,313 (2) 
LRAM 268,628 (244,237) 256 - 24,646 (1) 

Deferred Taxes 1,308,987 1,072,383 - - 2,381,370 (4) 

Rate application costs 8,008 - - - 8,008 (3) 

$ 4,527,854 $1,214,308 $ (313,670) $ 2,075,470 $ 7,503,962 

January 1, 2021 Additions 
Recovery/

reversal 
Other 

Movements 
December 31, 2021 Notes 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances 
Settlement (Group 1) variances  $ 1,605,348 $ 1,538,071 $ (203,135) $ (345) $ 2,939,939 (1) 
Stranded meters 2,286 6 - - 2,292 (2) 
LRAM 494,049 (219,691) (5,730) - 268,628 (1) 

Deferred Taxes 696,766 612,221 - - 1,308,987 (4) 

Rate application costs 8,008 - - - 8,008 (3) 

$ 2,806,457 $1,930,607 $ (208,865) $(345) $ 4,527,854 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

13. Regulatory assets and liabilities (continued): 

January 1, 2022 Additions 
Recovery/ 

reversal 
Other 

Movements 
December 31, 2022 Notes 

Regulatory deferral account credit balances 
Settlement (Group 1) variances $ (1,286,576) 2,500,939 $ 313,670 $ (2,075,470) (547,437) (1) 
IFRS transition adjustments  (10,783) - - - (10,783) (5) 

PILS (434,218) (108,394) - - (542,612) 

$ (1,731,577)  $ 2,392,545 $ 313,670 $ (2,075,470) $ (1,100,832) 
( 

January 1, 2021 Additions 
Recovery/

reversal 
Other 

Movements 
December 31, 2021 Notes 

Regulatory deferral account credit balances 
Settlement (Group 1) variances $ (1,507,500) 11,714 $ 208,865 $ 345 (1,286,576) (1) 
IFRS transition adjustments  (10,783) - - - (10,783) (5) 
PILS (272,186) (162,032) - - (434,218) 

$ (1,790,469)  $ (150,318) $ 208,865 $ 345 $ (1,731,577) 

1) The changes in settlement (Group 1) and LRAM balances outstanding from December 31, 2021 were 
approved for disposition as part of the 2022 IRM application with rates effective January 1, 2022 to be 
collected over a 12-month period. 

2) As part of the 2015 COS application, the OEB approved the disposition of stranded meters through a rate 
rider effective May 1, 2015 (implemented June 1, 2015) with recovery over a 7-month period ending 
December 31, 2015. Since the residual balance is not material, it will remain in place until the next COS 
application. 

3) The 2015 COS rate application costs were approved for recovery by the OEB and have been amortized 
over a forty-three-month period ending December 31, 2019.  

4) Disposition is not requested for the deferred tax balance as it is being reversed through timing differences 
in the recognition of deferred tax assets.  No carrying charges are calculated on this balance. 

5) As part of the 2015 COS application, the OEB approved the disposition of the account 1575/76 IFRS 
transition account balance used to record the difference arising on adoption of new asset useful lives and 
overhead rates and write off of end-of-life assets.  These account balances were included as a rate rider 
effective May 1, 2015 (implemented June 1, 2015) and were recovered over a 7-month period ended 
December 31, 2015. Since the residual balance is not material, it will remain in place until the next COS 
application. 

Carrying charges are applied to all regulatory account balances at the OEB prescribed interest rates, with the exception 
of the deferred tax assets on which no carrying charges are applied.  

As part of the Corporation’s 2022 IRM application, the change in debit and credit balance settlement (Group 1) variance 
accounts occurring during fiscal 2021 were approved as part of 2022 distribution rates for recovery over a 12-month 
period commencing January 1, 2022.  As such, the risk associated with the recovery of variance accounts is limited to 
the incremental value of non-settlement variances arising since 2021.  
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

14. Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt consists of the following: 

2022 2021 

Royal Bank revolving term loan, bearing interest at 2.93%, plus a stamping fee 
of 0.42%, payable in monthly principal instalments of approximately 
$35,000 plus interest, increasing by $1,000 yearly until maturity on May 31, 
2038, secured by a general security agreement. 

9,875,000 10,366,000 

Royal Bank loan, bearing interest at 2.62%, payable in monthly principal 
instalments of $19,768, maturing November 25, 2025, secured by a 
general security agreement. 

665,476 882,194 

Notes payable to shareholder, bearing interest at 7.25% per annum, with 
interest payments only, due on demand, unsecured. 

Less: current portion 
Long-term debt 

15,600,000 

26,140,476
 16,328,464 

$9,812,012 

 15,600,000 

 26,848,194 
16,307,717 

$10,540,477 

Interest rate swaps 

The Corporation entered into an interest rate swap agreement on a notional principal of $14,000,000 effective May 31, 
2013, which matures May 31, 2038. The swap is a receive-variable, pay-fixed swap with the Royal Bank. This 
agreement has effectively converted variable interest rates to an effective fixed interest rate of 2.93% plus stamping fee 
of 0.42% on the Royal Bank revolving term loan. The stamping fee is subject to change every 10 years, with the first 
maturity being May 31, 2023.  

Additionally, the Corporation entered into an interest rate swap agreement on a notional principal of $5,000,000. The 
Corporation has not yet made any draws on this available credit and is not required to do so until the effective date of 
December 31, 2024. This agreement has effectively converted variable interest rates to an effective fixed interest rate 
of 2.51% plus stamping fee of 0.42% on the Royal Bank revolving term loan.  

The Corporation has determined these swaps do not meet the standard to apply hedge accounting. Since the standard 
is not met, the interest rate swap contracts have been recorded at their fair value at December 31, 2022 with the 
combined unrealized gain for the year of $1,723,834 (2021 – $646,085) recorded as finance cost in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

14. Long-term debt continued: 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities: 

Current 
and long-
term debt 

Dividends 
payable 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
(financing 

cash flows) 

Balance at January 1, 2022 
Dividends paid 
Proceeds from long-term debt 
Repayments of long-term debt 
Total changes from financing cash flows 
Dividend declared but not paid 
Net income after net movements in 

regulatory balances 
Balance at December 31, 2022 

$ 26,848,194 
-
-

(707,718) 
$ (707,718)

-
-

$ 26,140,476 

$ 

$ 

$ 

500,556 
(500,556) 

-
-

(500,556)
248,269 

-

248,269 

$ 15,085,495 
(390,330)

-
-

$ (390,330)
(248,269) 
4,078,230 

$ 18,525,126 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(890,886) 
-

(707,718) 
(1,598,604) 

-
-

-

15. Share capital: 

2022 2021 
Authorized: 
Unlimited Class A special shares, non-cumulative, 5.0% 
Unlimited Class B special shares 
Unlimited Common shares 

Issued: 
6,100 Class A special shares 
6,995 Common shares 

$ 6,100,000 
9,468,388 

$ 6,100,000 
9,468,388 

$ 15,568,388 $15,568,388 

Dividends paid on the 6,100 class A special shares during the year totalled $152,500 (2021 - $152,500).  Dividends 
paid on the 6,995 common shares during the year totalled $486,099 (2021 - $738,386). A common share dividend was 
declared on December 15, 2022 and is payable on all common shares on record at December 31, 2022, with the 
dividend to be paid in 2023.  The dividend amount payable at December 31, 2022 is $248,269 (2021 - $500,556). 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

16. Revenue from Contracts with Customer: 

The Corporation generates revenue primarily from the sale and distribution of electricity to its customers. Sources of 
revenue are as documented in the table below. 

2022 Sale of 2022 Distribution 2021 Sale of 2021 Distribution 

Residential 
Commercial 
Large Users 
Other 

Energy 

$ 17,226,469 
35,806,876 

2,762,863 
(207,133) 

Revenue 

$ 6,928,900 
 4,757,459 

314,993 
 172,733 

Energy 
$ 16,035,245 

39,685,538 
2,653,924 
1,185,095 

Revenue 
$ 6,695,809 

 4,553,668 
321,241 
11,980 

$ 55,589,074 $ 12,174,085 $ 59,559,802 $ 11,582,698 

17. Other income: 

2022 2021 

Collection, late payment and other service charges 
Pole attachment and other rental income 
Miscellaneous 
Solar generation 

$ 124,331 
108,836 
853,362 
31,992 

$ 187,699 
 128,767 

852,693 
26,725 

$ 1,118,521  $ 1,195,884 

Collection, late payment and other service charges are based on service charge rates and retailer rates as approved 
by the OEB.  Pole attachment and other rentals consist primarily of pole attachment charges and charges for office and 
service centre space. 

Miscellaneous includes revenues from City of Stratford and Town of St. Marys water and sewage billing services, street 
lighting services, management fees charged to Festival Hydro Services Inc. and other revenue sources. 

18. Operating expenses: 

2022 2021 
Salaries and benefits $ 3,329,138 $ 3,003,417 
External services 1,924,106 1,664,018 
Materials and supplies 584,647 624,585 
Other support costs  921,154  722,794  

$ 6,759,045 $ 6,014,814 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

19. Finance income and costs: 

2022 2021 
Interest income on loan to corporation under common control $ 10,862 $ 13,587 
Interest on bank account 12,036 2,991 
Interest on written off trade receivables 442 1,867 
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap 1,723,834 646,085 

Finance income $ 1,747,174 $ 664,530 

Interest expense on demand notes payable $1,131,000 $1,131,000 
Interest expense on long-term debt 338,185 378,136 
Interest on revolving credit facility 84,552 24,449 
Interest expense on deposits 21,041 6,207 
Other interest expense - 64,457 

Finance costs $ 1,574,778 $ 1,604,249 
Net finance income (costs) $ 172,396 $ (939,719) 

Other interest expenses of $64,457 in 2021 are related to accrued interest and discharge fees for the early payment of the 
Infrastructure Ontario Projects Corporation (OIPC) loans with a combined principal payout of $842,668. 

20. Related party transactions: 

a) Parent and ultimate controlling party 

The parent and sole shareholder of the Corporation is the Corporation of the City of Stratford (the “City”). The City 
of Stratford produces financial statements that are available for public use. 

b) Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Corporation has been defined as members of its Board of Directors and 
executive management team members.  Total compensation of key management in 2022 was $833,946 (2021 - 
$662,748). 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

20. Related party transactions (continued): 

(b) Transactions with the Corporation of the City of Stratford 

The following summarizes the Corporation’s related party transactions, recorded at the exchange amounts, with 
the parent, the City of Stratford, for the years ended December 31: 

2022 2021 
Revenues: 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
  
  

   
  

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
 
 

   
   

 

  

   
  

   

 

  
  

  

Total revenues $ 2,027,826 $ 2,168,887 

Total expenses $ 1,306,651 $ 1,327,135 

Energy sales $ 1,475,873 $ 1,612,278 
Water and sewer administration fee 499,716 494,093 
Street lighting services 18,760 34,878 
Service centre space rental 33,477 27,638 

Expenses: 
Interest on demand notes payable $ 1,131,000 $ 1,131,000 
Property taxes 121,157 118,062 
Tree trimming 54,494 78,073 

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Accounts receivable $ 371,073 $ 370,838 
Receivable balances: 

Payable balances: 
Accounts payable and accrued charges $ 995,324 $ 996,298 
Demand notes payable 15,600,000 15,600,000 
Dividends payable  248,269 500,556 
Total payables $16,843,593 $17,096,854 

The net amount owing to the Corporation of the City of Stratford for accounts receivable, accounts payable 
and accrued charges is $624,251 (2021 - $625,460). 

Dividends paid or payable $ 638,599 $ 890,886 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

20. Related party transactions (continued): 

(c) Transactions with corporations under common control of the parent 

The following summarizes the Corporation’s related party transactions, recorded at the exchange amounts, with 
Festival Hydro Services Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the City of Stratford, for the years ended December 31: 

2022 2021 
Revenues: 
Operational services $ 33,397 $ 40,872 
Management fee 64,851 57,518 
Office and fibre room rentals 1,470 1,225 
Joint pole rentals 55,308 71,311 
Interest earned 10,862 13,712 
Energy sales 28,689 25,687 
Water billing and collection services 
Total revenues 

75,120 
$269,697 

73,410 
$283,735 

Expenses: 
Fiber and WIFI services $154,148 $154,148 
Information technology and management services 273,165 128,117 
Total expenses $427,313 $282,265 

Receivable balance: 
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Due from corporations under common control $122,147 $332,803 

21. Capital management: 

The Corporation’s main objectives when managing capital is to: 

 ensure ongoing access to funding to maintain, refurbish and expand the electricity distribution system; 
 ensure sufficient liquidity is available (either through cash and cash equivalents or committed credit facilities) 

to meet the needs of the business; 
 ensure compliance with covenants related to its credit facilities; and 
 prudent management of its capital structure with regard to recoveries of financing charges permitted by the 

OEB on its regulated electricity distribution business, and to deliver the appropriate financial returns. 

The Corporation monitors forecasted cash flows, capital expenditures, debt repayment and key credit ratios. The 
Corporation manages capital by preparing short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts, statements of financial position 
and comprehensive statements of income. In addition, the Corporation accesses its revolving credit facility to fund net 
periodic net cash outflows and to maintain available liquidity. 

There have been no changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year. As at December 
31, 2022, the Corporation’s definition of capital included borrowings under its revolving credit facility, long-term debt 
and obligations including the current portion thereof, and equity, and had remained unchanged from the definition as at 
December 31, 2021. As at December 31, 2022, equity amounted to $34,039,035 (2021 - $30,296,146), borrowings in 
the form of demand notes payable and long-term debt, including the current portion thereof, amounted to $26,140,476 
(2021 - $26,848,194) and the revolving credit facility amounted to $3,720,132 (2021 - $17,428). 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

21. Capital management (continued): 

The OEB regulates the amount of deemed interest on debt and rate of return that may be recovered by the Corporation, 
through its electricity distribution rates, in respect of its regulated electricity distribution business.  The OEB permits 
such recoveries on the basis of a deemed capital structure represented by 60% debt and 40% equity.  The actual capital 
structure and finance costs for the Corporation may differ from the OEB deemed structure. 

The Corporation is subject to debt agreements that contain various covenants. The Corporation’s credit agreement with 
Royal Bank provides a revolving demand facility, letter of guarantee which is posted with the IESO as prudential support, 
and a long-term loan facility.  These combined facilities are subject to a funded indebtedness debt to equity ratio of no 
more than 65%. 

The Corporation has customary covenants typically associated with long-term debt. As at December 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, the Corporation was in compliance with all with all credit agreement covenants and limitations 
associated with its long-term debt. 

22. Financial instruments and risk management: 

Fair value disclosure 

The carrying values of accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, and the revolving term facility, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments. The fair values of customer 
deposits approximate their carrying amounts taking into account interest accrued on the outstanding balance.  Cash is 
measured at fair value.  

The swap agreements are measured at fair value, which is provided by a third-party, banking institution and is based 
on market rates at the date of the valuation. The valuation of the interest rate swaps resulted in an unrealized gain 
recorded on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2022 of $784,886 (2021 - $938,948 unrealized loss).   

The fair value of the long-term borrowings is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the current rate of interest at the reporting date.  The carrying amounts and fair values of the 
Corporation’s long-term loans consist of the following: 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

Carrying amounts: 
2022 2021 

Demand notes payable, 7.25% 
Term Loan 2.93% maturing May 1, 2038 plus stamping fee of  

0.42% 
Term Loan 2.62% maturing November 25, 2025 

$15,600,000 

9,875,000 

665,476  

$15,600,000 

 10,366,000 

882,194  
Total $26,140,476  $26,848,194  

Fair values: 
2022 2021 

Demand notes payable valued based on current revolving 
credit facility rate of 3.95% 

Term Loan 2.93 % plus stamping fee of 0.42% 
 booked at market value 

Term Loan 2.62% maturing November 25, 2025, booked at 
 market interest rate of 2.95% 

$12,556,106 

9,581,114 

609,697 

 $16,422,603 

 11,304,948 

 865,230 

Total $22,746,917 $28,592,781 

Financial risks 

The following is a discussion of financial risks and related mitigation strategies that have been identified by the 
Corporation for financial instruments. This is not an exhaustive list of all risks, nor will the mitigation strategies eliminate 
all risks listed. The Corporation’s activities provide for a variety of financial risks, particularly credit risk, market risk and 
liquidity risk. 

a) Credit risk 

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk as a result of the risk of counterparties defaulting on their obligations. The 
Corporation’s exposure to credit risk primarily relates to accounts receivable and unbilled revenue.  The Corporation 
monitors and limits its exposure to credit risk on a continuous basis. 

The Corporation’s credit risk associated with accounts receivable and unbilled revenue is primarily related to 
electricity bill payments from electricity customers. The Corporation obtains security deposits from certain 
customers in accordance with direction provided by the OEB and as outlined in the Corporation's conditions of 
service.  As of December 31, 2022, the Corporation held security deposits related to electricity receivables in the 
amount of $957,164 (2021 - $1,061,051). 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

As at December 31, 2022, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to any one customer. 
No single customer accounts for revenue in excess of 5% of total distribution revenue.  The Corporation earns its 
revenue from a broad base of approximately 21,000 customers (2021 - 21,000 customers) located throughout its 
service territory. 

The credit risk and mitigation strategies with respect to unbilled revenue are the same as for accounts receivable. 
The credit risk related to cash is mitigated by the Corporation’s treasury policies on assessing and monitoring the 
credit exposures of counterparties. 

Credit risk associated with electricity accounts receivable and unbilled revenue (electricity only) is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Not more than 30 days      $ 6,448,968  $ 6,635,586  
More than 30 but less than 90 days 405,840 295,071 
More than 90 days       167,531  179,511  
Less allowance for impairment      (173,017) (178,684) 
Unbilled revenue        4,783,498 5,230,771 

$ 11,632,820 $12,162,255 

As at December 31, 2022, the Corporation’s accounts receivable and unbilled revenue which were not past due or 
impaired were assessed by management to have no significant collection risk and no additional allowance for 
impairment was required for these balances. 

Reconciliation between the opening and closing allowance for impairment is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Balance, beginning of year $ 178,684 $ 152,435 
Provision for impairment     53,870 120,944 
Write offs (72,374) (108,245) 
Recoveries    12,837 13,550 
Balance, end of year       $ 173,017 $ 178,684 

Unbilled revenue represents amounts for which the Corporation has a contractual right to receive cash through 
future billings and are unbilled at year end. Unbilled revenue is considered current and no provision for impairment 
was established as at December 31, 2022 (2021 – nil). 

(b) Interest rate risk 

The Corporation is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates for the valuation of its employee future benefit obligations 
(note 12).  The Corporation is also exposed to short-term interest rate risk on the net of cash position and short-
term borrowings under its Revolving Credit Facility and customer deposits. The Corporation manages interest rate 
risk by monitoring its mix of fixed and floating rate instruments and taking action as necessary to maintain an 
appropriate balance.    
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(b) Interest rate risk (continued) 

As at December 31, 2022, aside from the valuation of its employee future benefit obligations, the Corporation was 
exposed to interest rate risk predominately from short-term borrowings under its revolving credit facility and 
customer deposits, while most of its remaining obligations were either non-interest bearing or bear fixed interest 
rates, and its financial assets were predominately short-term in nature and mostly non-interest bearing. The 
Corporation estimates that a 100 basis point increase in short-term interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, would result in an increase of approximately $61,266 (2021 - $17,921) to annual finance costs. A decrease 
of 100 basis points would result in a reduction in financing costs of $61,266 (2021 – $17,921).   

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk related to its ability to fund its obligations as they become due. The 
Corporation monitors and manages its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet operational and 
financial requirements. The Corporation has access to credit facilities and monitors cash balances daily. The 
Corporation’s objective is to ensure that sufficient liquidity is on hand to meet obligations as they fall due while 
minimizing finance costs. 

The Corporation has a revolving credit facility available of $10,000,000 with a Canadian chartered bank.  As at 
December 31, 2022, $3,720,132 (2021 - $17,428) was drawn on this facility. 

As a purchaser of electricity through the Independent Electricity System Operator (“IESO”), the Corporation is 
required to provide security to minimize the risk of default based on its expected activity in the market.  The IESO 
may draw on this security if the Corporation fails to make payment required by a default notice issue by the IESO. 
The Corporation has a $3.6 million revolving term facility by way of a letter of guarantee with Royal Bank, of which 
$3,095,139 (2021 - $3,095,139) has been assigned to secure the prudential support required by the IESO.  

The majority of accounts payable, as reported on the statement of financial position, is due within 30 days. 
Liquidity risks associated with financial commitments are as follows: 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

Contractual cash flows, including interest, at year end are: 

December 31, 2022 
Carrying Due within Due within Due>

Total 
Amounts 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 years 

Revolving credit facility $ 3,741,355 $  3,741,355 $ 3,741,355 $ - $ -
Accounts payable and accrued 

8,658,017 8,658,017 8,658,017 - -
liabilities 

Due to City of Stratford 624,251 624,251 624,251 - -
Demand notes payable 15,600,000 15,600,000 15,600,000 - -
Term Loan 2.93 % plus stamping fee of 

9,875,000 12,645,318 828,224 3,308,138 8,508,956 
0.42% 

Term Loan 2.62% maturing November 
665,476 691,894 237,221 454,673 -

25, 2025   
$ 39,164,099 $  41,960,835 $  29,689,068 $ 3,762,811 $ 8,508,956 

December 31, 2021 

Revolving credit facility 
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities 

$ 

Carrying 
Amounts 

17,428 

9,902,642 

$ 

Total 

17,428 

9,902,642 

$ 

Due within 
1 year 

17,428 

9,902,642 

Due within 
1 to 5 years 

$ -

-

$ 

Due> 
5 years 

-

-

Due to City of Stratford 
Demand notes payable 
Term Loan 2.93 % plus stamping fee of

0.42% 

625,460 
15,600,000 

10,366,000 

625,460 
 15,600,000 

 13,475,135 

625,460 
15,600,000 

829,817

 -
-

 3,311,494 

-
-

 9,333,824 

Term Loan 2.62% maturing November 
25, 2025   

882,194 929,115 237,221 691,894 -

$ 37,393,724 $  40,549,780 $  27,212,568 $ 4,003,388 $ 9,333,824 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

23. Commitments and contingencies: 

Operating leases 

The Corporation entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for service centre space for a period of five years dated 
November 15, 2015. The contract is subject to an annual increase based on the Ontario Consumer Price Index. 
Minimum lease payments required are $997 per month for 2022. 

Connection and cost recovery agreement - St. Mary's transformer station 

The Corporation and Hydro One Networks Inc. entered into a twenty-five-year capital cost recovery agreement 
("CCRA") in September 2002 relating to Hydro One Networks Inc. building new feeder positions at the existing St. 
Mary's Transformer Station. Under the terms of the agreement, the Corporation has guaranteed new load growth which, 
if not met, would require the Corporation to provide a financial contribution toward the capital investment of the 
transformer station. 

The CCRA has been trued-up effective July 5, 2013. Since load growth had fallen below a target amount, a cumulative 
contribution in the amount of $550,200 has been paid to Hydro One Networks. This amount has been recorded as an 
intangible asset subject to 15-year amortization over the remaining life of the agreement. The agreement was subject 
to true up effective on the fifteenth year of the agreement in July 2018 however, this has not been completed by Hydro 
One Inc. It is possible that the Corporation may owe a further payment as a result of the agreement but an estimate of 
any amount owing is not possible at December 31, 2022 given the nature of the variables included in the calculation. 
The need for a contribution will be determined by Hydro One Networks Inc. based on actual new load growth. 

Connection and cost recovery agreement-Stratford transformer station ("Festival Hydro MTS1") 

The Corporation and Hydro One Networks Inc. entered into a twenty-five-year CCRA in November, 2012, relating to 
Hydro One Networks Inc. building a new 230kV line to connect Festival Hydro`s MTS1 to Hydro One`s 230kV circuit. 
Under the terms of the agreement, the Corporation has guaranteed new load growth which, if not met, would require 
the Corporation to provide a financial contribution toward the capital investment. The CCRA is trued-up (a) following the 
fifth and tenth anniversaries of the in-service date; and (b) following the fifteenth anniversary of the in-service date if the 
actual load is 20% higher or lower than the load forecast at the end of the tenth anniversary of the in-service date. The 
fifth anniversary of the in-service date was in November 2017. The need for a contribution will be determined by Hydro 
One Networks Inc. based on actual new load growth. 

General 

From time to time, the Corporation is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of its business. 
The Corporation has no reason to believe that the disposition of any such current matter could reasonably be expected 
to have a materially adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial position, results of operations or its ability to carry on 
any of its business activities. 

General Liability Insurance 

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (“MEARIE”). 
MEARIE is a pooling of public liability insurance risks of many of the electrical utilities in Ontario. All members of the 
pool are subjected to assessment for losses experienced by the pool for the years in which they were members on a 
pro-rata basis based on the total of their respective service revenues. It is anticipated that should such an assessment 
occur it would be funded over a period of up to 5 years. As at December 31, 2022, no assessments had been made. 
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Festival Hydro Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

24. Guarantee: 

The Corporation has guaranteed the bank loan of QR Fibre, a company related through common ownership, to the 
extent of $4,500,000. In addition, the Corporation has entered into a Guarantee Indemnification Agreement to 
ensure compliance with the Affiliation Relationships code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters and mitigate 
its risk exposure. No amount has been recorded in these financial statements as the Corporation does not expect 
to have to honour its guarantee. 

25. Subsequent event: 

The shares of QR Fibre Inc. held under common control were sold on January 31, 2023 for proceeds of $50,000. 
As of the date of sale, the Corporation is no longer obligated to honour the guarantee for the bank loan of QR Fibre. 

26. Comparative figures: 

Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year presentation. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Balance Sheet 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, YTD Budget at YTD Proj. as at YTD Final Audited YTD as at Dec 31, YTD Budget at YTD Proj. as at YTD Final Audited 
2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 as at Dec 31, 2022 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 as at Dec 31, 2022 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 
Current Assets Current Liabilites 

Accounts Receivable 8,517,199 7,100,000 8,100,000 8,460,478 Bank Indebtedness 15,768 477,157 634,708 3,740,695 
Inventory 163,445 200,000 200,000 177,526 Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 10,920,398 10,300,000 10,100,000 9,663,091 
Prepaid Expenses 357,282 450,000 450,000 230,441 Current Portion of Consumer Deposits 1,169,541 1,000,000 1,100,000 1,016,175 
Due from FHSI 332,803 336,032 195,405 122,147 Current Portion of Long Term Loans 707,717 676,718 727,496 728,464 
Corporate PILS Recoverable 356,057 — — 511,562 Dividends Declared 500,556 — 235,645 248,269 
Unbilled Revenue 5,230,771 6,500,000 6,000,000 4,783,498 Promissory Note 15,600,000 15,600,000 15,600,000 15,600,000 

14,957,557 14,586,032 14,945,405 14,285,653 28,913,981 28,053,876 28,397,850 30,996,695 

Property, Plant & Equipment 57,113,909 57,577,058 58,191,066 58,854,036 Other Liabilites 
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap 938,948 744,235 938,948 (784,886) 

Other Assets Deferred Revenue 2,648,087 2,064,554 2,781,764 2,914,627 
Intangible Assets 1,734,841 2,027,793 2,293,142 1,806,282 Employee Future Benefits 1,361,643 1,451,944 1,361,643 1,009,878 
Future payments in lieu of income taxes (3,109,920) (745,865) (1,706,586) (3,239,959) 
Regulatory Assets 4,597,210 800,000 1,700,000 7,261,719 Long Term Debt 

Consumer Deposits over one year 594,311 400,000 400,000 980,367 
RBC Loan - LT Portion 10,540,477 9,369,000 9,812,980 9,812,012 
Infrastructure Ontario Loan - LT Portion — — — — 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 44,997,447 9,769,000 10,212,980 44,928,692 

EQUITY 
Share Capital - Common 9,468,388 9,468,388 9,468,388 9,468,388 
Share Capital - Preferred 6,100,000 6,100,000 6,100,000 6,100,000 
Retained Earnings 15,085,499 16,912,539 16,519,192 18,525,130 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (357,737) (319,518) (357,737) (54,479) 

TOTAL EQUITY 30,296,150 32,161,409 31,729,843 34,039,039 

TOTAL ASSETS 75,293,597 74,245,018 75,423,027 78,967,731 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 75,293,597 74,245,018 75,423,027 78,967,731 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Income Statement 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, YTD Budget at YTD Proj. as at YTD Final Audited Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Proj. YTD 
2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 as at Dec 31, 2022 Var$ Var% Var$ 

REVENUE 
Service Revenue 72,302,125 86,557,124 88,884,422 
Cost of Power 60,698,856 74,429,400 76,495,106 

GROSS MARGIN (DISTRIBUTION REVENUE) 11,603,269 12,127,724 12,389,316 
` 
Other Operating Revenue 1,203,160 1,106,523 1,118,743 

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE EXPENSE 
Transformer & Distribution Station Expense 175,463 191,505 198,857 
Distribution Lines & Services Overhead 1,420,532 1,766,895 1,780,116 
U/G Distribution Lines & Services 244,173 210,164 229,466 
Distribution Transformers 97,568 78,956 90,392 
Distribution Meters 311,900 427,611 445,444 
Customer Premises 194,867 169,738 179,225 
TOTAL OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE 2,444,502 2,844,869 2,923,500 

ADMINISTRATION 
Billing, Collecting & Meter Reading 1,293,457 1,428,798 1,309,733 
Administration 2,406,903 2,925,464 2,777,959 
TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 3,700,360 4,354,262 4,087,692 

Allocated Depreciation (130,048) (126,030) (120,672) 

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE COST 6,014,814 7,073,102 6,890,520 6,759,045 

NET INCOME BEFORE DEP'N, INTEREST & TAX 6,791,614 6,617,538 6,537,826 

Depreciation 2,412,000 2,515,754 2,505,726 
Interest Expense 1,617,799 1,681,185 1,655,362 
Interest Income (33,164) (33,000) (82,058) 

NET INCOME BEFORE SWAP, ICM & PBA & INC TAXES 2,794,979 2,453,600 2,458,796 
Current Tax 326,430 393,933 104,400 

NET INCOME BEFORE SWAP & ICM 2,468,549 2,059,667 2,354,396 
Unrealized Gain/Loss on Swap (646,085) — (1,723,834) 
Marketable Security - recorded as OCI (80,606) — (303,258) 

NET INCOME 3,195,240 1,882,663 2,059,667 4,381,488 

70,315,230 
58,141,145 
12,174,085 

1,122,786 

239,484 
1,677,230 

254,396 
81,251 

444,351 
206,830 

2,903,543 

1,283,486 
2,694,580 
3,978,065 

(122,564) 

(16,241,894) (19%) (18,569,192) 
(16,288,255) (22%) (18,353,961) 

46,361 0% (215,231) 

16,263 1% 4,043 

47,979 25% 40,627 

2,498,825 133% 2,321,821 

(89,665) (5%) (102,887) 
44,232 21% 24,930 
2,294 3% (9,141) 

16,740 4% (1,092) 
37,093 22% 27,605 
58,673 2% (19,957) 

(145,313) (10%) (26,248) 
(230,884) (8%) (83,379) 
(376,196) (9%) (109,627) 

(3,466) (3%) — 

(314,057) (4%) (131,476) 

6,161,145 376,681 6% (79,712) 

2,559,342 — — (10,028) 
1,544,141 111,222 7% (25,823) 

(33,000) 49,058 149% (49,058) 
2,090,663 368,133 18% 5,196 

208,000 (103,600) (50%) (289,533) 
1,882,663 471,733 25% 294,729 

— (1,723,834) — (1,723,834) 
— (303,258) — (303,258) 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Cash Flow Statement 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

Cash from Operations 
Net Income 
Depreciation 
Amortization of deferred revenue in other revenue 
Unrealized Gain on interest rate swap 
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables 
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventory 
Decrease/(Increase) in Prepaids 
Decrease/(Increase) in Due from FHSI 
Decrease/(Increase) in PILS 
Decrease/(Increase) in Unbilled Revenues 
Decrease/(Increase) in Future Tax (offsetting entry in payab 
Decrease/(Increase) in Regulatory Assets 
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 
Increase/(Decrease) in Deposits 
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Future Benefits 
Contributed Capital 

Net Cash Provided 

Cash from Financing 
Loan Repayments 
Cash Used - Capital Expenditures 
Cash Used - TS expansion 
TS Expansion Construction Loan Proceeds 
Cash Used - Dividends paid current year 
Cash Used - Dividends declared in prior year 

Net Cash Used 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash Position 

Bank Indebtedness, Beg of Period 

Bank Indebtedness, End of Period 

Bank and Line of Credit Analysis 

High balance (YTD) 
Low Balance (YTD) 
Overdraft interest (annualized) 

Interest rate (avg annual for period) 
Average overdraft balance 

YTD Proj. as at Dec YTD Final Audited as 
31, 2022 at Dec 31, 2022 

3,195,240 1,882,662 2,059,667 4,381,488 
2,412,000 2,559,342 2,515,754 2,505,726 

(65,645) (77,165) (68,743) (358,598) 
(646,085) — — (1,723,834) 

(1,111,618) 1,000,000 417,199 (179,111) 
9,168 — (36,555) (14,081) 

32,568 — (92,718) 126,840 
294,268 126,696 137,398 210,656 

(178,120) — 356,057 (155,505) 
1,140,450 — (769,229) 447,273 
2,161,939 — (1,403,334) 130,039 

(3,330,007) 900,000 2,897,210 (2,664,508) 
1,322,917 500,000 (820,398) (1,257,307) 

269,859 — (263,853) 232,689 
(131,274) — 0 (351,765) 
486,469 200,000 122,905 483,203 

5,862,129 7,091,535 5,051,360 1,813,204 

529,445 1,066,935 628,203 707,718 
3,865,723 3,730,830 4,151,212 3,939,526 

— — — — 
— — — — 

390,330 390,330 390,330 390,330 
115,211 — 500,556 500,556 

4,900,709 5,188,095 5,670,301 5,538,130 

961,420 1,903,440 (618,941) (3,724,926) 

(977,188) (2,380,598) (15,768) (15,769) 

(15,769) (477,158) (634,709) (3,740,695) 

2021 2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, 
2021 

3,245,015 
(4,904,523) 

24,449 
2.45% 

997,918 

YTD Budget at Dec 
31, 2022 

5,889,735 
(8,463,958) 

84,552 
4.13% 

2,046,185 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Statement of Capital 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD Final 
YTD as at Dec YTD Budget at YTD Proj. as at Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Proj. YTD 

Audited as at
31, 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 Var$ Var% Var$ 

Dec 31, 2022 
DISTRIBUTION 

Distribution Overhead 846,828 1,367,514 1,098,104 919,529 (447,985) (33%) (178,575) 
Underground Conductor and Devices 1,134,294 818,100 1,010,305 871,375 53,275 7% (138,930) 
Distribution Transformers 409,448 195,075 263,119 374,144 179,069 92% 111,025 
Services 350,012 — 235,275 317,708 317,708 (100%) 82,433 
Distribution Meters 99,550 387,149 327,000 397,955 10,806 3% 70,955 
SCADA/Distribution Automation 11,881 55,000 35,000 33,563 (21,437) (39%) (1,437) 
Tools and Miscellaneous Equipment 26,796 30,000 30,000 28,200 (1,800) (6%) (1,800) 
TOTAL DISTRIBUTION 2,878,808 2,852,838 2,998,803 2,942,474 89,636 3% (56,329) 

OTHER CAPITAL 
Land and Buildings 485,903 274,692 309,108 365,904 91,212 33% 56,796 
Transformer Station 143,417 139,000 217,000 86,263 (52,737) (38%) (130,737) 
Vehicles and Trailers 16,511 210,000 68,000 68,635 (141,365) (67%) 635 
Computer Hardware and Software 341,084 454,300 558,301 254,790 (199,510) (44%) (303,511) 
Work in Progress — — (202,420) 221,461 221,461 100% 423,881 
TOTAL OTHER CAPITAL 986,915 1,077,992 949,989 997,052 (80,940) (8%) 47,063 

TOTAL CAPITAL 3,865,723 3,930,830 3,948,792 3,939,526 8,696 0% (9,266) 
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May 10, 2023 

City of Stratford 

P.O Box 818 

1 Wellington Street 

Stratford, ON N5A 6W1 

Dear City of Stratford Representative: 

The following motion was made by the Festival Hydro Inc. board at the April 2023 board meeting: 

MOTION- It was moved by B. Beatty and seconded by M. Ritsma that the Board 
recommend to the City of Stratford to declare a top-up Common Share dividend in the 
amount of $248,269 for the year 2022, calculated in accordance with Festival Hydro’s 
Dividend Policy, to be paid in Q2 of 2023. 

CARRIED 

If you have any questions or require any clarification, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Regards, 

Jeff Graham P.Eng 

President & CEO 

Festival Hydro Inc 
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To: Mark Hunter and the Finance and Labour Relations Committee 
From: Alyson Conrad, CFO 
Re: Commentary on FHI Financial Results – 

For the period ended March 31, 2023 

Net income for the period is $603K, which is $76K above the YTD budget. Detailed commentary on the 
balance sheet and statement of operations are noted below: 

BALANCE SHEET COMMENTARY: 

Accounts Receivable – The accounts receivable balance is $889K less than it was in March of 2022. This 
variance is the result of the following: 

• Electric receivables are $702K higher than March 2022, the majority of this being current balance 
i.e., not in arrears. However, we are seeing steady increases in past due balances, both in the 
quantity of accounts and value of accounts. Arrears balances have increased by $107K compared 
to March 2022. 

• Water and sewer receivables are $115K higher than March 2022 with the majority being current 
balances. Water and sewer receivables are seeing a similar trend in increasing arrears. Past due 
balances have increased by $66K compared to March 2022. 

• Accounts receivables for recoverable work have decreased by $289K compared to the prior year 
due larger deposits on hand for upcoming work that are offset in this account. 

• OER settlement has decreased by $1.365M compared to the prior year mainly because of a large 
drop in the OER rate from 17% to 11.7%. 

Electric receivables are being continuously monitored due to the disconnection moratorium which will 

end on April 30, 2023. The customer service team continues to work diligently to attempt to collect 

arrears while being understanding and empathic to customers. Wherever possible, customer service 

representatives are making payment arrangements with customers. 

Due to/from FHSI – The balance in this account has flipped from a receivable to a payable due to cash 
transactions related to the sale of investment shares. 

Unbilled Revenue – This balance is $838K higher than the balance in March of 2022 and $1.96M higher 
than the balance at the end of 2022. The major difference is due to the change in cost of power. The cost 
of power including global adjustment has increased by 8% from March 2022 and has increased by 17% 
from December 2022. 

Regulatory Assets – The regulatory asset balance has increased by $328K since December 2022 and is 
driven virtually all by the variance in 1589 (Global Adjustment). The variance occurs due to GA being 
billed on the first estimate, and FHI being billed on actual. The difference remains in account 1589 until 
the next rate application. In the first three months of the year, GA rates have been 1-2 cents higher on 
the final rate compared to the first estimate. 
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A/P and Accrued Liabilities – This balance has decreased by $1.7M from the March 2022 balance. A 
portion of this variance is due to a lower IESO invoice by $500K and lower HST invoice by $200K. The 
remaining differences are due to trade payables. In 2022 the A/P balance was higher than normal levels. 

Loan Advance – In late March of 2023, FHI drew $2.5M on the available SWAP loan of $5M. This loan is 
considered short term until the loan becomes fixed loan at the end of 2024. 

INCOME STATEMENT COMMENTARY 

Gross Margin on Service Revenue (Distribution Revenue) – The distribution revenue to the end of Q1 
2023 is $31K above budget. We are continuing to see steady residential customer growth, which accounts 
for the majority of the variance. Usage has remained relatively stable year-over-year. 

Other Revenue – Other revenue is running $8K above budget at the end of Q1. The increases are spread 
through many accounts so there is nothing significant to note. FHI is down compared to the prior year 
due to a larger than normal sale of scrap balance in Q1 of 2022. 

Controllable Costs - Total controllable costs are $20K less than budget to the end of Q1. 

Operating and Maintenance expenses are up overall by $71K compared to the budget. There were a few 
areas that FHI saw increased costs due to failed equipment. Oil testing was done at the transformer 
station that required additional contractor work for remediation. Underground cable testing identified 
some failed cable that required maintenance. Similarly, there has been an increase in failed meters which 
requires additional meter testing and meter reading to be completed. 

Administration expenses are down overall by $90K. The majority of this balance is due to the vacancy of 
the VP of IT position and EA position. In addition, many of the non-labour costs in this area occur later in 
the year. 

Interest Income and Expense – Interest income and expense are both increasing due to the rising prime 
rates. Income is increasing substantially due to larger regulatory asset balances and the carrying charge 
rate going from .57% at the beginning on 2022 to the current rate of 4.73%. 

CASH FLOW COMMENTARY 

As per the cash flow statement, the March 31 cash balance increased by $1.2M since yearend. The 
majority of this is due to the draw on the swap loan in March of $2.5M. Subsequently in April, FHI is 
seeing positive cash balances compared to earlier in the year. 

LOAN COVENANT RATIOS 

The Loan Covenant as prescribed by our lender, RBC, is being met. 

Presented for information purposes. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Balance Sheet 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 
Current Assets Current Liabilites 

Accounts Receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid Expenses 
Due from FHSI 
Corporate PILS Recoverable 
Unbilled Revenue 

7,428,686 
232,006 
345,245 
292,981 
372,057 

5,906,712 

8,460,478 
177,526 
230,441 
122,147 
511,562 

4,783,498 

6,539,384 
398,248 
372,951 

— 
578,562 

6,744,927 

Bank Indebtedness 
Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 
Current Portion of Consumer Deposits 
Current Portion of Long Term Loans 
Dividends Declared 
Promissory Note 
Loan Advance 

(84,274) 
10,550,987 

1,087,245 
533,068 
500,556 

15,600,000 
— 

3,740,695 
9,663,091 
1,016,175 

728,464 
248,506 

15,600,000 
— 

2,542,785 
8,858,826 

947,048 
548,393 
248,269 

15,600,000 
2,500,000 

Due to FHSI — — 46,469 
14,577,686 14,285,653 14,634,073 28,187,582 30,996,931 31,291,789 

Property, Plant & Equipment 

Other Assets 

56,676,283 58,854,036 58,463,051 Other Liabilites 
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap 
Deferred Revenue 

938,948 
2,593,611 

(784,886) 
2,914,627 

(784,886) 
3,219,858 

Intangible Assets 
Future payments in lieu of income taxes 
Regulatory Assets 

1,910,792 
(3,109,920) 
4,457,071 

1,806,282 
(3,239,959) 
7,261,719 

1,884,244 
(3,239,959) 
7,589,699 

Employee Future Benefits 

Long Term Debt 
Consumer Deposits over one year 
RBC Loan - LT Portion 

1,361,643 

— 
10,540,477 

1,009,878 

980,367 
9,812,012 

1,009,878 

— 
9,812,012 

Infrastructure Ontario Loan - LT Portion — — — 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 43,622,260 44,928,929 44,548,652 

EQUITY 
Share Capital - Common 
Share Capital - Preferred 
Retained Earnings 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

TOTAL EQUITY 

9,468,388 
6,100,000 

15,679,001 
(357,737) 

30,889,652 

9,468,388 
6,100,000 

18,524,894 
(54,479) 

34,038,803 

9,468,388 
6,100,000 

19,268,547 
(54,479) 

34,782,456 

TOTAL ASSETS 74,511,912 78,967,731 79,331,108 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 74,511,912 78,967,731 79,331,108 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Income Statement 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 

REVENUE 
Service Revenue 20,422,860 
Cost of Power 17,311,419 

GROSS MARGIN (DISTRIBUTION REVENUE) 3,111,441 

Other Operating Revenue 

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE EXPENSE 
Transformer & Distribution Station Expense 
Distribution Lines & Services Overhead 
U/G Distribution Lines & Services 
Distribution Transformers 
Distribution Meters 
Customer Premises 

311,117 

40,517 
531,411 

48,837 
10,813 

104,506 
40,448 

TOTAL OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE 776,533 

ADMINISTRATION 
Billing, Collecting & Meter Reading 345,935 
Administration 674,624 
TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 1,020,559 

Allocated Depreciation (31,507) 

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE COST 1,765,585 

NET INCOME BEFORE DEP'N, INTEREST & TAX 1,656,973 

Depreciation 639,836 
Interest Expense 380,091 
Interest Income (8,455) 

NET INCOME BEFORE SWAP, ICM & PBA & INC TAXES 645,502 
Current Tax 52,000 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

19,546,732 
16,221,849 

3,324,883 

287,431 

116,732 
450,914 

73,819 
26,875 

128,880 
45,054 

842,274 

324,902 
739,227 

1,064,129 

(30,582) 

1,875,820 

1,736,494 

671,472 
472,295 
(70,690) 
663,418 

60,000 
NET INCOME BEFORE SWAP & ICM 593,502 603,418 527,337 

Unrealized Gain/Loss on Swap — — — 
Marketable Security - recorded as OCI — — — 

NET INCOME 593,502 603,418 527,337 

YTD Budget at Mar 
31, 2023 

22,703,049 
19,409,211 

3,293,838 

278,599 

84,413 
447,339 

54,895 
21,484 

107,980 
55,565 

771,675 

350,272 
804,755 

1,155,027 

(30,582) 

1,896,120 

1,676,318 

671,472 
399,259 

(8,250) 
613,837 

86,500 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var$ 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var% 

(3,156,317) 
(3,187,362) 

31,045 

(14%) 
(16%) 

1% 

8,832 

32,319 
3,575 

18,925 
5,391 

20,899 
(10,510) 

3% 

38% 
1% 

34% 
25% 
19% 

(19%) 
70,599 9% 

(25,370) 
(65,528) 
(90,898) 

(7%) 
(8%) 
(8% ) 

(0) 0% 

(20,300) (1% ) 

60,176 4% 

(0) (0%) 
73,036 18% 

(62,440) 757% 
49,581 8% 

(26,500) (31%) 
76,081 14% 

— — 
— — 

76,081 14% 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Cash Flow Statement 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Dec 31, YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 2023 

Cash from Operations 
Net Income 4,381,488 603,418 
Depreciation 2,505,726 671,472 
Amortization of deferred revenue in other revenue (358,598) 305,231 
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap (1,723,834) — 
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables (179,111) 2,061,094 
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventory (14,081) (220,722) 
Decrease/(Increase) in Prepaids 126,840 (142,510) 
Decrease/(Increase) in Due from FHSI 210,656 168,616 
Decrease/(Increase) in PILS (155,505) (67,000) 
Decrease/(Increase) in Unbilled Revenues 447,273 (1,961,429) 
Decrease/(Increase) in Future Tax (offsetting entry in payab 130,039 — 
Decrease/(Increase) in Regulatory Assets (2,664,508) (327,981) 
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (1,257,307) (804,265) 
Increase/(Decrease) in Deposits 232,689 (1,049,494) 
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Future Benefits (351,765) — 
Contributed Capital 483,203 283,621 

Net Cash Provided 1,813,204 (479,950) 

Cash from Financing 
Loan Repayments 707,718 180,071 
Loan Advance 0 (2,500,000) 
Cash Used - Capital Expenditures 3,939,526 642,068 
Cash Used - Dividends paid current year 390,330 — 
Cash Used - Dividends declared in prior year 500,556 — 

Net Cash Used 5,538,130 (1,677,860) 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash Position (3,724,926) 1,197,910 

Bank Indebtedness, Beg of Period (15,769) (3,740,695) 

Bank Indebtedness, End of Period (3,740,695) (2,542,785) 

Bank and Line of Credit Analysis 2022 2023 

High balance (YTD) 5,889,735 1,769,494 
Low Balance (YTD) (8,463,958) (6,140,288) 
Overdraft interest (annualized) 84,552 265,429 

Interest rate (avg annual for period) 4.13% 6.75% 
Average overdraft balance 2,046,185 3,932,283 

Key Financial Ratios: Actual Ratio Required Ratio 

RBC Compliance Ratio - Funded Debt to Total Capital 0.46 Less than 0.65 

Debt to Equity Test 28:72 Less than 75:25 

Debt Service Ratio 2.14 Not less than 1.30X 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO INC. 
Statement of Capital 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

DISTRIBUTION 
Distribution Overhead 
Underground Conductor and Devices 
Distribution Transformers 
Services 
Distribution Meters 
SCADA/Distribution Automation 
Tools and Miscellaneous Equipment 
TOTAL DISTRIBUTION 

OTHER CAPITAL 
Land and Buildings 
Transformer Station 
Vehicles and Trailers 
Computer Hardware and Software 
TOTAL OTHER CAPITAL 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 

205,166 210,112 272,588 (62,475) (23%) 
41,534 63,603 293,488 (229,885) (78%) 

101,034 91,269 78,750 12,519 16% 
90,687 34,819 48,750 (13,931) (100%) 
63,227 24,543 83,750 (59,207) (71%) 

— 25,703 18,750 6,953 37% 
2,424 6,067 7,500 (1,433) (19%) 

504,071 456,116 803,575 

16,194 29,465 229,500 
6,015 1,374 41,250 

— — 18,750 
281,369 155,113 160,444 
303,578 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

185,952 

YTD Budget at Mar 
31, 2023 

449,944 
TOTAL CAPITAL 807,649 642,068 1,253,519 

Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var$ Var% 

(347,459) (43%) 

(200,035) 
(39,876) 
(18,750) 

(5,331) 
(263,992) 
(611,451) 

(87%) 
(97%) 

(100%) 
(3%) 

(59%) 
(49%) 
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To: Mark Hunter and the Finance and Labour Relations Committee 
From: Alyson Conrad, CFO 
Re: Commentary on FHSI Financial Results – 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Balance Sheet Commentary: 

Capital asset additions: Additions to the end of 2022 are $120K, or 76% of budget. Details on the capital 
spend to date are as noted below: 

Computer Hardware/Software: Total hardware/software spend for 2022 is $76K which is $29K under 
budget. A large portion of this was for new servers that were completed in Q1 and backup servers that 
were purchased in Q4. There were a few projects that have been deferred to 2023 due to time 
constraints or assets not yet reaching end of useful life. The servers purchased in Q4 came in $2.5K 
under budget. The remaining variance from projection was an error in allocation of one project that 
should have been included in Wi-Fi capital instead of Computer hardware totaling $6K. 

WIFI Capital: Total capital WIFI spend for 2022 is $14K which is $7K over budget. There was limited work 
completed in the year under Wi-Fi capital. There is a variance from projection due to the allocation 
error noted above. This purchase was for a spare part for critical Wi-Fi equipment. 

Fibre Capital: Total spend on fibre capital for 2022 was $29K which was under budget by $12K. The 
main fibre project in St. Mary’s was budgeted in 2021 but was partially completed in 2022 with the 
remaining portion of the project to be completed in Q1 of 2023. There was also a large rebuild 
projection completed at Romeo/Frederick which came in approximately $3.5K under budget. 

Due from QR Fibre: In 2022 QR Fibre needed to borrow funds from its shareholders to cover the 
construction loan principal repayments. FHSI’s portion was $49.5K. 

Due to FHI: The balance due to FHI is $122K. The $73K under projections is a result of less capital spend 
compared to projections and additional work completed by FHSI staff for FHI in the latter part of the 
year. 

Deferred Revenue and Long-Term Debt: Deferred revenue increased compared to projection due to an 
additional cheque being received in Q4 for the DSRC (Dedicated Short Range Communication) project 
that was completed in 2020. This amount will be brought into revenue over the life of the asset. Long-
term debt balances are as projected based on the loan and depreciation schedules. 

Income Statement Commentary: 

The net income for the period is $58K, which is $16K ahead of budget. 

Revenues: Revenues are $40K below budget and $71K ahead of the projections. 
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The two main areas where there are changes from projections are in Wi-Fi revenues and consulting 
revenue. ISP revenue was higher than projections by $11K due to additional funds received for the 
DSRC project. This revenue was included in deferred revenue and amortized over the life of the 
corresponding assets. In addition, consulting revenue was higher than projections by $58K due to a 
review and adjustment of the rates charged to FHI for FHSI staff. 

Operating Expenses: Operating expenses are $59K below budget and $57K above projections.  The $57 
K above projections is driven by business development costs being $68K higher than expected. The 
main reason was due to a formula error in the labour projection file which did not account for some 
employee’s labour in Q4 ($40K). The remainder of the variance is due to a low benefit projection which 
came in higher to the end of the year ($20K). This is offset by Wi-Fi and fibre maintenance being lower 
than projection by $7K and $6K respectively. There is a portion of the asset management project that 
was not complete by the end of the year and therefore will be expensed in early 2023. 

Current and Future Income Tax: A combined $22K expense at the end of 2022 is made up of $18K of 
current tax owing and $4K in future taxes. The projections only included a net balance of $18K. The 
difference being a better than anticipated net income. 
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KPMG LLP 
140 Fullarton Street, Suite 1400 
London ON  N6A 5P2 
Canada 
Tel 519 672-4880 
Fax 519 672-5684 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholder of Festival Hydro Services Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Festival Hydro Services 
Inc., which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 

 the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 
then ended 

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Festival Hydro Services Inc. as at December 31, 
2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section 
of our auditor’s report.   

We are independent of Festival Hydro Services Inc. in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.    

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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Page 2 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
Festival Hydro Service Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate Festival Hydro Service 
Inc. or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Festival Hydro 
Service Inc.’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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Page 3 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Festival Hydro 
Services’ internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on Festival Hydro Services’ ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Festival 
Hydro Services Inc. to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

London, Canada 

April 28, 2023 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

Note 2022 2021 

Revenue 11 

Operating expenses
Employee salaries and benefits 12 
Operating expenses 13 
Depreciation and amortization 6, 7 

Income from operating activities 
Finance income 14 
Finance costs 14 
Income before income taxes 
Income tax expense 8 
Net income and comprehensive income 

$ 1,371,519 

463,684 
417,695 
366,553 

1,247,932 
123,587 

36 
44,001 
79,622 
22,000 

$ 57,622 

$ 1,336,141 

393,453 
381,916 
362,439 

1,137,808 
198,333 

198 
49,420 

149,111 
39,000 

$ 110,111 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

Share Retained 
capital earnings Total 

Balance at January 1, 2021
Net income and comprehensive income 

 $ 249,235
-
 $ 857,377 

110,111 
$1,106,612 

110,111 

Balance at December 31, 2021  $ 249,235 $ 967,488 $ 1,216,723 

Balance at January 1, 2022
Net income and comprehensive income 

 $ 249,235
-
 $ 967,488 

57,622 
$1,216,723 

57,622 

Balance at December 31, 2022  $ 249,235 $1,025,110 $1,274,345 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022 2021 

Operating activities: 
Net income and comprehensive income 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred revenue 
Net finance costs 
Income tax expense 
Remeasurement of debt 

$ 57,622 

 366,553
(84,651) 

43,965 
4,000 

(5,239) 

$ 110,111 

 362,439 
(90,135) 

49,222 
5,000 

(7,786) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital 
Accounts receivable 
Inventory 

 Other assets 
Due from QR Fibre Inc. 

 Income tax payable 
Investment tax credit receivable 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Due to Festival Hydro Inc. 

Interest paid 
Interest received 

19,868 
-

2,134 
(49,500) 

(5,701) 
-

22,810 
(221,518) 
(27,900) 

36 
 122,479

(2,312) 
156
570 

-
28,000 

6,000 
196 

(307,980) 
(27,922)   

198
 125,757 

Financing activities: 
Repayment of long-term debt 
Deferred revenue received 

(42,508) 
37,346 
(5,162)  

(41,707) 
-

(41,707)  

Investing activities: 
Purchase of plant and equipment 
Purchase of intangible asset 

(119,993) 
-

(119,993) 

(57,492) 
(27,071) 
(84,563)  

Decrease in cash (2,676) (513) 

Cash, beginning of year 9,016 9,529 

Cash, end of year $ 6,340 $ 9,016 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

1. Reporting entity: 

Festival Hydro Services Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario) pursuant to Section 142 of the Electricity Act 1998 on July 11, 2000. The Corporation of the 
City of Stratford (the “City”) passed a bylaw pursuant to Section 145 of the Electricity Act 1998 
transferring certain assets and liabilities used in connection with water heaters, sentinel lights, and 
other energy services and telecommunications from the Stratford Public Utility Commission – Electric 
Departments. In exchange for these assets the City received a promissory note and common shares. 
The Company also maintains a 45% ownership share in QR Fibre Inc. QR Fibre Inc., operates a 
telecommunications business under the regulation of the Canadian Radio-television and 
Telecommunications commission (CRTC). The investment in QR Fibre Inc is accounted for using the 
equity method. The Company is located in the City of Stratford. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is 187 Erie Street, Stratford, Ontario N5A 2M6. 

Festival Hydro Services Inc. is a telecommunications company that rents dark fibre and sentinel lights 
and is an internet service provider that focuses on lit fibre services as well as wireless services for its 
customers. 

The financial statements are for the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). 

(b) Approval of the financial statements: 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 27, 2023. 

(c) Basis of measurement: 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following: 

(i) Where held, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, including those held for 

trading, are measured at fair value. 

(ii) Contributed assets are measured at fair value upon initial recognition. 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 3 (c) and note 16. 

(d) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 

currency. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(e) Use of estimates and judgements: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

In particular, information about areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have an effect on the amounts recognized in these financial statements is 

included in the following notes: 

(i) Note 6 – Plant and equipment: useful lives and the identification of significant components of 

property, plant and equipment. 

(ii) Note 7 – Intangible assets. 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

(a) Financial instruments: 

All financial assets are classified as loans and receivables. All financial liabilities are classified as 

other financial liabilities. These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value adjusted 
for any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method less any impairment for the financial assets. 

The Company does not enter into derivative instruments. Hedge accounting has not been used in 

the preparation of these financial statements. 

(b) Inventory: 

Inventory is stated at lower of cost and net realizable value and consists of maintenance materials 

and supplies. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis. The cost of inventory includes 

expenditures incurred in acquiring the material and supplies and other costs incurred in bringing it 
to its existing location and condition. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Plant and equipment: 

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost. Cost includes expenditures that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost 
of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use. 

Borrowing costs on qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset based upon the 

weighted average cost of debt incurred on the Company’s borrowings. Qualifying assets are 
considered to be those that take in excess of twelve months to construct. 

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 
the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized.  The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognized in 

profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 

each part or component of an item of plant and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

Fibre optics 25 years 
WiFi assets 7 years 
Computer hardware 5 years 
Sentinel lights 10 years 
Furniture and fixtures 10 years 
Buildings 30 years 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and are recognized within 

other income or operating expenses in profit or loss. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Intangible asset: 

Computer software that is acquired or developed by the Company, including software that is not 

integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has finite useful lives, is measured at 
cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 

of intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for 
the current and comparative years are: 

Computer software 5 years 

Amortization methods and useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 

(e) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost. 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 

indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows 
of that asset. 

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 

rate. Interest on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the 
discount. Losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed through profit 
or loss if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 

was recognized. 

(ii) Non-financial assets: 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventory and deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit" or “CGU”). The 
recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 

costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

(g) Revenue: 

Monthly fees in connection with fibre optic, sentinel light, WiFi services, rental revenue, and 

consulting revenue are recognized as the services are rendered to customers. 

Deferred revenue relating to contributions under a cost share agreement is amortized to income 

on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement with the customer which represents the 
period of ongoing service to the customer. 

(h) Deferred revenue and assets transferred from customers: 

Certain partners are required to contribute towards the capital cost of fibre connections as part of 

a revenue/cost sharing agreement. Cash contributions are recorded as current liabilities. When 
an asset is received as a capital contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with 

the corresponding amount recognized as deferred revenue. 

The deferred revenue amount represents the Company's obligation to continue to provide the 

customers access to the fibre services and is amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the agreement with the customer. 

(i) Finance income and finance costs: 

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Finance income comprises interest earned on cash. Finance costs comprise interest expense on 
borrowings.  
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Income taxes: 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in 

profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case, 

it is recognized in equity. 

Under the Electricity Act, 1998, the Company makes payments in lieu of corporate taxes to the 

Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (OEFC). These payments are calculated in accordance 

with the rules for computing taxable income and taxable capital and other relevant amounts 
contained in the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Corporations Tax Act (Ontario) as modified by 
the Electricity Act, 1998, and related regulations. Prior to October 1, 2001, the Company was not 

subject to income or capital taxes. Payments in lieu of taxes (“PIL”s) are referred to as income 
taxes. 

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. Under this method, deferred income 

taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for accounting purposes, as well as for tax losses available to 
be carried forward to future years that are likely to be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates, at the reporting date, expected to 
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be 
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 

recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 

tax benefit will be realized. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Investments measured using equity method: 

The Company uses the equity method as a basis of accounting for investments in companies over 

which it exercises significant influence or joint control. Under the equity method, the Company 

records these investments initially at cost and the carrying values are adjusted thereafter to include 
the Company’s pro rata share of post-acquisition earnings of the investees, computed by the 
consolidation method. The adjustments are included in the determination of net income by the 

Company, and the investment accounts of the Company are also increased or decreased to reflect 
the Company’s share of capital transactions (including amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income). Profit distributions received from investees reduce the carrying values of the investments. 

Unrealized intercompany gains or losses are eliminated. 

The Company’s determination of significant influence is based on consideration of voting interest 

in the investees along with other indicators such as representation on the board of directors, 

participation in policy-making processes, material intercompany transactions, interchange of 
managerial personnel or provision of technical information. The Company uses the equity method 
to account for its 45% interest in QR Fibre Inc. 

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted: 

There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have not been applied 

in preparing these financial statements. These standards or amendments relate to the measurement 
and disclosure of financial assets and liabilities. The extent of the impact on adoption of these standards 
and amendments has not yet been determined. 

i. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 

ii. Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 

iii. Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 

i. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1): 

On January 23, 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, 
to clarify the classification of liabilities as current or non-current. On July 15, 2020 the IASB issued 

an amendment to defer the effective date by one year. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. 

For the purposes of non-current classification, the amendments removed the requirement for a right to 

defer settlement or roll over of a liability for at least twelve months to be unconditional. Instead, such a 
right must have substance and exist at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also clarify 
how a company classifies a liability that includes a counterparty conversion option. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued): 

The amendments state that settlement of a liability includes transferring a company's own equity 

instruments to the counterparty, and when classifying liabilities as current or non-current, a company 
can ignore only those conversion options that are recognized as equity. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning 

January 1, 2023. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been determined. 

ii. Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8): 

On February 12, 2021, the IASB issued Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 

8). The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early 
adoption is permitted. 

The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates, clarifying that they are monetary 

amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments 
also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a 
company develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning 
January 1, 2023. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been determined. 

iii. Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2): 

On February 12, 2021, the IASB issued Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 
and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements). The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. 

The amendments help companies provide useful accounting policy disclosures. The key amendments 
include:  

– requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 

accounting policies; 

– clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are 
themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and 

– clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or 
conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial statements. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard in its financial statements for the annual period beginning 

January 1, 2023. The Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on the financial 
statements. 

5. Inventory: 

The amount of inventory consumed by the Company and recognized as an expense during 2022 was 
$0 (2021 - $156). 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

6. Plant and equipment: 

Cost Fibre optics WiFi assets 
Computer
hardware 

Sentinel 
lights 

Buildings 
and office 
furniture 

Total 

Balance at January 1, 2021 $3,058,680 $826,939 $945,787 $10,970 $523,171 $5,365,547 
Additions 19,996 26,307 9,407 - 1,782 57,492 
Disposals/retirements - (104,854) (450) (3,635) (4,125) (113,064) 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $3,078,676 $748,392 $954,744 $7,335 $520,828 $5,309,975 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $3,078,676 $748,392 $954,744 $ 7,335 $520,828 $5,309,975 
Additions 28,612 14,484 75,986 - 911 119,993 
Disposals/retirements - (14,584) - (2,182) - (16,766) 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $3,107,288  $748,292  $1,030,730 $5,153 $521,739  $5,413,202  

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2021  $1,405,178  $404,551 $130,336  $5,759 $44,078 $1,989,902 
Depreciation 122,747  101,859 111,618 1,275 17,460 354,959 
Disposals/retirements - (104,854) (450) (3,635) (4,125) (113,064) 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $1,527,925  $401,556 $241,504  $3,399 $57,413 $2,231,797 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $1,527,925  $401,556  $241,504  $3,399 $57,413  $2,231,797  
Depreciation 123,147 96,241 120,112 984 17,298 357,782 
Disposals/retirements - (14,584) - (2,182) - (16,766) 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $1,651,072  $483,213  $361,616  $2,201 $74,711  $2,572,813  

Carrying amounts 
December 31, 2021 $1,550,751 $346,836 $713,240 $3,936 $463,415 $3,078,178 
December 31, 2022 $1,456,216 $265,079 $669,114 $2,952 $447,028 $2,840,389 

Borrowing costs: 

During the year there were no borrowing costs capitalized as part of the cost of plant and equipment (2021 – 
$nil). 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

7. Intangible assets: 

Cost 
Balance at January 1, 2021 
Additions 
Disposals/retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2021 

Computer software 

$28,848 
27,071 
(3,200) 

$52,719 

Balance at January 1, 2022 
Additions 
Disposals/retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2022 

$52,719 
-

(10,974) 
$41,745 

Accumulated amortization 
Balance at January 1, 2021 
Amortization 
Disposals/retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2021 

$18,447 
7,482 

(3,200) 
$22,729 

Balance at January 1, 2022 
Amortization 
Disposals/retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2022 

$22,729 
8,771 

(10,974) 
$20,526 

Carrying amounts 
December 31, 2021 
December 31, 2022 

$ 29,990 
21,219 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

8. Income taxes: 

Current Tax Expense $ 
2022

 18,000 $ 
2021 

34,000

Deferred tax expense: 
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences 4,000 5,000 

Total income tax expense $ 22,000 $ 39,000 

Basic rate applied to profit before income tax 26.5% 
26.5%)

(2021 - $ 
2022 

21,000 $ 
2021 

39,000 

Other 1,000 -

$ 22,000 $ 39,000 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax balances are as follows: 

Deferred tax liabilities 
 Plant and equipment
SR&ED pool, ITC & CMT credit claimed 
Other 

$ 

2022

(241,000)
(1,000) 
(5,000) 

$ 

2021 

235,000) 
(1,000)

(7,000) 

Deferred tax liability $ (247,000) $ (243,000) 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

9. Long-term debt: 

2022 2021 

Demand note payable to 
shareholder, bearing interest at 
7.5% per annum with interest 
payments only, due on demand, 
unsecured $372,000 $372,000 

Fixed rate loan, bearing an interest 
rate of 1.92%, quarterly instalments 
of $12,373, term ending December 
31, 2029 

321,305 363,813 

$693,305 $735,813 

Less: current portion 415,324 414,508 

Long-term debt $277,981 $321,305 

The Company incurred interest expense in respect of these lending arrangements of $33,139 (2021 – 
$35,685).  

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities: 

Current 
and long-

Current term Total 
and long- deferred (financing 
term debt revenue  cash flows) 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $735,813 $597,465 $1,333,278 
Deferred revenue received - 37,346 37,346 
Repayments of long-term debt (42,508) - (42,508) 
Total changes from financing cash flows $(42,508) $37,346 $(5,162) 
Amortization of deferred revenue - (84,651) (84,651) 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $693,305 $550,160 $1,243,465 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

10. Share capital: 

2022 2021 
Authorized: 

Unlimited Class A special shares 
Unlimited Class B special shares

  Unlimited common shares 
Issued: 

3,382 common shares (2021 - 3,382)  $ 249,235 $ 249,235 

11. Revenue: 

2022 2021 

Fibre optics 
Consulting revenue 
WiFi services 

$ 657,128 
311,179

 271,642 

$ 706,776 
225,215

 271,952 
Fibre room rental service 121,414  121,765  
Sentinel light fixture rentals 10,156 10,433 

 $ 1,371,519 $ 1,336,141 

Included in fibre optic services is the amortization of deferred revenue in the amount of $71,626 (2021 -
$72,698). Included in Wifi services is the amortization of deferred revenue in the amount of $13,025 (2021 
- $17,437). 

12. Employee salaries and benefits: 

2022 2021 

Salaries, wages and benefits  $ 427,669 $ 359,950 
CPP and EI remittances  24,501  23,023 
Group RRSP contributions  14,514 10,480 

$ 466,684 $ 393,453 

13. Operating expenses: 

2022 2021 

Administrative expenses $ 127,731 $ 112,415 
WiFi maintenance 131,822 132,795 

Fibre optics maintenance 156,168 135,743 
Sentinel lights maintenance 1,974 

$ 417,695 $ 381,916 

963 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

14. Finance income and expense: 

2022 2021 

Finance income 
Interest income on bank deposits  $ 36 $ 198 

Finance costs 
Interest expense on long-term debt 
Interest expense on loans with subsidiaries of the City 
Interest expense on other financial liabilities 

$ 33,139 
10,862 

-
$ 44,001 

$ 

$ 

35,685 
13,712 

23
49,420 

Net finance costs recognized in profit or loss  $ 43,965 $ 49,222 

15. Related party transactions: 

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party: 

The sole shareholder and ultimate parent of the Company is the City of Stratford (“City”). The City 
produces financial statements that are available for public use. 

(b) Key management personnel: 

The key management personnel of the Company have been defined as members of its Board of 
Directors and executive management team members. Executive management are paid under an 
administrative services agreement with Festival Hydro Inc., a company under common control by 
the City. 

2022 2021 

Directors fees $ 12,719 $ 15,351 
Management fee 64,851 57,518 

$ 77,570 $ 72,869 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

15. Related party transactions (continued): 

(c) Transactions with parent: 

The table below summarizes the Company’s related party transactions, recorded at the exchange 
amounts, with the parent, the City of Stratford, for the year ended December 31. The transactions 
include the sale of fibre and WiFi services to the City as well as payment of joint pole charges for 
attachments on City owned poles as well as interest expense on amounts owed to the City. 

2022 2021 
Revenue 
Fibre services $ 60,800 $ 49,856 
WiFi services 2,993 4,296 

$ 63,793 $ 54,152 

Expenses 
Joint pole attachments on streetlights $ 178 $ 178 
Interest 27,900 27,900 

$ 28,078 $ 28,078 

At December 31, 2022, the balance outstanding from the City was $5,780 which has been recorded 
net of the intercompany loan from Festival Hydro Inc. who collects these receivables on the 
Company’s behalf (2021 – $4,105). 

(d) Transactions with subsidiaries of the City: 

Festival Hydro Inc. performs all of the administrative functions for the Company. Most expenses 
are paid and revenue received through Festival Hydro Inc. according to a service level agreement, 
effective September 1, 2012. At December 31, 2022, the balance owing to Festival Hydro Inc. was 
$122,147 (2021 - $332,803), net of the $5,780 (2021 - $4,105) owed to the Company by the City 
of Stratford. 

Festival Hydro Inc. charges interest on the balance owing from the Company at an interest rate 
equivalent to the Bank of Canada prime rate of 6.45% at December 31, 2022 (2021 – 2.70%) as 
per the revised loan agreement, effective September 1, 2022. The loan is repayable on demand 
and no later than November 1, 2027. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

15. Related party transactions (continued): 

(d) Transactions with subsidiaries of the City (continued): 

The Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries of the City: 

2021 2021 
Revenue 
Consulting services $ 273,165 $ 128,117 
WiFi services 124,000 124,000 
Fibre services  30,148  30,148 

$ 427,313 $ 282,265 

Expenses 
Water operations $ 75,120 $ 73,410 
Management fee 64,851 57,518 
Joint pole attachments on hydro poles 55,308 71,311 
Office and room rental 1,470 1,225 
Operational services 33,397 40,872 
Interest 10,862 13,712 
Electricity charges 28,689 25,687 

$  269,697 $ 283,735 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

16. Financial instruments and risk management: 

Fair value disclosure: 

The carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, due to Festival Hydro Inc. and accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. 

The fair value of the City demand note at December 31, 2022 is $341,901 (2021 - $502,474). The fair 

value is calculated based on the present value of future interest cash flows, discounted at the current 
rate of interest at the reporting date. The interest rate used to calculate fair value at December 31, 2022 
was 6.45% on the City demand note (2021 – 2.70%) 

The fair value of the non-interest-bearing loan debt agreement with Wightman at December 31, 2022 

is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 
Bank of Canada 10-year rate at the reporting date. The interest rate used to calculate fair value at 

December 31, 2022 was 1.67% (2021 – 1.67%). The difference between the amount lent and the fair 
value of the debt of $ 5,239 (2021 - $ 7,786) is recognized in interest expense. 

Financial risks: 

The Company understands the risks inherent in its business and defines them broadly as anything that 

could impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The Company’s exposures to a variety of risks 
such as credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk as well as related mitigation strategies are 

discussed. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Financial assets carry credit risk that counter-party will fail to discharge and obligation which would 

result in a financial loss. Financial assets held by the Company, such as accounts receivable, 
expose it to credit risk. The Company earns its revenue from a broad base of customers. 

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for 

impairment, which management estimates based on lifetime expected credit losses, and the 
amount of the related impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of 
receivables previously provisioned are credited to profit or loss. The balance of the allowance for 

impairment at December 31, 2022 is $nil as the Company does not have a history of collection 
losses (2021 - $nil). 

The Company’s credit risk associated with accounts receivable is primarily related to payments 

from fibre or wireless customers. At December 31, 2022 there was $7,615 of 60 days past due 
(2021 – $3,985). 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(b) Market risk: 
The Company is minimally exposed to fluctuations in interest rates based on its need for external 
financing. 

A 1% increase in the interest rate at December 31, 2022 would have increased interest expense 
on the long-term debt by an immaterial amount. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Company monitors its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet operational and 
investing requirements. The Company’s objective is to ensure that sufficient liquidity is on hand to 
meet obligations as they fall due while minimizing interest exposure. 

The Company has access to operating funds from an affiliate through an ongoing borrowing 
agreement and monitors cash balances to ensure that sufficient levels of liquidity are on hand to 
meet financial commitments as they come due. 

The majority of accounts payable, as reported on the balance sheet are due within 30 days. 
(d) Capital disclosures 

The main objective of the Company when managing capital is to ensure ongoing access to funding 

to maintain and improve the fibre and wireless infrastructure. The Company’s definition of capital 
includes shareholder’s equity and long-term debt. As at December 31, 2022, shareholder’s equity 
amounts to $1,267,645 (2021 - $1,216,716) and long-term debt, including current portion thereof, 

amounts to $693,305 (2021 - $735,813). 

17. Guarantee: 

The Company has guaranteed the bank loan of QR Fibre, a company in which the Company has a 

45% ownership interest to the extent of $4,500,000. No amount has been recorded in these financial 
statements as the Company does not expect to have to honour its guarantee. As of the date of sale of 

QR Fibre, the Company’s guarantee was rescinded. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

18. Equity Investment: 

On August 28, 2019 QR Fibre Inc. as incorporated with the Company acquiring 45% of the issued and 

outstanding common shares for an investment of $nil. 

December 31, 2021 $  -

Equity in 2022 earnings 

December 31, 2022 $ 

-

-

19. Subsequent event: 

On January 31, 2023, the Company sold its 45% ownership interest in QR Fibre Inc. for a sale proceeds 

of $50,000 for the shares. As part of this transaction, QR Fibre Inc. also repaid the loan balance of 

$49,500 to the Company. 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Balance Sheet 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD as at Dec YTD Bdgt. as at YTD Proj. as at YTD Final YTD as at Dec YTD Bdgt. as at YTD Proj. as at YTD Final 
31, 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 Audited as at 31, 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 Audited as at 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 
Current Assets Current Liabilites 

Cash 9,016 20,000 20,000 6,341 Accounts Payable 33,211 50,000 50,000 56,021 
Accounts Receivable & Prepaids 62,215 60,000 60,000 40,212 Due to Festival Hydro Inc. 332,803 290,172 195,405 122,147 
Other Assets — — — — Current Portion of LTD 42,508 43,324 43,324 43,324 
Inventory 7,617 8,000 8,000 7,617 Promissory Note 372,000 372,000 372,000 372,000 

Income Tax Receivable/(Payable) 28,000 — 21,100 22,299 
Total Current Assets 78,847 88,000 88,000 54,169 Total Current Liabilities 808,522 615,791 681,829 615,791 

Fixed Assets Other Liabilites 
Gross Book Value 5,362,691 5,681,913 5,517,060 5,454,945 Deferred Revenue 597,465 514,747 523,610 550,160 
Accumulated Depreciation (2,254,523) (2,749,956) (2,628,732) (2,593,336) Deferred Tax Liabilities 243,000 202,999 240,000 247,000 

Net Book Value 3,108,168 2,931,956 2,888,327 2,861,608 
Long Term Debt 

RBC Financing — — — — 
Other Assets POP Loan Long Term Portion 321,305 277,981 277,982 277,981 

Investment in QR Fibre Co. — — — 49,500 TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,970,292 1,751,224 1,723,421 1,690,933 
Investment Tax Credit Receivable — — — — 

EQUITY 
Share Capital 249,236 249,236 249,235 249,236 
Retained Earnings 967,488 1,019,497 1,003,670 1,025,109 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,216,724 1,268,733 1,252,905 1,274,345 

TOTAL ASSETS 3,187,016 3,019,956 2,976,327 2,965,277 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,187,016 3,019,957 2,976,327 2,965,277 
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YTD as at Dec 31, 
2021 

YTD Budget at 
Dec 31, 2022 

YTD Proj. as at 
Dec 31, 2022 

Audited as at Dec 
31, 2022 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var$ 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var% 

Cur to Proj. YTD 
Var$ 

TOTAL REVENUE 1,336,140 1,411,700 1,300,865 1,371,519 (40,181) (3%) 70,654 
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 775,369 940,327 824,591 881,380 (58,947) (7%) 56,789 
NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION & INTEREST 560,771 471,373 476,274 490,140 18,767 4% 13,866 

Depreciation 362,439 375,856 374,206 366,553 (9,302) (3%) (7,653) 
Interest Expense 49,420 43,820 47,785 44,001 181 0% (3,784) 
Interest Income (198) — — (36) (36) 100% (36) 

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD BEFORE TAXES 149,110 51,696 54,282 79,621 27,925 35% 25,339 

Current Tax Provision 34,000 10,000 21,100 18,000 8,000 44% (3,100) 
Future Tax Provision 5,000 — (3,000) 4,000 4,000 100% 7,000 

NET INCOME(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 110,110 41,696 36,182 57,621 15,925 28% 21,439 

FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Operations 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Cash Flow Statement 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD as at Dec 31, YTD Bdgt. as at YTD Proj. as at Dec YTD Final Audited 
2021 Dec 31, 2022 31, 2022 as at Dec 31, 2022 

Cash from Operations 
Net Income 172,110 41,696 36,182 57,621 
Future tax provision (57,000) — (3,000) 4,000 
Current tax provision (ITC portion) 34,000 10,000 — 18,000 
Depreciation 362,439 375,856 374,206 366,553 
Amortization of contributed capital (72,698) (69,693) (69,693) (80,489) 
Amortization of deferred revenue (17,437) (13,025) (4,162) (4,162) 
Due to/from QR Fibre Co. — — — (49,500) 
Net Change in Receivables/Payables (1,388) (8,002) 11,723 21,112 

Net Cash Provided 420,026 336,833 345,257 333,136 

Cash from Financing 
Capital expenditures - Festival (84,563) (157,471) (154,366) (119,993) 
Contributed capital received DSRC - AVIN — — 37,346 
Loan - Wightman (41,707) (42,508) (42,508) (42,508) 
Loan from/(repayment to) Festival (294,268) (136,854) (137,398) (210,656) 

Net Cash Used (420,539) (336,833) (334,272) (335,811) 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash Position (513) (1) 10,985 (2,676) 

Cash Beg of Period 9,529 10,000 9,015 9,016 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Capital 

For the period ending December 31, 2022 

YTD as at Dec 
31, 2021 

YTD Budget at 
Dec 31, 2022 

YTD Proj. as at 
Dec 31, 2022 

Audited as at 
Dec 31, 2022 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var$ 

Cur to Bdg YTD 
Var% 

Cur to Proj YTD 
Var$ 

CAPITAL 
Computer Equipment - Hardware 9,407 104,830 83,321 75,986 (28,844) (28%) (7,335) 
Computer Software 27,071 3,976 — — (3,976) (100%) — 
Buildings 1,782 — 1,411 911 911 — (500) 
Fibre Capital 19,996 41,000 64,694 28,612 (12,388) (30%) (36,082) 
WiFi Capital 26,307 7,665 4,940 14,484 6,819 89% 9,545 

TOTAL CAPITAL 84,563 157,471 154,366 119,993 (37,478) (24%) (34,372) 
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To: Mark Hunter and the Finance and Labour Relations Committee 
From: Alyson Conrad, CFO 
Re: Commentary on FHSI Financial Results – 

For the period ended March 31, 2023 

The net income for the period was $45K, which is $36K higher than budget and $20K higher than at this 
point last year. Detailed commentary on the balance sheet and income statement activity are noted 
below: 

Balance Sheet Commentary: 

A/R & Prepaids – This balance is $30K lower than March 31st, 2022, due to the reduction in Wightman 

revenue for the fibre ring reimbursement and the ISP revenue that changed as of April 1st, 2022. 

Outstanding accounts receivable balances are generally held in Festival Hydro as they hit the 

intercompany account and revenues when they are billed, not when they are collected. They are being 

monitored through the monitoring of the miscellaneous AR aging in Festival Hydro and there is a 

decrease in the aged balances at March 31st. We will continue to monitor the aged miscellaneous AR 

balances regularly to ensure Rhyzome receivables are not impacting Festival’s cash flows increasingly. 

Capital Asset Additions – Additions to the end of March 2023 are $18K, or 61% of Q1 budget. This 

includes $142 in computer hardware additions, $5K on the Data Centre and $13K on Fibre related 

projects. Details on the capital spend to date are as noted below: 

Computer Hardware: Total spend for FHSI on hardware YTD is $142; the budget spend has not occurred 

yet in Q1. 

Data Centre: Total YTD spend on the data centre is $5K. $3.5K was for HVAC replacement parts and 

$1.5K was for the DC UPS Rectifiers to support Acronym. 

Fibre Capital: Total spend on fibre capital YTD is $13K, there were three components of this expense, the 

first was $6.7K for network expansion on Romeo Street that was mostly complete in 2022 but finalized in 

2023, the second was $2.3K for core switch firewall replacement that is a portion of a larger firewall 

project ongoing and $3.7K for replacement APC Symmentra batteries due to end of useful life. 

WI-FI Capital: Total YTD spend on WIFI related activity is zero to date as the budget spend has not 

occurred yet in Q1. 

Due from Festival Hydro Inc. – The balance in this account has flipped from a payable to a receivable due 

to a repayment of the investment in QR Fibre and the gain on the sale of shares of QR Fibre. 
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Deferred Revenue – This balance has decreased slightly from the December 2022 balance as a portion of 

the balance has been recognized into revenue for Q1 2023. There have been some funds that were 

received from Acronym for some upgrades to the DC. This will be brought in over the remaining period 

of their current contract which ends in June 2024. 

Income Statement Commentary: 

Revenues – Revenues are $52K higher than budget in Q1. ISP revenue is down by $11K mainly due to the 

completion of the fibre ring reimbursement with Wightman. The conclusion of this contract was not 

reflected in the preparation of the budget so this variance will continue throughout the year. Consulting 

revenue is up by $29K compared to the prior year due to having a full staff compliment through the 

year. This revenue is also up compared to the budget due to additional billable hours compared to 

budget. FHI has not filled the EA position, so this work is being billed to FHI. Lastly, FHSI sold its shares of 

QR Fibre for a gain of $50K. This transaction was completed in Q1. 

Operating Expenses – Operating expenses are above budget by $6K at the end of Q1 and higher than Q1 

2022 by $20K. The majority of costs are relatively close to budget, however there were some slightly 

higher staffing costs due to minimally higher contract wages as well as additional training and 

development costs occurring in Q1. 

Current Tax – Current tax has been estimated higher than budget due to projected capital gains that will 

be incurred on the sale of shares. 

Cash Flow Commentary: 

The cash balance has increased to $13K from the $6K December 2022 balance. As discussed above, net 

income is ahead of budget. The cash balance would be higher if the gain on the sale of shares and 

repayment of QR Fibre investment did not go through the due to/from FHI account. The variances in 

cash from year end are due to the net change in receivables and payables loan repayments, capital 

purchases and working capital items. 

100



  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
   

 
   

    

 
 

   
 

 

    
   
   

 
 

   

   
 

  

FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Balance Sheet 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Mar YTD as at Dec YTD as at Mar YTD as at Mar YTD as at Dec YTD as at Mar 
31, 2022 31, 2022 31, 2023 31, 2022 31, 2022 31, 2023 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 
Current Assets Current Liabilites 

Cash 13,654 6,341 12,822 Accounts Payable 33,684 56,021 40,724 
Accounts Receivable & Prepaids 49,388 40,212 19,266 Due to Festival Hydro Inc. 292,981 122,147 — 
Other Assets — — — Current Portion of LTD 31,881 43,324 32,493 
Inventory 7,617 7,617 7,617 Promissory Note 372,000 372,000 372,000 
Due from Festival Hydro Inc. — — 46,469 Income Tax Receivable/(Payable) 28,000 31,299 46,299 

Total Current Assets 70,659 54,169 86,173 Total Current Liabilities 758,545 624,791 491,516 

Fixed Assets Other Liabilites 
Gross Book Value 5,427,684 5,454,945 5,472,698 Deferred Revenue 585,564 550,160 545,344 
Accumulated Depreciation (2,348,487) (2,593,336) (2,687,072) Deferred Tax Liabilities 243,000 244,700 244,700 

Net Book Value 3,079,197 2,861,608 2,785,626 
Long Term Debt 

RBC Financing — — — 
Other Assets POP Loan Long Term Portion 321,305 277,981 277,981 

Investment in QR Fibre Co. — 49,500 — TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,908,415 1,697,633 1,559,541 
Investment Tax Credit Receivable — — — 

EQUITY 
Share Capital 249,236 249,236 249,236 
Retained Earnings 992,206 1,018,409 1,063,023 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,241,441 1,267,645 1,312,259 

TOTAL ASSETS 3,149,856 2,965,277 2,871,799 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,149,856 2,965,277 2,871,799 
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YTD as at Mar 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

YTD Budget at Mar 
31, 2023 

Cur to Bdg YTD Var$ Cur to Bdg YTD Var% 

TOTAL REVENUE 345,126 399,765 347,891 51,874 15% 
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 215,517 236,050 230,319 5,731 2% 
NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION & INTEREST 129,610 163,715 117,572 46,142 39% 

Depreciation 93,964 93,735 93,644 — — 
Interest Expense 10,956 11,370 11,742 (373) (3%) 
Interest Income (28) (1,004) — (1,004) — 

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD BEFORE TAXES 24,718 59,613 12,185 47,428 389% 

Current Tax Provision — 15,000 5,375 9,625 179% 
Future Tax Provision — — (2,000) 2,000 (100%) 

NET INCOME(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 24,718 44,613 8,810 35,803 406% 

FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Operations 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Cash Flow Statement 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Dec 31, 
2022 

YTD as at Mar 31, 
2023 

Cash from Operations 
Net Income 50,921 44,614 
Future tax provision 1,700 — 
Current tax provision (ITC portion) 24,000 15,000 
Depreciation 366,553 93,735 
Amortization of contributed capital (80,489) (15,934) 
Amortization of deferred revenue (4,162) 11,117 
Due to/from QR Fibre Co. (49,500) 49,500 
Net Change in Receivables/Payables 24,112 (40,820) 

Net Cash Provided 333,136 157,213 

Cash from Financing 
Capital expenditures - Festival (119,993) (17,754) 
Contributed capital received DSRC - AVIN 37,346 — 
Loan - Wightman (42,508) (10,831) 
Loan from/(repayment to) Festival (210,656) (122,147) 

Net Cash Used (335,811) (150,732) 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash Position (2,676) 6,481 

Cash Beg of Period 9,016 6,341 
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FESTIVAL HYDRO SERVICES INC. 
Statement of Capital 

For the period ending March 31, 2023 

YTD as at Mar 31, YTD Budget at Cur to Bdg YTD Cur to Bdg YTD 
2023 Mar 31, 2023 Var$ Var% 

CAPITAL 
Computer Equipment - Hardware 142 13,000 (12,858) (99%) 
Computer Software — 250 (250) (100%) 
Buildings 4,912 5,000 (88) (2%) 
Fibre Capital 12,700 19,625 (6,925) (35%) 
WiFi Capital — 7,750 (7,750) (100%) 

TOTAL CAPITAL 17,754 45,625 (27,871) (61%) 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Date: June 20, 2023 

To: Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee 

From: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Report #: FIN23-019 

Attachments: 1. Destination Stratford Presentation June 20 2023;  

2. Lights On Stratford FS Audited March 31 2023;  

3. Stratford Tourism FS Audited December 31 2022 

 

 
Title:  Destination Stratford 2023 Update 2 

Objective: To receive an update on Destination Stratford’s 2023 activities, as well as 
2022 financial results for Destination Stratford and Lights On. 

Background: Destination Stratford gives regular updates to Council through the 
Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee. 

Analysis: Zac Gribble from Destination Stratford has been invited to attend to present 
the attached report. 

Financial Implications: 

Financial impact to current year operating budget: 
Destination Stratford receives financial contributions for general operations from the 
City as outlined in the attachment. In 2023, the City contribution is $595,000 of their 
total budget of $860,000. 

Beyond this, there are some in-kind impacts that are provided including use of the 
premises at 47 Downie, and specific program supports including the Al Fresco program. 
The costs relating to the building are budgeted in the Facilities division and are 
approximately $20,630 annually.  Other in-kind supports are absorbed in the City’s 
Community Services department. 
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Alignment with Strategic Priorities: 

Strengthening our Plans, Strategies and Partnerships 
Partnering with the community to make plans for our collective priorities in arts, culture, 
heritage and more. Communicating clearly with the public around our plans and 
activities. 

Widening our Economic Opportunities 
Strengthening Stratford’s economy by developing, attracting, and retaining a diversity 
of businesses and talent. 

Alignment with One Planet Principles: 

Equity and Local Economy 
Creating safe, equitable places to live and work which support local prosperity and 
international fair trade. 

Staff Recommendation: THAT the Destination Stratford 2023 Update 2, dated 
June 20, 2023, be received for information. 

Prepared by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 
Recommended by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Joan Thomson, Chief Administrative Officer 
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Destination Stratford 
Finance & Labour Relations 

Sub-committee Presentation 
June 20, 2023 

Zac Gribble, Executive Director 
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EMERGENCE – Emergence is a noun that goes back to the Latin root emergere, meaning 
“bring to light,” and it came into English in the 17th century. Just as something comes to 
light or shows up where there was darkness or nothing before, an emergence happens. 

December 15th, 2023 - January 13th, 2024 | Thursdays-Sundays | 5:00pm to 10:00pm 
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LIGHTS O  STRATFORD 

FI A CIAL STATEME TS 

MARCH 31, 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 

Lights On Stratford 

Stratford, Ontario 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Lights On Stratford, which comprise the balance 
sheet as at March 31, 2023 and the statements of operations, surplus and cash flows for the year then 
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary ofsignificant accounting policies  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Lights On Stratford as at March 31, 2023 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-

for-profit organizations  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in Auditors' Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report  We are independent of Lights On Stratford 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 

Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those 
requirements  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained sufficient and appropriateis to 

provide a basis for our opinion  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity, 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so  

Those charged with governance are responsible for over seeing the entity's financial reporting 
process  
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INDEPENDENT A DITORS‘ REPORT - continued 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis ofthese financial statements. As part of 

an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgety, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

(C) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncenainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors‘ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as 

a going concern. 

(6) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

rE R" /"r—( 
CR" 

Professional Corporation 

Chanered Professional Accountants 
Authorized to practise public accounting by 
the Chartered Professional Accountants 0f0nlari0 

Stratford, Ontario 

May 10, 2023 
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Lights O Stratford

Bala ce Sheet

As at March 31, 2023

ASSETS

2022
Curre t Assets

Ba k 51,646
Accou ts receivable 59,250
Prepaid expe ses 51,810
HST receivable 14.067

$ 172 001 $_1_7_6_._m

LIABILITIES
Curre t Liabilities

Accou ts payable a d accrued liabilities 5,155 4,000
Accou ts payable - Stratford Tourism Allia ce 109,476 94:510

114,631 98:510

SURPLUS

U restricted Surplus 57,370 78.263

$ 172 001 $M
Approved o Behalf of the Board:

Director

Director

(See Accompa yi g Notes to the Fi a cial Stateme ts)
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Lights O  Stratford 

Stateme t of Surplus 

For the year e ded March 31, 2023 

2022 

Bala ce — begi  i g ofyear 

Excess of reve ues over expe ditures 

(expe ditures over reve ue) for the year 

Bala ce - e d of year 

$ 78,263 

(20,893) 

$ 57,370 

$ 

$ 

1 17,582 

139.319) 

78,263 

(See Accompa yi g Notes to the Fi a cial Stateme ts) 
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Lights O  Stratford 

Stateme t of Operatio s 

For the year e ded March 31, 2023 

Reve ue 
2022 

Part er fu di g 

Spo sor fu di g 

Other 

$ 646,452 

70,750 

4,887 

$ 722,089 

$ 367,500 

63,450 

430,950 

Expe ditures
Programmi g a d productio  - displays 

- storefro t displays 
- Stratford Festival displays 
- hydro support 

Marketi g a d media buys 
Site a d eve t logistics 

Staffi g - festival coordi ator 
— co sulta ts 
- exhibit mai te a ce 

Other expe ditures 

361,559 

112,703 

15,000 

1,972 

41,435 

63,028 
-

6,700 

31,001 

109,584 

742,982 

222,972 

36,722 

13,807 

585 

17,032 

28,323 

40,680 

22,500 

29,892 

57:756 

470,269 

Excess of reve ue over expe ditures 

(expe ditures over reve ue) for the year $ 120a893) $ 339.319) 

(See Accompa yi g Notes to the Fi a cial Stateme ts) 
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Lights O  Stratford 

Stateme t of Cash Flows 

For the year e ded March 31, 2023 

Cash Provided By (Used I ): 

Operati g Activities 

Excess of reve ue over expe ditures 

(expe ditures over reve ue) for the year 

Items  ot requiri g cash 

$ (20,893) (39,319) 

Net cha ges i   o -cash curre t operati g accou ts 

Decrease (i crease) i  accou ts receivable 

Decrease (i crease) i  prepaid expe ses 

Decrease (i crease) i  HST receivable 

I crease (decrease) i  accou ts payable a d 

(34,595) 

48,423 

2,023 

(15,250) 

(51,810) 

(14,067) 

accrued liabilities 

I crease (decrease) i  accou ts payable 
— Stratford Tourism Allia ce 

I crease (decrease) i  HST payable 

1,155 

14,966 
-

(2,372) 

83,159 

(8520) 

I crease (decrease) i  cash a d cash equivale ts $ 11,079 (48,179) 

Cash a d cash equivale ts - begi  i g of year 51,646 99:87.5 

Cash a d cash equivale ts - e d of year $ 62,725 $ 51,646 

Cash a d cash equivale ts co sist of cash o  ha d a d bala ces with ba ks. Cash a d cash equivale ts 

comprise the followi g bala ce sheet amou ts: 

Ba k $ 62,725 $ 51,646 

(See Accompa yi g Notes to the Fi a cial Stateme ts) 
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Light  On Stratford 

Note  to the Financial Statement  

For the year ended March 31, 2023 

1. Purpo e of Organization 

The objective of Light  On Stratford i  to  afely encourage touri t  to Stratford, Ontario during the 

COVID-l9 pandemic. The project wa  initiated by a committee formed by certain Partner hip organization  in 

Stratford. 

The organization i  a not-for—profit organization and thu , exempt from income tax under Section 

149(1)(1) of the Income Tax Act. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policie  

The e financial  tatement  have been prepared from information available within the guideline  of 

Canadian accounting  tandard  for not-for—profit organization   ummarized below: 

(a) Revenue Recognition 

Operational funding and grant revenue i  recognized in the year in which it i  receivable from the 

funder and collection i  rea onably a  ured. 

U e of E timate  

Preparation of financial  tatement  in conformity with Canadian accounting  tandard  for not-for— 

profit organization  require  management to make e timate  and a  umption  that could affect amount  
reported a  a  et , liabilitie , revenue  and expenditure . Due to mea urement uncertainty, re ult  could 

differ from tho e e timate . 

Financial In trument  

A financial a  et i  any a  et that i  ca h; a contractual right to receive ca h from another party; or 

an equity in trument of another entity. A financial liability i  any liability that i  a contractual obligation 

to deliver ca h to another party. 

Financial a  et  and liabilitie  are initially mea ured at fair value, except for certain non-arm'  

length tran action . Sub equently, financial a  et  and financial liabilitie  are mea ured at amortized 

co t, except for inve tment  in equity in trument  that are quoted in an active market, which are 

mea ured at fair value. Change  in fair value are recognized in exce   of revenue over expenditure . 

Stratford Touri m Alliance 

The Stratford Touri m Alliance wa  appointed by the Partner hip committee to be the over ight 

organization in monitoring and admini tering Light  On Stratford. 

None of the operation  for Stratford Touri m Alliance are included in the Statement of Operation  for 

Light  On Stratford. Any  urplu  or deficit re ulting from the Light  On Stratford project will remain with the 

Panner hip committee for Light  On Stratford. 

-Stratford Touri m Alliance provided funding of $ nil (2022 $ 15,000) toward  Light  On Stratford, 

which i  included in  pon or funding revenue . Stratford Touri m Alliance charged a $ 15,000 admini tration fee 
-(2022 $ 15,000) for  taff, admini tration, and other  ervice , which i  included in other expenditure . 
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Lights O  Stratford 

Notes to the Fi a cial Stateme ts 

For the year e ded March 31, 2023 

4. Other Expe ditures 

Duri g the year, the orga izatio  paid for the followi g expe ditures that are  ot eligible for fu di g
reimburseme ts. These expe ditures have bee  reported as Other Expe ditures o  the Stateme t of Operatio s. 

2023 2022 

Admi istratio  & overhead 25,522 18,322 

Admi istratio  co tributio  (STA) 15,000 15,000 

Salaries a d be efits 51,579 -

Miscella eous supplies 8,480 13,853 

Travel a d meals 4,278 2,131 

Video productio  4,725 8.450 

$ 109,584 $ 57,756 
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STRATFORD TO RISM ALLIANCE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

TO the Board of Directors of 

Stratford Tourism Alliance 

Stratford, Ontario 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Stratford Tourism Alliance, which comprise the 

balance sheet as at December 31, 2022 and the statements of operations, surplus and cash flows for 

the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies  

In our opinion, except for the possible effects ofthe matter described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion paragraph, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Stratford Tourism Alliance as at December 31, 2022 and the results of its 

operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting 

standards for not-for-profit organizations 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards  

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our repon  We are independent of Stratford 

Tourism Alliance in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit ofthe 
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with those requirements  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion  

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the organization derives cash revenue, the 

completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification  Accordingly, our 
verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization

and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenue, excess of 
revenue over expenditures and cash flows from operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 

2021, current assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and surplus as at Janualy 1 and December 31 

for both the 2022 and 2021 year ends  Our audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 was modified accordingly because of the possible effects of this limitation in 

scope  
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INDEPENDENT A DITORS' REPORT - continued 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for—profit organizations and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity, 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for over seeing the entity's financial reporting 

process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis ofthese financial statements. As part of 

an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 0f the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgexy, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

((1) Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors‘ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as 

a going concern. 

(6) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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INDEPENDENT A DITORS' REPORT - continued 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

.//' 

‘71 [,1 
L-f C 

\ [yvé 

Professional Corporation 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Authorized to practise public accounting by 

[he Chartered Professional Accountants 0f0ntari0 

Stratford, Ontario 

May 10, 2023 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance

Balance Sheet

As at December 31, 2022

ASSE S

2021

Current Assets

Bank — operating $ 451,516 $ 314,097

Accounts receivable — trade 12,688 3,41 1

Accounts receivable - Lights On Stratford (Note 7) 18,226 17,858

HS receivable 17,923 1 1,269

Prepaid expenses 1,164 14,888

Current and cashable portion of investments 134,508 122,962

$ 636,025 M
Investments - atfair value

Investment savings account 30,260 20,073

Guaranteed Investment Certificate - 0.25%,

payable upon maturity, due January, 2022 102,889

Guaranteed Investment Certificate - 2.75%,

payable upon maturity, due March, 2023 104,248 -

134,508 122,962

Less: Current and cashable portion 134,508 122962

Property, Plant and Equipment — at cost

Furniture and fixtures 19,817 19,817

Computer equipment 54,905 102,955

Website development 194,450 194,450

Property, plant and equipment not in use 225,855 -

495,027 317,222

Less: Accumulated amortization 247,747 292,693

247,280 24,529

$ 883,305 $ 509.014

Approved on Behalf of the Board:

Director

Director

(See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements)
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Balance Sheet 

As at December 31, 2022 

LIABILI IES 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Payroll remittances payable 

Deferred grant revenue 

218,410 

7,475 

225,885 

$ 

2021 

86,976 

6,199 

30,263 

123.438 

Deferred Capital Contributions (Note 4) 229.345 

455,230 

3.155 

126,593 

Restricted Surplus 

Unrestricted Surplus 

134,508 

293,567 

428.0753% 
122,962 

259,459 

382421 

509.014 

(See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements) 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Statement of Surplus 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Balance - beginning of year 

As originally stated 

Prior period adjustment (Note 8)

As restated 

Excess of revenue over expenditures 

(expenditures over revenue) for the year 

Balance — end of year 

$ 391,834 

(9,413) 

382,421 

45,654 

$ 428,075 

$ 

. 

$ 

397,959 

(8304) 

389,655 

(7:234) 

382,421 

(See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements) 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Statement of Operations 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Revenue 
Municipal funding 

Stratford  ourism Supplement 

Marketing sales 

Culinary trails 

Partnership funding (Note 5) 

Amortization of deferred capital contributions (Note 4) 

Administration fees Lights On Stratford (Note 7) -

Other 

Expenditures 
Marketing 

Marketing Lights On Stratford (Note 7)-

—Event general 

Salaries and benefits 

Project management and implementation 

Professional fees 

Office 
Repairs and maintenance 

Insurance 

Interest and bank charges 

 elephone and telecommunications 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Excess of revenue over expenditures (expenditures 

over revenue) for the year 

580,000 

39,519 

19,830 

120,350 

76,925 

947 

15,000 

1,579 

S 

240,678 

4,209 

473,209 

15,940 

24,954 

16,362 

5,291 

2,709 

15,365 

9,779 

$ 

854,150 

808,496 

45,654 

2021 

540,000 

11,827 

20,846 

90,142 

191,067 

1,352 

15,000 

326M 
303,676 

15,000 

4,054 

429,622 

64,181 

16,986 

15,473 

430 

4,34] 

2,3 80 

1 1,394 

10.257 

877.794 

$ 17.234) 

(See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements) 

140



Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Cash Provided By (Used In): 

Operating Activities 

Excess of revenue ‘over expenditures 

(expenditures over revenue) for the year 45,654 (7,234)
Items not requiring cash 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 9,779 10,257 

Amortization of deferred capital contributions (947) (1,352)
Net changes in non-cash current operating accounts 

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (9,645) 47,696 

Decrease (increase) in HS  receivable (6,654) 14,403 

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 13,724 (7,458) 

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 131,434 57,928 
Increase (decrease) in payroll remittances payable 1,276 (809)
Increase (decrease) in deferred grant revenue (30,263) w

$ 154,358 143.694 

Financing Activities 

Capital contribution funding 227,137 

Investing Activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (232,530) 

Increase in investment savings (10,187) (40)

Purchase of Guaranteed Investment Certificate 11,359) (283) 

(244,076) (323) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 137,419 143,371 

-Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 314,097 170.726 

-Cash and cash equivalents end of year S 451,516 $ 314,097 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks. Cash and cash equivalents

comprise the following balance sheet amounts: 

—Bank operating 3 451,516 $ 314.097 

(See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements) 
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Stratf rd T urism Alliance 

N tes t  the Financial Statements 

F r the year ended December 31, 2022 

l. Purp se  f Organizati n 

The  bjective  f the Stratf rd T urism Alliance is t  be the leading marketing  rganizati n f r Stratf rd 

aimed at increasing  vernight visit rs and t urism spending t  Stratf rd and area. The  rganizati n is 

inc rp rated in Ontari  with ut share capital and is a n t-f r-pr fit  rganizati n and thus, exempt fr m inc me 
tax under Secti n 149(1)(1)  f the Inc me Tax Act. 

Summary  f Significant Acc unting P licies 

These financial statements have been prepared fr m inf rmati n available within the guidelines  f 

Canadian acc unting standards f r n t—f r-pr fit  rganizati ns summarized bel w: 

(3) Revenue Rec gniti n 

Operati nal funding and grant revenue is rec gnized in the year in which it is receivable fr m the 

funder and c llecti n is reas nably assured. Funding t wards capital c ntributi ns are deferred and 

rec gnized as revenue at the same time as am rtizati n expense  f the related asset. 

Grant and  ther revenue received f r specific events and pr jects is rec gnized in the year in which 

the event  ccurs and c llecti n is reas nably assured. 

Revenue fr m the Stratf rd T urism Supplement is rec gnized in the year in which it is received by 
the individual acc mm dati n pr vider. 

Use  f Estimates 

Preparati n  f financial statements in c nf rmity with Canadian acc unting standards f r n t-f r-

pr fit  rganizati ns requires management t  make estimates and assumpti ns that c uld affect am unts 

rep rted as assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures. Due t  measurement uncertainty, results c uld 

differ fr m th se estimates. 

Financial Instruments 

A financial asset is any asset that is cash; a c ntractual right t  receive cash fr m an ther party;  r 

an equity instrument  f an ther entity. A financial liability is any liability that is a c ntractual  bligati n 

t  deliver cash t  an ther party. 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except f r certain n n-arm's 

length transacti ns. Subsequently, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at am rtized 

c st, except f r investments in equity instruments that are qu ted in an active market, which are 

measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are rec gnized in excess  f revenue  ver expenditures. 

Am rtizati n 

Am rtizati n  f pr perty, plant and equipment is calculated using the declining balance meth d at 

the annual rates reflected in the acc mpanying schedule  f pr perty, plant and equipment and 

am rtizati n. 

C ntributed Services 

V lunteers c ntribute significant h urs t  the  rganizati n annually. Because  f the difficulty in 

determining their fair value, c ntributed services are n t rec gnized in these financial statements. 

Investments in GIC's 

Investments in GIC's are rec rded at fair market value. Interest inc me is accrued  n these 

investments t  year—end, wherein the principal plus accrued interest appr ximates fair value. 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Lease Commitments 

 he organization rents its operating premises from the City of Stratford at a nominal amount. 

Deferred Capital Contributions 

Deferred capital contributions represent the balance remaining from funding received for the purchase of 

property, plant and equipment.  he amount of the annual charge to the Statement of Operations is equivalent to 

the annual amortization expense and any write-offs of the related property, plant and equipment. 

2022 2021 

Opening balance 3,155 $ 4,507 

Amounts received 227,137 — 

Amounts amortized to revenue (947) (1352) 

Closing balance 229,345 $ 3.155 

Partnership Funding 

During the year, the organization received funding towards its operations from the following sources: 

2022 2021 

-Downtown Stratford Business Improvement Area 45,000 $ 35,000 

National  rust for Canada 2,625 5,550 

Government of Ontario 3,724-

Government of Canada 4,200 48,519 

Regional organizations 25,100 98.274 

5 76,925 $ 191.067 

6. Restricted Surplus 

 he restricted surplus represents funds that have been designated for future projects.  hese amounts have 

been approved by the Board of Directors and will be revisited on an annual basis. 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Lights On Stratford 

In August 2020, a committee was formed by certain Partnership organizations in Stratford to monitor 

Lights On Stratford, a project to safely encourage tourists to Stratford, Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Stratford  ourism Alliance was the oversight organization in administering, planning and running the project. 

Final project results and operations for the year ended March 31, 2023 will be reported separately. None 
of the operations for Lights On Stratford are included in the Statement of Operations for Stratford  ourism 
Alliance. Any surplus or deficit resulting from the Lights On Stratford project will remain with the Paxtnership 

committee for Lights On Stratford. 

 he following Fund Balances for Lights On Stratford as of December 31, 2022 are not incorporated in 

the Balance Sheet of Stratford  ourism Alliance. 

2022 2021 

Bank 241,523 $ 35,279
HS  receivable 15,268 11,538 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (45,023) (5,741)

Accounts payable Stratford  ourism Alliance (18,226) (17.858)— 

$ 193,542 $ 23.218 

—Stratford  ourism Alliance provided funding of $ nil (2021 $ 15,000) towards Lights On Stratford, 

which is reported in Expenditures on the Statement of Operations. Stratford  ourism Alliance also received fees 

of $ 15,000 (2021 $ 15,000) for staff, administration, and other services provided to Lights On Stratford, which-

is reported in Revenue on the Statement of Operations. 

Prior Period Adjustment 

During the year, the organization discovered that accrued wages payable as of December 31, 2020 and 

December 31, 2021 were understated by $ 8,304 and $ 9,413 respectively. Comparative amounts for 2021 have 

been restated. Opening surplus for 2021 has decreased by $ 8,304, which is the amount of the adjustment relating 

to periods prior to 2021. Excess of revenue over expenditures for 2021 has decreased by $ 1,109. 

Effect on 2021 

Increase in expenditures $ 1:109 

Decrease in 2021 excess ofrevenue over expenditures $ 1:109 

Effect on periods prior to 2021 

Increase in expenditures 

Decrease in surplus 

Net change in surplus 

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Net change in assets and liabilities 
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Stratford  ourism Alliance 
Schedule of Property, Plant and Equipment and Amortization 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

As at December 31, 2021 

Accum. Unamort. 

Cost Amort. Bal. . 

Unamort. 

Bal. 

Rate 

As at December 31, 2022 

Accum. Unamort. 
Cost Amort. Bal. 

Furniture and fixtures 19,817 14,135 5,682 5,682 20 19,817 15,271 4,546 

Computer equipment 

Website development 

102,955 

194,450 

99,768 

178,790 

3,187 

15,660 

9,862 

15,660 

40 

30 

54,905 

194,450 

48,988 

l83,488 

5,917 

10,962 

Property, plant and 

equipment not in use 225,855 225,855 225,855 

317,222 292,693 257,059 495,027 247,747 247,280 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Date: June 20, 2023 

To: Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee 

From: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Report #: FIN23-018 

Attachments: 1) Stratford Live Music and Food 2023 Community Grant Appeal 

Request 

2) Stratford Live Music and Food 2023 Community Grant Application 

 

 
Title: 2023 Community Grant Appeal Request 

Objective: To consider an appeal of Council’s decision regarding a 2023 community 
grant for Stratford Live Music and Food. 

Background: Council approved 2023 community grant awards to various organizations 
on May 8, 2023. 

Each group was advised of Council’s decision and given the opportunity to have the 
decision reconsidered by submitting a formal appeal in writing to the Finance and 
Labour Relations Sub-committee by May 26, 2023. Each group was also given the 
option of participating in the meeting as a delegation. 

Groups were asked to provide additional or new information in their appeal request not 
previously provided or considered in their original application. Groups were also asked 
to clearly outline their justification for the increased request and explain how it fits with 
the City’s Community Grants Policy. 

Analysis: One organization, Stratford Live Music and Food, has submitted an appeal 
request. The appeal request is attached to this report as well as the original 2023 grant 
application. 

Organization 2023 
Request 

2023 
Approved 

2023 
Appeal 

2022 
Request 

2022 
Approved 

Stratford Live 
Music and 
Food 

$7,000. $0 
(denied) 

Requesting 
at least 
$4,000. 

$7,000. $4,000 
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Through its deliberations, the Community Grants Evaluation Committee recommended 
denying the Stratford Live Music and Food request, and Council supported this 
recommendation. The committee considered various factors for each application, and 
viewed this event as better suited to alternate funding options, such as user-pay, 
sponsorships, or applications to other government grants, rather than City taxpayers, 
due to the commercial nature of the event. The original application indicated several 
other sources of revenues for the event, including bar sales, admission revenues, 
sponsors and provincial grants. The organization also recorded a net income from the 
2022 event in excess of $30,000 (though, the 2023 event is expected to just break-
even based on the submitted budget and assuming the City and provincial grants were 
received). 

The application from 2022 was $7,000 and $4,000 was awarded, and for 2023 the 
application was for $7,000. The organizers have indicated that they would like the City 
to reconsider the request of $4,000 minimum, similar to what was awarded last year. 

Financial Implications: 

Financial impact to current year operating budget: 
Should the grant request/appeal be approved, funding would come from the 
Community Grant reserve, which currently has a sufficient unassigned balance that 
could accommodate the request. Approving this request would not have an impact on 
the 2023 approved budget. 

Financial impact on future year operating budget: 
Funding for Community Grants is awarded as part of the City’s annual budget process.  
There is no budget impact for future years related to this appeal request, as it only 
impacts the 2023 budget. 

Alignment with Strategic Priorities: 

Strengthening our Plans, Strategies and Partnerships 
Partnering with the community to make plans for our collective priorities in arts, culture, 
heritage and more.  Communicating clearly with the public around our plans and 
activities. 

Developing our Resources 
Optimizing Stratford’s physical assets and digital resources. Planning a sustainable 
future for Stratford’s resources and environment. 

Alignment with One Planet Principles: 

Health and Happiness 
Encouraging active, social, meaningful lives to promote good health and wellbeing. 
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Equity and Local Economy 
Creating safe, equitable places to live and work which support local prosperity and 
international fair trade. 

Culture and Community 
Nurturing local identity and heritage, empowering communities and promoting a culture 
of sustainable living. 

Staff Recommendation: THAT the decision of Council on May 8, 2023, 
denying a grant request to Stratford Live Music and Food, be upheld. 

Prepared by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 
Recommended by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Kim McElroy, Director of Social Services/Acting CAO 
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May 26, 2023

City of Stratford
Corporate Services Department
City Hall, P.O. Box 818
Stratford, ON  N5A 6W1

Attention: Finance & Labour Relations Sub-committee

Dear Sir/Madam:
2023 Community Grant Appeal

This year’s event will be held on June 16th, 17th and 18th. Our not-for-profit corporation
event statistics indicate 75% of our visitors are local and 25% > 40km away. We hope you will
reconsider your position and grant us at least $4,000 as in past due to the following:

- Of our total 2022 revenue (not including grants) we are asking for 3.8% of 2022
revenue. This means $3.80 for every $100 support we got from:

o Local businesses - sponsorships for future business opportunities in Stratford
o Vendors/businesses – sales that increases the community’s economic

development
o Residents/visitors - donations and purchases

- For the first time in many years, we have money/surplus in the bank going into the
event. This allows us to budget more effectively leading up to an event. It was not
indicated on our financial statements but this operating account is reserved for
downpayments on future event costs and rainy-day funds as this event is held outside
and this can completely affect our attendance and revenues.

- It was indicated that council feels our event is better suited for alternate funding
options rather than City taxpayers. However, in 2022, approximately 73% of our
revenue for the event was already from City taxpayer’s pockets.

- Local Stratford business’ sponsor our event (23% of revenue in 2022) in return for
advertising of their businesses. Advertising costs are expensive and represent
approximately 9% of our total expenses of which are paid to local businesses. We
need to spend money in order to keep our sponsors satisfied so our event can continue
into the future with their sponsorship. And in return we are supporting other local
businesses and ensuring we have an economic impact on the City of Stratford.
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- This is a not-for-profit corporation event completely run by a volunteer board of
directors. Our objective is to provide the resident of Stratford with a joyful event for
the whole family. There is a very minimal entrance fee price of $10.00/day (including
HST) to see 6-12 bands perform and we hope to keep it this way to allow all residents
of Stratford to attend and not be restricted by price. However, the vendor and food
areas are free to all residents and visitors of Stratford. We have over 10,000 people
attend the event of which 4,000 pay admission to the licensed music area.

- Our festival supports musician’s, 67% of the total 120 who are paid are local
individuals. This entertainment expense represents approximately 36% of our
expenses. New this year, Sunday of our event is 100% completely dedicated to
Stratford musicians (We Love Stratford Day).

- We provide the residents of Stratford with a joyful event for the whole family:
o Multiple food, drink and artisan options (up to 36 vendor stalls and

Internationally Acclaimed Rib Teams)
o Children’s area that Arden Park Dental and Stratford Library run as in-kind.
o Comply with the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA)

- Provide volunteer experience for locals and high school students

- We did not obtain the budgeted $8,000 for provincial funding; the grant was re-
branded and our Board was not made aware.

Overall, we realize the City only has limited funds to disburse. We are not asking for
much. Our committee members, Board and volunteers put in a lot of work and support this
community. We hope you will reconsider our request. We are grateful to the City of Stratford for
allowing us to hold this important event annually for the people of Stratford to enjoy.
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Thank You for completing the City of 
Stratford 2023 Community Grant Application 
Form. 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Date: June 20, 2023 

To: Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee 

From: Sam Day, CPA, Manager of Revenue and Taxation 

Report #: FIN23-021 

Attachments: 1. Draft Amended F.1.6 Property Tax Billing and Collection Policy 

2. Current F.1.6 Property Tax Billing and Collection Policy 

3. Current Policy F.1.9 Vacant Tax Rebate Program for Commercial and 

Industrial Buildings Policy 

 

 
Title: Property Tax Billing and Collection Policy 

Objective: To rescind and replace Policy F.1.6 Property Tax Billing and Collection 
Policy. To rescind Policy F.1.9 Vacant Tax Rebate Program for Commercial and 
Industrial Buildings. 

Background: Council adopted Policy F.1.6 Collection of Municipal Taxes on September 
22, 1997. Staff recommend rescinding the current Policy and replacing it with a new 
updated Policy that reflects the current Municipal Act legislation and City practices and 
procedures. 

Council also adopted Policy F.1.9 Vacant Tax Rebate Program for Commercial and 
Industrial Buildings on July 10, 2006. Staff recommend rescinding this Policy due to the 
program having been phased out in 2019. 

Analysis: The purpose of the new F.1.6 Policy is to ensure a transparent and efficient 
process for the billing and collection of property taxes. The policy content is to minimize 
the City’s risk to tax arrears by clearly outlining payment information for property taxes 
at the time they are due. 

Where arrears exist, the policy outlines a standardized procedure for collection activities 
and arrangements with property owners in compliance with legislation. The policy 
provides efficient process for the City to meet the collections obligations in collaboration 
with property owners. 

Financial Implications: 

Not applicable: 
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There are no financial implications to be reported as a result of this report. 

Alignment with Strategic Priorities: 

Not applicable: The adoption the Property Tax Billing and Collection policy does not 
directly align with the Strategic Priorities. 

Alignment with One Planet Principles: 

Not applicable: The adoption the Property Tax Billing and Collection policy does not 
directly align with the One Planet Principles. 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Policy F.1.6 Collection of Municipal Taxes be 
rescinded; 

THAT Policy F.1.6 Property Tax Billing and Collection be adopted 
substantially in the form as attached to Report FIN23-021; 

AND THAT Policy F.1.9 Vacant Tax Rebate Program for Commercial and 
Industrial Buildings be rescinded. 

Prepared by: Sam Day, CPA, Manager of Revenue and Taxation 
Recommended by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Joan Thomson, Chief Administrative Officer 
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The Corporation of the City of Stratford 

Policy Manual 
 

Policy Number: F.1.6 
Policy Section: Financial and Fiscal 
Department: Corporate Services  

Date Adopted:  
Date Amended:  
Scheduled for Review:  
Date of Last Review:  
Policy Type: Council-adopted Policy 

 

Property Tax Billing and Collection Policy 
 

Policy Statement: 
 
The City of Stratford collects taxation levies on behalf of the Municipality and school 
boards and is responsible to ensure that all taxation revenues are collected. The 
Municipality wishes to ensure prompt billing of the taxation levy in order to meet the 
budgetary expenditures of the Municipality and also to ensure that collection policies 
are appropriate within the requirements of all applicable legislation. 
 
Purpose: 
 
The billing and collection of municipal taxation levies on a timely basis is an important 
tool to support the efficient cash management of the Municipality. The purpose of this 
policy is to provide guidelines for staff and to complete billing and collection in a 
consistent, fair, and transparent manner. The procedure will serve as a reference for 
Council and staff when answering concerns of ratepayers. It is designed to be 
implemented in accordance with all governing legislation. Should there be any 
contradictions between this Policy and the governing legislation, the provisions in the 
legislation will prevail.  
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Definitions: 
 
“Cancellation Price” means an amount owing equal to all Tax Arrears, together with 
all current taxes owing, penalties and interest and costs incurred by the Municipality 
after the registration of a Tax Arrears Certificate under Section 373 of the Municipal Act.  
 
 
“Collection Costs” means all costs incurred by the Municipality to obtain information 
for collection purposes and/or collect Tax Arrears including, but not limited to, title 
search fees, corporate search fees, registered or certified mail, administrative charges, 
legal costs, and tax sale costs.  
 
“Council” means the municipal Council of the City of Stratford. 
 
“Extension Agreement” means a contract between the Municipality and the owner, 
spouse of the owner, a mortgagee, or a tenant in occupation to extend the period of 
time in which the Cancellation Price is to be paid. The contract is entered into after the 
registration of a Tax Arrears Certificate and before the expiry of the one-year period 
following the registration date.  
 
“MPAC” means the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation which is responsible for 
determining the assessed value of all classes of assessment in the Province of Ontario. 
MPAC administers all phases of property assessment including appeals of assessment. 
 
“Municipality” means the Corporation of the City of Stratford.  
 
“Notice of Vesting” means a notice required by clause 379 (5) (b) and subsection 
379 (6) of the Municipal Act which contains the information prescribed in Schedule 4 of 
O. Reg. 181/03 whereby the Municipality takes the ownership and the official rights of 
the title on a property. 
 
“Penalty and Interest” means amounts applied by the Municipality to unpaid 
Property Tax accounts, in accordance with Section 345 of the Municipal Act and 
applicable Municipality by-laws. Penalty refers to amounts added to overdue current 
amounts owing. Interest refers to amounts added to previous period arrears.  
 
“Property Taxes” means the total amount of taxes for municipal and school board 
purposes levied on a property and includes other amounts as may be added to the tax 
roll under applicable Provincial legislation. 
 
“School Boards” means collectively all school boards in which the Municipality 
distributes taxation levy funds.  
 
“Tax Arrears” means any portion of Property Taxes that remain unpaid after the date 
on which the taxes are due. 
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“Tax Arrears Certificate” means a document that is registered on title, indicating the 
described property will be sold by public sale if all Property Taxes are not paid to the 
Municipality within one year of the registration of the certificate.  
 
“Tax Sale” means the sale of land for Tax Arrears according to the proceedings 
prescribed under the Municipal Act and O. Reg 181/03. 
 
“Treasurer” means the Director of Corporate Services of the City of Stratford or 
Designate. 
 
Scope: 
 
This policy covers all aspects of billing and collection of Property Taxes, up to and 
including the initiation of Tax Sale proceedings. All procedures related to a Municipal 
Tax Sale are carried out in accordance with Ontario Regulation 181/03. This policy 
excludes the collection of payments-in-lieu of taxes and other accounts receivables. 
 
Procedure: 

Billing, Payments and Delivery of Tax Bills 
 
The authority to levy taxes is provided in Sections 311 and 312 of the Municipal Act. 
These sections state that Council shall, each year, pass a by-law levying a separate tax 
rate on the assessment in each property class in the municipality for the purpose of 
satisfying the financial obligations arising from the annual budget process. 
 
A levying by-law passed by Council is required in advance of the Interim and/or Final 
Tax billing. A separate levying by-law is not required for supplementary tax billings. 
 
Annual property taxes are billed in four installments, two included in the interim billing 
and two included in the final billing. 
 
Tax bills will be prepared in a format that complies with legislated requirements under 
Ontario Regulation 75/01 of the Municipal Act. 
 
Any outstanding arrears will be included in each tax billing’s first installment due date 
amount. Installment due dates will be indicated on the payment stubs attached to the 
main tax bill. 
 
The cents amount of the total bill will be collected in full on the first installment of each 
tax billing.  
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Billing – Interim 
 
As provided in the Municipal Act each property owner, identified on the returned 
assessment roll, shall be mailed an interim tax bill. The interim bill shall represent up to 
fifty percent (50%) of the previous year’s annualized taxes and may include up to fifty 
percent (50%) of the Downtown Stratford Business Improvement Area charge or other 
special charges as required under provincial legislation and be payable in two 
instalments. This interim bill shall be mailed at least 21 days prior to the due date of the 
first instalment. The two instalment due dates will be the third last business day of 
February and April. 
 
Participants in the pre-authorized payment program will receive a notice in the 
preceding December advising of what their monthly payment withdrawal from their 
bank account will be for the period January – June. Interim tax bills will still be mailed 
to these participants.  
 
Billing – Final 
 
After completion of the annual budget process, and the setting of tax ratios and rates, a 
final bill shall be mailed to each property owner identified on the returned assessment 
roll, as amended by MPAC throughout the year. The final tax bill shall be the levied 
taxes for the year less the amount previously issued via the interim bill and be payable 
in two instalments. This final bill shall be mailed at least 21 days prior to the due date 
of the first instalment. The two due dates will be the third last business day of August 
and October.  
 
Any applicable Business Improvement Area (City Centre) levy charges and other special 
charges will be included in the Final billing. The Business Improvement Area is generally 
funded by a special levy applied to properties with commercial and industrial 
assessment within the boundaries of the designated BIA area and is based on the 
assessed value of the property.  
 
Supplementary and Omitted Assessments 
 
Omitted Assessment - Section 33 of the Assessment Act allows for the taxation of real 
property that was eligible for taxation but was previously omitted from the roll. The 
provision allows for the taxation in the current year, plus a maximum of the two preceding 
years.   
 
Supplementary Assessment – Section 34 of the Assessment Act allows for the taxation of 
assessment increases arising from changes to property values (triggered by building 
construction/renovation), classification, or tax-exempt status. These taxes apply to the 
current year only.  
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After receiving notification from MPAC, tax bills shall be issued to each property owner 
identified on the supplementary/omitted assessment notification listing. The Municipality 
will determine instalment due dates, which are usually separate and different from the 
regular annual tax bill. 
 
Penalties and interest charges will be assessed on supplemental taxes that are owing past 
their due date. See Late Payments Charges/Penalties and Interest section. 
Participants in the monthly pre-authorized payment program will receive a notice advising 
that the supplementary bill amount is payable over and above their current monthly 
payment plan. Property owners may contact the Municipality in writing to amend their 
pre-authorized amount to include this billing prior to the end of the calendar year.  When 
a supplementary bill is issued closer to the end of the year there may not be sufficient 
time to accommodate a monthly payment plan, in which case the instalment due dates 
apply. 
 
Severances 
 
Property owners may apply for severances of their properties under the authority of the 
Planning Act. If granted by the governing body with the legislative authority, the 
assessment values must be split between all of the parcels of land. MPAC divides the 
assessment information and provides the resulting apportionment information to the 
Municipality. Processing of assessment and tax changes as a result of severances is 
performed once information is received from MPAC. Tax bills shall be issued to each 
property owner identified on the severance/consolidation plan information form.  
 
Consolidations 
 
The Planning Act stipulates that abutting lands with common ownership automatically 
become one parcel unless the lands have been subjects of a Land Division Committee of 
Adjustment consent or are whole lots/blocks in a registered plan of subdivision. 
Complying with the Planning Act is an operation of law. The request or consent of the 
owner is not required.  
 
Consolidations are processed by MPAC and Property owners should contact MPAC directly 
with questions related to consolidations.  
 
Rebates and Other Adjustments 
 
The Municipality periodically receives notifications of changes in assessment or tax 
classes from MPAC. Some of the types of assessment applications and notifications that 
may affect the assessment value on a property which may result in a reduction in taxes 
are:  
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• Applications For Reduction in Assessment - under Section 357 & 358 of the 
Municipal Act  

• Request for Reconsideration (RfR) – under Section 39.1 of the Assessment Act 
• Assessment Review Board (ARB) Decision – under Assessment Act 
• Minutes of Settlement (MOS) – under Section 40 of the Assessment Act 
• Post Roll Assessment Notice (PRAN) – under the Assessment Act 
• Advisory Notice of Adjustment (ANA) – under of the Assessment Act 
• Charity Rebates – under section 361 of the Municipal Act 

Applications for Reductions in Assessment Value (Section 357 and 358) 
(see Appendix A) 
 
Under Section 357 and 358 of the Municipal Act, applications may be made to the 
Municipality for reduction in assessment for the following reasons: 

a) Building was razed by fire 
b) Building was demolished 
c) Ceases to be liable for the tax rate that the property had been originally taxed 
d) Became exempt from property taxation 
e) Is damaged and substantially unusable 
f) Mobile unit is removed 
g) Experiences a gross or manifest clerical/factual error 
h) Is under repairs/renovations preventing normal use (minimum 3 months) 

The Municipal Act requires that the following procedure occur: 

1) An application must be completed and submitted on the prescribed form which is 
available from the Municipality’s website at www.stratford.ca or at City Hall 
located at 1 Wellington Street 

2) An application must be filed with the Treasurer or Manager of Revenue and 
Taxation on or before February 28th of the following year in respect of which the 
application is being made 

3) Complete applications are reviewed by the Treasurer or Manager of Revenue and 
Taxation and are sent to MPAC for their recommendation of assessment value 
and/or tax class change 

4) If MPAC revises the assessed value, the Municipality will recalculate the taxes for 
the affected year(s), and issue a supplementary credit adjustment.  The 
applicant then has thirty-five (35) days to appeal to the Assessment Review 
Board (ARB) if they do not agree with the decision 

5) Annually, the Treasurer or Manager of Revenue and Taxation will prepare a 
report of all tax application changes for Council’s information. This report will 
include the following details for each property: 
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• roll number,  
• reason for the reduction or exemption,  
• the section of the Municipal Act (if applicable),  
• the tax year to which the tax reduction will apply,  
• the amount of reduction in assessment, and 
• the impact to the Municipality’s financial statements. 

 
Request for Reconsideration (RFR) 
 
If a property owner does not agree with the assessed value of their property or feels 
that the property classification is not correct, they may file a Request for 
Reconsideration (RFR) with MPAC by March 31st of the current taxation year. It is the 
responsibility of the property owner to provide any supporting documentation to MPAC 
for their consideration. 
 
After due investigation, MPAC will issue their decision. Both the property owner and the 
Municipality have the option to either accept the decision of MPAC or appeal to the ARB 
with ninety (90) days of being notified of the RFR Notice of Decision. The Treasurer 
may determine whether or not to appeal and may utilize services of assessment 
consultants. Variables affecting whether to consult with specialists including magnitude 
of adjustment and other factors may influence this decision. 
 
Assessment Review Board (ARB) Applications 
 
Property owners may apply to the ARB to appeal their assessment. The deadline for 
these types of appeals is March 31st of the current taxation year. 
 
If the subject property, or a portion of it, is classified as residential, farm or managed 
forests, the property owner must first file an RFR with MPAC before they are eligible to 
file an appeal with the ARB. Other property tax classes may appeal the assessment to 
the ARB directly. 
 
Forms, fees and deadlines are available on the ARB website at www.arb.gov.on.ca 
 

Minutes of Settlement 
 
Minutes of Settlement (MOS) are issued after a property owner has applied to the ARB, 
and MPAC has negotiated a settlement with the property owner, prior to going to the 
assessment review board hearing. MOS will be sent to the Municipality by the ARB or 
MPAC.  
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Post Roll Assessment Notices (PRAN)  
 
At any time during a taxation year, if there was a factual error(s) in the assessed value, 
classification, or tax status of a property, MPAC has the authority to correct the error by 
issuing a Post Roll Amended Notice. This notice corrects the assessment provided in a 
previously issued Property Assessment Notice and is sent to both the property owner 
and the Municipality. 
 
Advisory Notice of Adjustment (ANA) 
 
Where there has been a change to the assessed value that affects the phase-in values 
for the current or preceding taxation years and there is no other method to report the 
revised phase-in values, an Advisory Notice of Adjustment is sent to the property 
taxpayer. An Advisory Notice of Adjustment is a notification only. These notices are 
typically used to advise of the change in the phased-in assessment following a decision 
of the ARB. 
 
Charity Rebates 
 
Section 361 of the Municipal Act requires that municipalities shall have a tax rebate 
program for eligible charities for the purposes of giving them relief from taxes or 
amounts paid on account of taxes on eligible property they occupy. The Municipality’s 
program details can be found in By-Law 100-98. 

Delivery Address 
 
Property Tax bills and notices are mailed to the address of the property as shown on 
the Municipality’s database unless the taxpayer advises the Municipality, in writing, of 
an alternate mailing address.  
 
Any bill or notice sent by standard letter mail is considered delivered to and received by 
the addressee unless the notice is returned by Canada Post and an error in the mailing 
address is evident. Taxpayers are responsible to notify the Municipality of any changes 
to a mailing address. 
 
Failure to notify the Municipality of an address change in writing is not an error on 
behalf of the Municipality, and the resulting failure to receive a tax bill does not excuse 
a taxpayer from responsibility for payment of the taxes nor relieve liability for penalty 
due to late payment.  
 
Mortgage Company 
 
A mortgage company responsible for paying property taxes on a specific property will 
be provided with a listing of roll numbers, taxes due and owing and the due dates for 
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each property that they have provided the Municipality with notification that they hold 
an interest in a particular property. Failure to notify the Municipality does not excuse a 
taxpayer from responsibility for payment of the taxes nor relieve liability for penalty due 
to late payment.  
 
Tax bills for properties that are paid by the mortgage holder will have a note on the bill 
that their taxes are paid by mortgage company and that the bill is for information 
purposes only. 
 
Recalculation of Property Taxes at Time of Sale 
 
Property taxes are assessed on the property, irrespective of the owner. The Municipality 
will not recalculate the annual property taxes for a part of a year on the date of sale of a 
property. The property taxes for a property being sold are adjusted for on the Statement 
of Adjustments prepared by the seller’s/purchaser’s lawyer when provided. Any questions 
regarding the calculation of the allocation on property taxes in the case of an ownership 
change on the sale/purchase of a property should be directed to the lawyers involved in 
the sale. 
 
Payment Options  
 
Payment of taxes must be received in the Municipality’s administrative office (City Hall, 
1 Wellington Street), on or before the due date otherwise it will be subject to penalties 
and interest. See Late Payments Charges/Penalties and Interest section for more 
information. 

The following are the modes of payments that are available for the property owner’s 
use:  

a) Installment or Monthly Pre-authorized Payment Plans (PAP) 
b) Telephone or Internet Banking – using the fifteen digit roll number as the 

account number (allow sufficient processing time) 
c) At many financial institutions 
d) Payments by a mortgage holder or other registered party 
e) Post Dated Cheques 
f) By regular mail (allow sufficient delivery time. The post mark is not regarded as 

proof of timely payment) 
g) In person at the City Hall at 1 Wellington Street. An external drop box located at 

the back of City Hall off Market Square is also available after hours using one or 
more of the following methods:  

• Cash,  
• Cheque,  
• Money Order, and/or  
• Direct Debit (at the City Hall only) 
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Credit cards are not accepted for payment of property taxes. 
 
Taxpayers assume the responsibility for the late arrival of the payment when payments 
are made by mail, telephone/internet banking, and payments made at financial 
institutions.  
 
Partial payment is not accepted where a Tax Arrears Certificate has been registered 
against a property, except where the Municipality has entered into an Extension 
Agreement.  
 
In accordance with Section 347 of the Municipal Act payments shall be applied as 
follows: 
 

1) First to the oldest and all penalty and interest 
2) Then to the taxes starting with the oldest taxes up to the current, and other 

amounts deemed to be taxes that have been added to the roll 
 
Pre-Authorized Payment Plan 
 
Pre-authorized payment plans have been implemented to assist taxpayers with their 
personal budgeting and to ease the possible financial strain of making full installment 
payments. Properties enrolled in either of the pre-authorized payment plans are not 
subject to any late payment charges for the non-payment of taxes on the due dates. 
 
Tax bills for properties on a pre-authorized payment plan will have a note on the bill 
that they are a participant in a preauthorized payment plan and that the bill is for 
information purposes only. 
 
Taxpayers whose property tax account is in good standing may participate in one of the 
following plans: 
 

a) Monthly – provides for a withdrawal from the property owner’s bank account on 
the 1st business day of each month of an amount sufficient enough to ensure 
that all taxes billed are paid within the current year 

 
The dollar amount to be withdrawn from the participants account shall be recalculated 
twice a year: 
 

1) At the end of each calendar year in December, calculating a monthly amount 
based on the current year’s taxes averaged over twelve payments, to take effect 
on January 1st of the following year 

2) After the calculation of the final bill. This calculation would be the current year’s 
taxes, less what has been paid, divided by the remaining months (or 
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withdrawals) in the year. The revised payment so calculated will commence July 
1st 

 
In both cases the property owner shall receive written notification as to the dollar 
amount change at least ten (10) business days prior to the scheduled payment 
withdrawal date. 

 
b) Instalment – provides for a withdrawal from the property owner’s bank account, 

on the due date of an amount sufficient enough to ensure that all taxes due and 
payable on the said date are paid in full 

 
To enroll in any of the Pre-authorized Payment Plans applicants must submit an 
application in writing on the Municipality’s prescribed form and submit it ten (10) 
business days prior to the payment withdrawal date.  
 
Participants in the program wishing to make changes to their application (for example 
banking information), or cancel their participation in the program must do so in writing 
ten (10) business days prior to the scheduled payment withdrawal date.  
 
Note that pre-authorized payment plans are a courtesy alternative payment plan offered 
by the Municipality. It is the intention that pre-authorized payment plans are reserved 
for accounts in good standing.  However, the Treasurer may make exception to allow a 
property owner who has arrears to enter into a pre-authorized payment arrangement, 
provided there is no history of dishonoured payments with the Municipality.    
 
If a property owner’s payment fails to clear the bank two (2) times within a twelve (12) 
month period, enrollment in the pre-authorized payment plan will be terminated. The 
property owner may re-apply after a period of one (1) year and if the account is in good 
standing.   
 
Dishonoured Items and Communication 
 
All payments applied to a tax account that are returned from a financial institution for 
any reason, with the exception of “post-dated” and “account holder deceased”, will be 
removed from the applicable tax account and shall be charged an administrative fee in 
accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-law. The payer shall be advised 
of the returned payment, administrative fee, and the current balance due and owing on 
their account.  
 
Late Payments Charges/Penalties and Interest  
 
All Tax Arrears are also subject to penalties and interest. In accordance with Section 
345 of the Act and the Municipality’s by-laws, penalty and interest shall be charged on 
any tax arrears that remain outstanding on the first calendar day of each month. 
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Staff, including the Treasurer, have no authority to waive or alter penalty and/or 
interest applied to the tax roll, excluding those described below. The taxpayer can 
delegate to the Council of the Municipality for reconsideration at an open Council 
meeting.  Requests must be submitted to the Clerk who will arrange for the matter to 
be listed on the next available Council agenda where the matter will be discussed and 
any decision will be final. 
 
Reductions of penalty and/or interest charged to a property account are limited to 
amounts related to a tax reduction associated with a tax adjustment, change in 
assessment or municipal error, and are adjusted only in accordance with: 
 

a) Tax adjustments under Section 357 of the Municipal Act (application for 
cancellation, reduction, refund of taxes), Section 354 (2)(b) (as a result of tax 
relief), and Section 354(3) (uncollectable after tax sale) of the Municipal Act.) 

b) Assessment Review Board decisions 
c) Direction of Council under Section 354(2)(a); and 
d) Approved by the Treasurer as a gross or manifest clerical error under 

Section358(1) 
e) As per Section 345(6) and 345(7) of the Municipal Act, if penalty and interest that 

has accrued on a property tax account as the result of nonpayment, and a write-
off of taxes has occurred as a result of one of the legislation tax reduction methods; 
the penalty and interest shall be reversed as though the taxes had originally been 
billed correctly 
 

Refunds of Credit Balances on Accounts  
 
From time-to-time property tax accounts may experience credit balances for various 
reasons, such as: 
 

a) Duplicate payment made on an account 
b) A reduction in assessed value resulting in a supplementary credit bill issued or 

change in tax class 
c) Pre-authorized Payments made in advance of an instalment being due 

Credit balances will be refunded by cheque or Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) under the 
following conditions: 
 

1. Duplicate payment of a tax instalment – The overpayment will be refunded on 
the written direction of the property owner after ten (10) business days to allow 
sufficient time for the cheque to clear 

2. Mortgage company and property owner both pay an instalment – The 
property owner must request in writing to have the overpayment refunded, 
and direct who the overpayment is to be returned to. No overpayment will be 
refunded unless all instalments billed have been cleared 
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3. Mortgage company overpays an instalment or no longer represents the 
property owner. Because the Municipality is not party to any agreements 
between a financial institution and a property owner, the Municipality will only 
refund the financial institution overpayment on the written direction of the 
property owner. No overpayment will be refunded unless all instalments billed 
have been paid, unless the property has been sold to another owner and a 
statement of adjustment supports the activity 

4. Prior to refunding any credits from the property tax account, the Municipality 
will verify that all other debts with the Municipality (utilities and miscellaneous 
accounts receivables, etc.) have been cleared prior to releasing a credit 
refund. The Municipality reserves the right to refuse a refund of property tax 
accounts when there are associated accounts with other debt 

5. Credit balances on account that arise in whole or in part from an assessment 
reduction or tax class change will be refunded, but only after the last 
instalment billed has been cleared. For example: a prior year assessment 
reduction is calculated in February; the interim tax bills are generated the last 
week of January with the last instalment on the interim billings due on the 
last business day in February and April. Any credit balance on the account will 
be applied first to the two instalments and any other tax arrears and then any 
remaining credit balance will be refunded to the registered property owner at 
the time the cheque is issued 

6. Credit balances being refunded will be issued to the property owner of record 
at the time the cheque is issued. Property owners selling properties who have 
outstanding application(s) should ensure that their solicitors are aware of 
possible tax reductions. The Municipality will not divide credit balances 
between previous and current owners as the result of a tax reduction. The 
Municipality does not have knowledge of, nor wish to negotiate legal 
agreements that may or may not be in place between the seller and the 
purchaser 

Interest is not paid to account holders that have credit balances. 
 
Tax Arrears Management 
 
Realty taxes have priority lien status on land in priority to any other claim, except a 
claim by the Crown. Taxes may be recovered with costs as a debt due to the 
Municipality from the original owner and/or any subsequent owner of the property.  
 
The Municipality will primarily use some or all of the following methods to collect Tax 
Arrears: 

a) Mail arrears notices following due dates in March, May, September and November 
b) Verbal communication, including telephone inquiries and follow-up 
c) Issue Year End Statements of Taxes, First Notices and Final Notices 
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d) Send the taxpayer a form or personalized letter(s) 
e) Enter into a payment arrangement, subject to Treasurer approval 
f) Legal action 
g) Municipal Tax Sale 

 
Year End Statement of Taxes 
 
The Municipal Act requires that the Treasurer send a statement on or before February 
28th of each year to any property owner who has arrears on their respective tax accounts. 
The statement must be the balance at December 31st. Property owners will be  charged 
administrative fees in accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-law for the 
preparation of this statement. 
 
Collection Steps  
 
To remind property owners that their tax account is not in good standing, the Tax 
Department shall send a reminder notice to each property owner, whose 
account is over ten dollars ($10.00) in arrears. Arrears Notices shall be forwarded to the 
property owner on or before the fifteenth (15th) day of each month following a due 
date that the account is in arrears (March, May, September, and November). 
 
Payment Arrangements 
 
The Treasurer may enter into a payment arrangement agreement with a property 
owner at any time prior to the registration of a Tax Arrears Certificate. Payment 
arrangements to clear an account with tax arrears will include all past tax arrears, any 
current year taxes, accruing estimates of future taxes and penalties and interest.  Any 
payment amount shall be sufficient to ensure payment in full is realized within a 
reasonable period of time as determined by the Treasurer. Penalties and interest will 
continue to accrue during all such payment arrangements until full payment on the 
account has been made.  
 
Pre-authorized payments may be considered for installment payments on payment 
arrangement agreements at the Treasurer’s discretion. 
 
Notwithstanding any such arrangements, no third-party payments will be refused for 
payment on account (e.g. payment from a mortgagee), as long as the third party has 
sufficient information regarding the property. Confidential account information will not 
be released to unauthorized parties.  
 
If acceptable payment arrangements are negotiated, the account is monitored for 
compliance. Follow-up with the taxpayer is done by telephone or in writing, as required.  
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Once a payment arrangement has been established, payments must adhere to the 
approved schedule. If there are two consecutive returned payments or two payments 
are returned within six months, the payment arrangement is deemed void and the 
taxpayer is advised that payment in full, by certified funds or money order, is required 
or the next collection step(s) will be taken. 
 
Collection Steps for Accounts with 2+ Years Arrears 
 
If acceptable payment arrangements are not negotiated, then recovery of all properties 
with taxes outstanding of two or more years shall be pursued via the Municipal Tax Sale 
process.  
 
At least once per calendar year, the Treasurer shall review the Property Tax Aged Trial 
Balance for properties whose taxes are at or approaching two years in arrears.  
 
In addition to issuing Year-End Statements and Arrears Notices as outlined above, the 
Treasurer will ensure that the following actions will be taken once a property is 
identified as eligible for tax sale: 

1) A First Warning Before Tax Sale Registration letter for properties approaching 
two years in arrears is sent by registered mail advising of the seriousness of the 
tax arrears and the implications of tax registration. A deadline to pay the arrears 
or enter into a firm, suitable payment arrangement with the Treasurer is 
provided at this time. Any payment arrangements made should be documented 
specifying the time schedule, method of payment and the amount of each 
payment. No plan should exceed a period of twenty-four (24) months but is at 
the Treasurer’s discretion. 

2) If the First Warning letter is not responded to or a satisfactory arrangement 
made, a Final Warning Before Tax Sale Registration letter is mailed. A Final 
Warning Before Tax Sale Registration letter fee will be added to the account in 
accordance with the fee established in the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-
law. A deadline date for response prior to the file being forwarded to the 
Municipality’s external administrative consultant that handles the Municipality’s 
tax registrations is provided to the ratepayer. 

3) If the ratepayer does not respond to any of the requests for communication, or 
satisfactory arrangements have not been made, the file is transferred to Tax 
Team for the tax registration process to begin. 
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Tax Sales Proceedings 
 
In accordance with Section 373(1) of the Municipal Act, a property tax account that has 
any part of two years or more of outstanding taxes as of January 1 of the current year 
is eligible for tax registration and tax sale proceedings. 

Any property that begins the proceedings will follow explicitly the legislative steps 
outlined below without exception, until such time as the Treasurer deems the process 
paused or terminated. This is to maintain the Municipality’s position and the legitimacy 
of the process should a subsequent legal matter arise later. 

Supplemental and omitted billings are considered arrears based on the year billed, and 
not the year of the assessment and taxation included in the billing.  
 
Properties that are owned by the Crown and charged payments in lieu of taxes (PIL) 
are not subject to the tax sale legislation contained in the Municipal Act. 
 
Tax Registration and Tax Sale is a last resort. The Treasurer will make every effort to 
arrive at a reasonable solution that does not materially disaffect property owners that 
are in good standing and represent the majority of property owners. Giving property 
owners sufficient time and assistance to arrive at a satisfactory outcome is the main 
goal. Municipal staff will make all reasonable efforts to collect arrears prior to 
proceeding to the formal process of a tax sale. 
 
On a yearly basis, by February 1st, a listing of tax sale qualifying accounts will be 
generated by the Treasurer, which will be further filtered to acknowledge any properties 
that already have a registered tax arrears certificate or an executed Extension 
Agreement registered on title and that have satisfactory payment arrangement 
agreements on file. 
 
The finalized listing of qualifying tax sale properties, along with required information is 
provided to the contracted tax registration and sale firm who will facilitate the tax sale 
process and complete all the statutory notices and declarations.  
 
Any and all costs associated with arrears management including costs incurred by the 
contracted tax registration and sale firm are billed back to the property and are the 
responsibility of the current owner. 
 
Farm Debt Mediation Notice 
 
It is legislated that every property listed for tax sale receives a farm debt notice. The 
purpose of the farm debt notice is to inform farmers of their right under Section 5 of 
the Farm Debt Mediation Act that they are entitled to make application for a review of 
their financial affairs. This is the first official communication issued on the Municipality’s 
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behalf by the tax sale company which notifies the taxpayer that the tax sale registration 
will take place after a fifteen (15) business day period should the arrears not be paid. 
 
Property Title Search Prior to Registration of Tax Arrears Certificate 
 
Every property, prior to a tax arrears certificate being issued, must have a title search 
performed to ensure that the proper information is on file including registered owners, 
interested parties and proper land details.  Should any anomalies be encountered such 
as ownership and MPAC related data conflicts, the process on that property will be put 
on hold until it has been resolved. 
 
All parties with an interest in the property must receive notice of the registering of a tax 
arrears certificate.  
 
Registration of a Tax Arrears Certificate 
 
If the taxes remain unpaid or an agreement has not been entered into within fifteen 
(15) business days of the farm debt notice, a Tax Arrears Certificate is registered on 
title. Once a Tax Arrears Certificate has been registered, only full payment of the 
Cancellation Price will be accepted unless Council has approved an Extension 
Agreement. 
 
Partial payments are not allowed once the Tax Arrears Certificate has been registered.  
Any partial payments that are applied to the tax account in error shall be removed from 
the tax account and the payment will be refunded without exception.  
 
Within 60 days of registration of the Tax Arrears Certificate, a Notice of Registration of 
Tax Arrears Certificate is sent to the property owner and all interest parties. 
 
Final Notices  
 
A final notice advises the interested parties that unless the Cancellation Price is paid in 
full, or an Extension Agreement is entered into the property will be sold by public sale. 
The Final Notice is sent to all interested parties within thirty (30) days after 280 days 
have passed since the registration of the Tax Arrears Certificate. 
 
Following the issuance of the Final Notice, Section 379(2) of the Act requires that a 
statutory declaration regarding the sending of the final notice be made. This declaration 
should be notarized by a Commissioner of Oaths but does not need to be registered on 
title.  
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Cancelling the Tax Sale Process 
 
At any time when the cancellation price is paid during the one-year period from the 
date of registration of the Tax Arrears Certificate, a Cancellation Certificate will be 
issued on the property. This may occur when the Municipality receives payment in full 
of the cancellation price, the Extension Agreement has been fulfilled and the tax 
account is no longer in arrears, or the Treasurer deems that the tax sale is not in the 
best financial interest of the Municipality due to neglect, error, omission or it is not 
desirable to proceed.  
 
Cancellation Price 
 
The cancellation price represents an amount owing at a specific point in time. This 
means that the cancellation price changes every time a new charge is added to the tax 
account. 
 
In accordance with subsection 375(1) of the Municipal Act any person may pay the 
cancellation price to the municipality to cancel the tax arrears certificate.  
 
A person who pays the cancellation price may request an itemized breakdown of the 
cancellation price that has been paid with a written request to the Treasurer within 
thirty (30) days of the payment.  
 
The cancellation price may be paid by the former owner any time before title has been 
transferred from a tax sale, even in a case where there has been a successful tax sale 
transaction by tender or by auction. 

 
Extension Agreements  
 
To be eligible for consideration, the Extension Agreement (see Appendix B) must 
include that all current taxes will be paid within the required due dates and that the 
existing arrears on the account will be paid off within a one to two-year period.   
 
An Extension Agreement must be requested by the property owner, their spouse, the 
mortgage holder or their legal agent, prior to the one-year period of the registration of 
the Tax Arrears Certificate. 
 
If no agreement is reached as to the terms, and or the agreement is denied by Council, 
the tax sale process resumes by returning to the point in the tax sale process 
immediately prior to the Extension Agreement being requested. 
 
A By-law must be passed by Council authorizing that an Extension Agreement may be 
entered into with the property owner prior to the expiration of the one-year period from 
the date of registering the Tax Arrears Certificate. 
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When an Extension Agreement is entered into, a copy shall be kept by the Municipality 
and the tax sale process is suspended or placed on hold until all the terms of the 
agreement have been fulfilled.  
 
If there is a breach of the agreement the tax sale process recommences by returning to 
that step in the tax sale procedure immediately prior to the Extension Agreement being 
entered into. 
 
When the terms of the extension agreement have been fulfilled, the Treasurer shall 
register a Cancellation Certificate on the land title, thus signifying that the tax sale has 
been cancelled, and the tax sale process stops. 
 
Tax Sale by Public Tender or Public Auction 
 
After a one-year period from the date of registration of the tax sale certificate, if the 
cancellation price has not been paid or an Extension Agreement has not been executed, 
the property will be part of a public sale. A public sale can occur by either a sale by 
tender or a sale by auction.  The Treasurer has discretion as to the precise timing and 
will consider such factors as season, property ‘for sale’ status or others. 
 
If the Municipality is interested in acquiring the property involved in the tax sale, a staff 
report will be prepared for Council to consider recommending the Municipality’s 
involvement in the tendering process or public auction.  
 
The Cancellation Price shall be updated /recalculated for the purpose of including in the 
advertisements of the public sale. This Cancellation Price, also referred to as the bid or 
tender amount, shall include the arrears as well as current taxes and projected costs.  
 
Properties will be advertised for sale containing the information prescribed in Ontario 
Regulation 181/03 under the Municipal Act. Advertising will be placed in the Ontario 
Gazette at least once during the four-week period and in a local newspaper at least 
once a week for four weeks. Other optional advertising, such as on the website of the 
tax sale consulting firm may also be undertaken. The tax sale advertisement must 
clearly state all requirements of the legislated bidding process, including the envelope 
labelling, submission location, and date and time of the submission deadline.  
 
The Municipal Act provides that the property may be sold by sealed tender or public 
auction. For each tax sale the property, market conditions, and other relevant factors 
will be considered at the time of the sale when evaluating which sales method to use.  
The tender process typically is the most cost effective and straight forward. The auction 
method could result in a higher than the minimum price required which benefits the 
current property owner and any interested parties but places a larger administrative 
burden on staff to ensure the additional proceeds are distributed as legislatively 
prescribed. 
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Tender process: 
 
Tender must be submitted on the prescribed Form 7 which can be found in Ontario 
Regulation 181/03.  
 
A Form 7 can only contain the tender/bid for one parcel of land.  
 
Tenders must be submitted in a sealed envelope addressed to the Treasurer and clearly 
labelled “Tax Sale” and include a property description and/or municipal address, and be 
submitted prior to the deadline.  
 
Tenders must be typewritten or legibly handwritten in ink.  
 
Tenders received should be dated and time stamped immediately when received.  
 
Tenders/bids should be retained unopened in a safe place as required in subsection 
7(1) of Ontario Regulation 181/03 made under the Act. 
 
In accordance with subsection 7(2) Ontario Regulation 181/03 made under the Act, in 
the event that there is a tie, the tender/bid that was submitted the earliest and meets 
all of the other criteria is determined as being the highest.  
 
A tender will be withdrawn if the tender’s/bidder’s written request to have the tender 
withdrawn is received by the Treasurer before 3:00 p.m. local time on the last day for 
receiving tenders.   
 
The tenders must be opened in the Council Chambers, or alternative location 
determined by the Treasurer or Clerk, and be open to the public for viewing.  
 
The tenders shall close at 3:00 p.m. local time on the last day for receiving tenders in 
accordance with Ontario Regulation 181/03 made under the Municipal Act. 
 
Tenders shall be opened with at least two persons in attendance. One person must be 
the Treasurer or designate, and the second person must be a person who did not 
submit a tender and may be a municipal employee.  
 
The Treasurer or designate will open all of the tender documents and examine for 
completeness and will reject every tender that:  

 
a) Is not equal to or greater than the Cancellation Price/minimum tender amount as 

shown in the advertisement 
b) Is not addressed to the Treasurer 
c) Relates to more than one parcel of land 
d) Has been withdrawn 
e) Is not typewritten or legibly handwritten in ink 
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f) Places any condition on the acceptance of the tender 
g) Is not accompanied by a deposit of at least 20 percent of the tender amount, 

which deposit shall be made by way of money order, bank draft or cheque certified 
by bank or trust company 

h) Is not one of the two highest remaining tender 
 

Once the successful tender has been declared, the tender deposits of the two highest 
tenders/bids are retained.  
 
The deposit received from the highest bidder should be deposited immediately into the 
Municipality’s bank account but should not be applied to the tax account. The deposit 
received from the second highest bidder should be stored in a secure location until either 
the highest tenderer has completed the tax sale or has defaulted. The remaining deposits 
shall be returned to the respective bidders. If the tender is not returned in person the 
day of the tender opening, a written explanation is provided as to the reason for the 
rejection to any person not in attendance as soon as possible.  
 
The Treasurer shall notify the highest tenderer immediately, by regular mail sent to the 
address provided in the tender, to advise them that their tender was the highest and will 
be declared the successful bidder.  
 
Payment must be received from the highest bidder within fourteen (14) days of the date 
of the notices of highest bidder being mailed by the Treasurer. Upon receipt, the 
Treasurer shall issue a receipt and declare the highest bidder to be the successful 
purchaser.  If no payment is received within fourteen (14) calendar days of the mail of 
the notice the deposit is forfeited.  A notice is then sent to the second highest bidder and 
the process repeats. 
 
Should the highest tenderer/bidder default, their deposit is forfeited, and the second 
highest tenderer is declared the successful bidder. Should the second highest tenderer 
default, their deposit is forfeited.   
 
Should both the two highest tenderers default, the Treasurer shall declare that there is 
no successful purchaser and may register a notice of vesting in the name of the 
municipality.  
 
Auction process: 
  
The auction must be held in the municipality in which the lands are located. 
 
The Treasurer may conduct the tax sale by public auction or may choose anyone else to 
act as the auctioneer.  
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The auctioneer or Treasurer shall read out section 15, 16, 17 of Ontario Regulation 
181/03 made under the Municipal Act as outlined below: 
 

a) in opening or reopening the bidding on the parcel, state the minimum bid as set 
out in the advertisement, 

b) acknowledge each bidder, repeat each bid made and call for higher bids; and 
c) if no higher bid is made, repeat the last bid three times and if there is still no 

higher bid, acknowledge the highest bidder. 
 
The highest bidder shall be declared to be the successful purchaser if the bidder 
immediately pays the amount bid, the applicable land transfer tax and the accumulated 
taxes, in cash, to the auctioneer. 
 
If the highest bidder fails to make the payment as set out in Section 16 of O. Reg. 
181/03 and the bidding has not been previously reopened under this Regulation, the 
auctioneer shall immediately reopen the bidding. 
 
If no bid is made for a parcel of land after the opening of the bidding or if, after the 
reopening of the bidding under Section 17, no bid is made or there is no successful 
purchaser, the auctioneer shall declare that there is no successful purchaser. 
 
The auctioneer shall issue a receipt to the successful purchaser for the amounts 
received under Section 16 of O. Reg. 181/03 and the receipt shall include a legal 
description of the parcel of land and the name of the purchaser and the name in which 
the tax deed will be registered. 
 
The auctioneer shall declare the auction closed upon completion of the bidding on all 
the parcels of land offered for sale in the auction. 
 
The auctioneer shall prepare and keep a list showing each parcel of land offered for 
sale in the auction and the name and address of the successful purchaser or, where 
there is no successful purchaser, that there is no successful purchaser. 
 
Payment of Surplus Funds into Court 
 
Sale proceeds less the Cancellation Price, are paid to the Superior Court of Justice 
together with the Statement of Facts. All of the tax sale costs are added to the 
Collector’s roll before declaring the surplus funds. Surplus funds are not the property of 
the Municipality. Registered parties on title at the time of the sale may apply to the 
Superior Court of Justice to access these funds. 
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Tax Deeds 
When there is a successful purchaser, the Municipality, through their tax sale 
consultant, will prepare and register a tax deed in the name of the successful purchaser 
once all legislated requirements have been met.   
 
No Successful Purchaser 
Where there is no successful purchase, the Municipality has several options, and may 
issue a Notice of Vesting to begin assuming ownership of the parcel.  This would be a 
decision of Council and a report from the Treasurer would be prepared for Council’s 
consideration of this or any other options.   
 
Should Council pursue this option, upon Council approval the Treasurer shall register a 
declaration to this effect at the local land registry office. Council has up to two (2) years 
to decide whether to vest a property. If Council decides to vest the property, then all 
taxes are written off as uncollectible and the property is then owned by the Municipality 
to do with what it wishes. If Council decides not to vest, the decision or whether to 
write off the taxes and issue a tax cancellation certificate and leave the property in the 
original owner’s name is also an option, but this course of action would not likely be 
utilized except in specific circumstances.   
  
Before recommending vesting the property, the Council may determine that the best 
course of action is to re-advertise and try to sell the property again under the tax sale 
process. If that occurs, then the Treasurer will proceed with readvertising for another 
tender or auction and can do so within two (2) years without writing off the tax arrears. 
Alternatively, the Treasurer may, within two years after the date of the public sale, offer 
the land for public sale by public auction or public tender a second time in accordance 
with the prescribed rules. In order to proceed in this manner, the following 
requirements must be met:  
 

a) at least 30 days before the land is re-advertised for public sale, the Treasurer 
must send to the persons entitled to receive notice under Subsection 379(1) of 
the Municipal Act a notice that the land will be re-advertised for public sale using 
the prescribed Form 10 as per O. Regulation 181/03 made under the Municipal 
Act.  

b) The same rules apply to the process in regard to conducting the second public 
sale as they did for the first public sale.  

 
Council may also decide to write off all or part of the taxes with the purpose of re-
registration of the tax arrears and repeating the tax sale process from the beginning.  
 
These actions are usually considered based upon a report from the Treasurer outlining 
the potential benefits or risks of proceeding in this manner. A report shall be presented 
to Council identifying a recommended course of action for either of these next steps. 
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Miscellaneous 
 
Privacy of Information 
 
The Municipality maintains the physical register of properties referred to as the returned 
tax roll. The physical roll records are available to view by anyone in the public and contain 
the following information: 
 

• roll number 
• location and description of the property 
• assessed property value 
• name and mailing address of the legal owner(s) 
• tenants (if provided by property owner or tenant) and  
• school support 

 
Information about a specific property owner’s tax account is generally confidential.  
Details may be shared as follows based on the circumstance: 
 

a) Registered Property owners – may have access to assessment and tax 
information on their property including assessment, taxes levied and arrears.  

b) Non-property owners, including lawyers, real estate agents and brokers, 
appraisers – May access the information contained in the public roll book only 
unless written authorization is provided by the registered property owner:  

a. Assessment 
b. Lot size 
c. Legal description  
d. Annual taxes 

c) Third party inquiries – may have access to the Assessment Roll book only 
d) Mortgage companies – may request in writing the taxes levied and arrears on 

properties they collect taxes through a landowner’s mortgage. If the mortgage 
company does not hold an interest in the landowner’s property taxes, tax 
information will only be given at the property owner’s request.  

Property owners can provide written notices to the Municipality to authorize other 
individuals access to their account information. 
 
Bankruptcy 
 
When a property owner files for bankruptcy, the Municipality remains a secured creditor 
in a priority position, as any tax arrears is a debt charge against the real property. The 
Municipality ranks in preference and priority to any other claims, except those of the 
Provincial and Federal government.   
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Amounts Added to the Tax roll 
 
Section 398(2) of the Municipal Act allows municipalities to add unpaid balances of 
other types to the tax roll for collection. The amounts that can be added include 
property-related types of billings including utilities, water or wastewater balances, 
property standards, Building Code related items or any other type of charge related to 
the property or incurred by the property owner. It is the Municipality’s intention to 
utilize this section as needed and will, without notice, transfer amounts to the property 
roll that are past due for the purposes of collection. These amounts, once transferred, 
are then treated the same as property taxes for the purposes of collection, arrears, and 
tax sale proceedings.   
 
The Municipality may also choose to add amounts not described as above to the tax roll 
for collection purposes and acknowledges that if the amount was not related to the 
property, that ultimately the collection of the amount outstanding may not be 
recoverable using this method. 
 
Legislative Authority: 
 
This policy is written in compliance with: 

a) Assessment Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.A.31 (Assessment Act), as amended, and 
related Ontario Regulations made under this Act. 

b) Assessment Review Board Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. A.32, (ARB Act), as 
amended, and related Ontario Regulation made under this Act; 

c) Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25 (Municipal Act), as amended, and 
related Ontario Regulations made under the Act; 

d) Planning Act, RSO 1990, c P.13 (Planning Act), as amended, and related 
Ontario Regulations made under this Act; and 

e) applicable Municipal by-laws, as amended from time to time.  

 
Related Documents: 
 

• By-Law 100-98  
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APPENDIX A TO POLICY F.1.6 
 
 
 
Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC) Application to the Council or the 
Assessment Review Board is attached separately. 
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APPENDIX B TO POLICY F.1.6 
 
 
 
Extension Agreement sample is attached separately. 
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SECTION   357  /   358  /   359  APPLICATION 

TO THE COUNCIL OR THE ASSESSMENT REVIEW BOARD 

ASSESSMENT REPORT: MUNICIPALITY TREASURER’S RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

Assessment Roll 
As Returned 

Revised Since 
Roll Return 

Enter Revisions Below       

  Assessment Report     School Bd:  Eng    Fr  Other 

 No Change in Assessment  S357 Required for Next Year 

RTC/RTQ 
2005 

Base-year 
CVA 

2008 
Base-year 

CVA 

Current 
Phased 

Assessment 

Revised 
RTC/RTQ 

Revised 2005 
Base-year 

CVA 

Revised 2008 
Base-year 

CVA 

Revised 
Current Phased 

Assessment 

Change to 
Current Phased 

Assessment 

Revised: 
Reason for Change:

__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________Reason Original Assessment Revised:  _________________________ 

___________________________________________________________ 

TREASURER’S REPORT ON TAX LIABILITY 

RTC/RTQ Taxable Assessment Reduction Tax Rate Days / Months Tax Adjustment Original Levy 

Municipality:  ____________________________________ Roll Number:         -         -             -             -             -     .

Property Address: ____________________________________ Applicant Name: _______________________________________ 

Owner Name:    ____________________________________ Contact Number: _______________________________________ 

Mailing Address:  ____________________________________ Alternative Number:  ____________________________________ 

____________________________________ Email Address:  ________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

Recommended :  No Adjustment  Adjustment  Cancellation  Refund  Total Amount __________________ 

Comments:_________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Treasury Position:  ____________________________     Signature:  _________________________________________  Date:  /  /  / 

Application/Appeal #: 

Taxation Year: 

Reason for s357 application: (Check one box – applicable to s357 only) 

  Ceases to be liable for tax at rate it was taxed – 357(1)(a)   Became vacant or excess land – 357(1)(b) 

  Became exempt – 357(1((c)   Sickness or extreme poverty – 357(1)(d.1) 

  Razed by fire, demolition or otherwise – 357(1)(d)(i)   Mobile unit removed – 357(1)(e) 

  Damaged and substantially unusable – 357(1)(d)(ii)    Gross or manifest clerical/factual error – 357(1)(f) 

  Repairs/Reno’s preventing normal use (min. 3 months) – 357(1)(g) 

Details of Reason for s357, s358 or s359 application:  ___________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Effective from:  /  /  to  /  /  Applicant Signature: ________________________________   Date: __ __ / __ __ / __ __ 
(MM/DD/YY)    (MM/DD/YY)  

COUNCIL OR ASSESSMENT REVIEW BOARD DECISION:   Hearing Date  (MM/DD/YY):   ___  ___  /  ___  ___ / ___  ___ 

 Approved  Amended & Approved  Not Approved  Applicant Did Not Appear  Application Abandoned

Reason:___________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Appeared for Applicant: ____________________________   Appeared for Municipality: ________________________________ 

Signature of Council/ARB Member:____________________________    Name/Title: ___________________________________ 
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EXTENSION AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT made in duplicate this ____  day of __________ , ____ pursuant to sub-
section 378(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001.  

BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
(Hereinafter called the “Corporation”) 

OF THE FIRST PART; 

– and –

____________ 
(Hereinafter called the “Owner”) 

OF THE SECOND PART; 

WHEREAS the Owner is the owner of the land in the City of Stratford described in Schedule “B” 
attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement; 

AND WHEREAS the Owner’s land is in arrears of taxes on the __ day of _______, 20__ in the 
amount of $________ and a tax arrears certificate was registered in the Land Registry or Land 
Titles Office on the __ day of _______, 20__ in respect of the Owner’s land; 

AND WHEREAS Section 378(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, c. 25 provides that after the 
registration of a tax arrears certificate and before the expiry of one (1) year following the date of 
the registration of the tax arrears certificate, a municipality may enter into an extension 

agreement with any owner of the land, the spouse of any owner, any mortgagee, any tenant in 
occupation of the land, and any person the treasurer is satisfied has an interest in the land, to 
extend the period of time in which the cancellation price in respect to the Owner’s land is to be 
paid; 

AND WHEREAS the period during which there is a subsisting extension agreement shall not be 
counted by the Treasurer in calculating the periods mentioned in sub-sections 374(1) and 379(1) 
of the Municipal Act, 2001; 

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of the premises 
and of the covenants and obligations hereinafter contained, it is hereby agreed as follows: 

1. The Corporation will extend to _______ __, 20__ the payment period for the cancellation price
payable in respect of the land.

2. The Owner will make payments to the Corporation in accordance with Schedule “C” attached
hereto.

3. In addition to paying the amounts provided for in paragraph 2, the Owner agrees to pay:
a. all further taxes levied on the land as they become due and payable during the term of

this Agreement; and

b. not later than 30 days following the due date of the last payment under paragraph 2, such
additional amount, if any, as is necessary to bring the total amount paid under this
Agreement up to the amount of the cancellation price payable in respect of the land.
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4. The Corporation will accept additional miscellaneous payments that the owner wishes to pay 
that are over and above the amounts that are paid under Schedule “C” attached hereto during 
the course of this Agreement in order to help reduce the balance that will be owing at the end 
of this Agreement. 

5. Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, 
shall continue to apply to the collection and enforcement of all tax arrears and all taxes except 
that the Treasurer and the Tax Collector of the Corporation, without waiving the statutory 
rights and powers of the municipality or of the Treasurer, shall not enforce collections of such 
tax payments, except as set out in paragraph 2 and 3, during the time this Agreement is in 
force so long as the Owner is not in default hereunder. 

6. In the event the Owner defaults in any payments required by this Agreement, this Agreement 
upon notice being given to the Owner by the Corporation, shall be terminated and the Owner 
shall be placed in the position he or she was before this Agreement was entered into. In the 
event of a default, this Agreement shall cease to be considered a subsisting agreement on the 
day that the notice of termination is sent to the Owner. 

7. Immediately upon the Owner or any other person making all the payments required under 
paragraphs 2 and 3, this Agreement shall be terminated and, the Treasurer shall forthwith 
register a tax arrears cancellation certificate in respect of the said lands. 

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3, the Owner and any other person may 
at any time pay the balance of the cancellation price and upon receipt of the aforesaid payment 
by the Corporation, this Agreement shall terminate, and the Treasurer shall forthwith register 
a tax arrears cancellation certificate. 

9. This Agreement shall cease to be considered a subsisting Agreement upon the date of the sale 
or other disposition of the land. 

10. If any paragraph or part of paragraphs in this Agreement is determined by a court or tribunal 
of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, it or they shall be considered separate 
and severable from the Agreement and the remaining provisions of the Agreement shall 
remain in force and effect and shall be binding upon the Parties hereto as though the said 

paragraph or paragraphs or part or parts of paragraphs had never been included. 
11. Any notice required to be given to the Owner hereunder shall be sufficiently given if sent by 

registered mail to the Owner at the following address:  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Owner has hereunto set his/her hand and the Corporation has 
hereunto set his/her hand by its proper signing officers in that behalf. 
 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD: 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Signature of Treasurer or Other Authorized Employee 
 
 
Signed at the City of Stratford this _____ day of ________________ , 20__. 
 
 
________________________________    ____________________________ 
Witness        Signature of Owner 
 
 
________________________________    ____________________________ 
Witness        Signature of Owner 

192



SCHEDULE “B” 
 

TO EXTENSION AGREEMENT 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE LAND: 
 

 

193



SCHEDULE “C” 
 

TO EXTENSION AGREEMENT 
 
 
PAYMENTS REQUIRED UNDER EXTENSION AGREEMENT: 
 
Amount Currently Outstanding: $ 
Number of Months to Agreement:  
Anticipated Penalties/Interest: $ 
Total Estimated Arrears: $ 
Approximate Monthly Payment: $ 

 
 
REPAYMENT OF PROPERTY TAX ARREARS: 
 

 DATE PAYMENT DUE PAYMENT AMOUNT REMAINING BALANCE 
 OPENING BALANCE   
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 F.1.6 

 

The Corporation of the 
City of Stratford 

 
F.1 

 
Financial and Fiscal 
 

 

Policy Manual 
 

 

Dept: 
 

Corporate Services 

  Committee: Finance and Labour Relations 
 

 
 
F.1.6 Collection of Municipal Taxes 
 

 Adopted: September 22, 1997 by R97-531 
  Amended:  

 Reaffirmed:  
  Related Documents: 
   Council Policy   Administrative Policy 
 
That if the month end falls on a work day that City Hall is closed, the next day will be 
considered a ‘day’s grace’ and no new interest will be added until the following day. 

195



 F.1.9 

 

The Corporation of the 
City of Stratford 

 
F.1 

 
Financial and Fiscal 
 

 

Policy Manual 
 

 

Dept: 
 

Corporate Services 

  Committee: Finance and Labour Relations 
 

 
F.1.9 Vacancy Tax Rebate Program for Commercial 

and Industrial Buildings 
 

 Adopted: April 8, 2002 
  Amended: July 10, 2006 

 Reaffirmed:  
  Related Documents: 
   Council Policy   Administrative Policy 
 

Policy and Procedures Guidelines 
 
APPLICATIONS 
 
1. Applications will be mailed out with the final tax billing yearly and are available at all times 

in the Tax Department. 
2. A maximum of two applications may be submitted per property per year. Specifically either, 

one (1) application for all vacancies that occurred on a property during the entire tax year 
or one (1) application for vacancies that occurred during the first six (6) months of the year 
and a second application for vacancies that occurred during the last six (6) months of the 
year. 

3. Interim applications must be submitted by July 31 of any year for the January 1-June 30 
period of that year. 

4. Final applications must be submitted by February 28 for the prior tax year (e.g. for the 2001 
tax year, the deadline to submit applications is February 28, 2002) 

5. If a property owner receives a notice of omitted assessment from the Municipal Property 
Assessment Corporation (MPAC) after a tax year, the deadline to submit an application for a 
rebate is 90 days after the date of issuance of the notice of omitted assessment. 

6. Applications received after February 28 for the previous year will be deemed ineligible and 
not accepted. 

7. Each application will be evaluated according to the criteria and eligibility requirements set 
out in Section 364(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 and Ontario Regulations 300/03. 

8. Applications will be processed through the following steps: 
 

1. Application submitted to the City of Stratford; 
2. City of Stratford forwards a copy of the application to MPAC; 
3. MPAC determines the assessed value that is attributable to the vacant area; 
4. MPAC notifies the municipality of the value of the eligible vacant property; 
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5. City of Stratford calculates rebate and notifies property owner. Rebates will be issued as 
a credit against any outstanding tax liability first, and then as a direct payment to the 
property owner. 

6. Where it is deemed the taxes are paid directly by a tenant, the property owner will be 
notified and the rebate issued directly to the tenant. 

 
ELIGIBILITY 
 
1. Eligibility requirements are as set out by section 364(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 and 

O.Reg. 300/03. 
2. A building or structure on property must be in either the commercial or industrial classes 

and vacant for at least 90 consecutive days. 
3. To be eligible for a rebate, a building or portion of a building must satisfy all the conditions 

as described in section 364(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 and O.Reg. 300/03. 
4. Specific exclusions are as follows: 

1. Seasonal property; 
2. Leased property; 
3. Vacant land sub-class; 

 
VERIFICATION 
 
1. Each application will be reviewed by the City Tax Collector or employee assigned to the 

project. 
2. MPAC may contact the application to request further information to assist in verifying 

eligibility or identifying the vacant area. 
3. Verification will be done by any or all of the following methods at the discretion of the Tax 

Collector or employee assigned to the project, or: 
1. drive by viewing; 
2. phone call to owner; 
3. completion of verification form as supplied by the City of Stratford to the property owner 

requesting specific and detailed information required to process application; 
4. phone call to any individual deemed to have pertinent information or knowledge with 

respect to a specific property; 
5. a thorough check will be done randomly at the discretion of the Tax Collector or 

employee assigned to the project. 
 

CALCULATION 
 

1. Rebates will be calculated using the formula as set out under Section 364(1) of the 
Municipal Act, 2001 and O.Reg. 300/03. 

 
PENALTIES 
 
1. Any person who knowingly makes a false or deceptive statement in the application or 

refuses access to the property in question is liable, upon conviction to a fine of double the 
amount of the rebate that the person sought to obtain through their false or deceptive 
statement. 
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2. For the purpose of verifying a vacant rebate application, municipalities have been given 
similar rights as assessors to request information and obtain access to premises. 

3. A fine of $100 per day may be imposed upon a property owner for failure to comply with a 
municipality’s request for information. 

 
APPEALS 
 
1. If the City of Stratford fails to process a rebate application within 120 days after the 

deadline for submitting applications (or within 120 days after the owner has provided all of 
the information required in support of the application, whichever date is later), the owner 
may appeal to the Assessment Review Board (ARB) to ask the Board to determine the 
amount of their rebate entitlement. 

2. Property owners who disagree with the amount of the rebate that is calculated by the 
municipality can appeal to the ARB within 120 days after receiving notification of the rebate 
amount from the City of Stratford. 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Date: June 20, 2023 

To: Finance and Labour Relations Sub-committee 

From: Sam Day, CPA, Manager of Revenue and Taxation 

Report #: FIN23-022 

Attachments: 2022 Tax Adjustment Summary 

 

 
Title: Tax Adjustments for 2022 

Objective: To receive a summary of tax adjustments for 2022. 

Background: By Delegation of Authority By-law 135-2017, the Treasurer and Manager 
of Revenue and Taxation have approved applications under Section 357 of the 
Municipal Act, 2001 that states in part ‘upon application to the Treasurer, the local 
municipality may cancel, reduce or refund all or part of taxes levied on land in the year 
in respect of which the application is made’. 

Section 357 allows for the reduction of taxes for the following reasons: ceases to be 
liable for tax at rate it was taxed, became exempt, razed by fire, demolition or 
otherwise, damaged, and substantially unusable, repairs/renovations preventing normal 
use (minimum 3 months), became vacant or excess land, sickness or extreme poverty, 
mobile unit removed, or gross or manifest clerical/factual error. 

Analysis: A summary of the annual 2022 tax adjustments is attached. These amounts 
are captured as ‘write-offs’ to the City, and form part of the City’s overall surplus or 
deficit. 

2022 tax adjustments are approximately $66,596 more than 2021 tax adjustments. 

Financial Implications: The adjustments for 357/358 amounted to $72,004 in 2022, 
thereby reducing the 2022 surplus. 

Alignment with Strategic Priorities: 

Not applicable: This report does not directly align with the Strategic Priorities as it is a 
financial report provided for information. 
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Alignment with One Planet Principles: 

Not applicable: This report is not related to the One Planet principles as it is a 
financial report provided for information. 

Staff Recommendation: THAT the report titled, “Tax Adjustments for 2022” 
(FIN23-022), be received for information. 

Prepared by: Sam Day, CPA, Manager of Revenue and Taxation 
Recommended by: Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services 

Joan Thomson, Chief Administrative Officer 
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City of Stratford 2022 Tax Adjustment Summary 

Roll Number Property Address Assessment Amount December 2022 
Total Adjustment 

Reason 

 SECTION 357 - 2019    

040-020-09600 59 GRANGE ST RT -162,449                                    
637.24  Demolition/razed by fire 

 SECTION 357 - 2020    

040-020-09600 59 GRANGE ST RT -169,000 2,282.91  Demolition/razed by fire 
 SECTION 357 - 2021    

040-020-09600 59 GRANGE ST RT -169,000 2,310.84  Demolition/razed by fire 

030-060-61498 30 QUEENSLAND RD CT -1,089,200, ST -1,003,800, CX +518,000                                 
6,226.54  Damaged & substantially unusable 

050-010-00100 10 DOWNIE ST CT -427,527                                 
5,932.78  Repairs or renovations 

 SECTION 357 - 2022    

030-060-61498 30 QUEENSLAND RD CT -1,089,200, ST -1,003,800, CX +518,000                                
53,768.31  Damaged & substantially unusable 

050-010-00100 10 DOWNIE ST CT -98,643                                    
594.11  Repairs or renovations 

040-130-09300 31 NORFOLK ST RT -76,000                                    
251.05  Repairs or renovations 

  TOTAL                             
72,003.78   

 

Information on this form is compiled by the City under the authority of the Municipal Act, 2001 for the purpose of considering applications for cancellation, 
reduction or refund of taxes by the City and for administrative purposes. This information may be included in material available in accordance with the provisions of 
the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protections of Privacy Act. Questions regarding the use and disclosure of this information may be directed to the City 
Clerk, 1 Wellington Street, Stratford ON N5A 6W1, telephone 519-271-0250 extension 5235 during business hours. 
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